u Washingion, D.C. 20549
FORM 6-K
REPQORT OF FOREIGN PRIVATE iSSUER
Pursuant 1o Section 13a-16 or 15d-16 of the

R

Commissicn File Number: 1-14636 0705207

UNITED STATES
z J SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

ABITIBI-CONSOLIDATED INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter}

1155 Metcalfe Street, Suite 800, Montreal, Quebec. Canada H3B 5H2
(Address of principal executive offices)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant files or will file annual reports under cover Form 20-F or
Faorm 40-F.
Form 20-F Form 40-F _X

indicate by check mark if the registrant is submitling the Form 6-K in paper as permitted by Regulation
S-T Rule 101{b}1} _ X
Indicate by check mark if the regisirant is submitting the Form 6-K in paper as permitted by

Reguiation S-T Rule 101(b)(7):

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant by furnishing the information contained in this Form is
also thereby furnishing the information to the Commission pursuant to Rule 12g3-2{b} under the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 i
Yes ) No _X

i "Yes" is marked, indicate below the fite number assigned to the registrant in connection with

Rule 12¢3-2{h}. 82-
PROCESSED

APRZ?ZW

THOMSON
FINANCIAL

LT ¥ NYT 386882 ¢

e ELTRNRRR e
—— } anme



LT}

Exhibit
MNumber

99.1

Dog #-MYT 3863821

Description

The Registrant's Annuzat Report to Shareholders for the year ended December 31,2008




a

SIGNATURE

Pursuant 1o the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report ic be signed on its behalf by the undersignad, thereunto duly autherized.

Date:  April M6, 2007

S YT 3AGRE2N



ABITIBI
CONSOLIDATED

2006
ANNUAL

REPORT

Highlights and Financial Results

A
m‘%
APR 117 2007>
> .

'9.5:9




ALTEHNATIVE‘::OOK"“ 16 ANLNCOATED GROUNDWOOD OFFSET PAPER THAT IS
EXCELLENT FOR BOOK APPLICATIONS. WITH ITS UNIQUE OPACITY, ALTERKATIVI
BOOK'™™ PROVIDES PRINTABILITY THAT DELIVERS HIGH PERFORMANCE. TOTALL
CHLORINE FREE AT BEAUPRE AND ELEMENTARY CHLORINE FREE AT FORT
FRAANGCES. ALTERNATIVE BOOK ™ IS ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIEMDLY, USING UP
TO 50%, LESS WOOD FIBRE THAN UNCOATED FREESHEET.

06 Yneal Report printed on

A\LTERNATIVE BOOK &

2l 318 grasd ) paper produced at the
ampans s Fort Frances and Beaogre nrills.

Table of Contents

1 2 3 4 8 10
Firnincinl Pistribution Our Business Letter to Map of At-a-Glana
Highliyhis of Salvs At-a-Glanee Sharcholders Operations Tables
13 45 46 47 49 96
Management's Management'’s Management's Auditors' Consolidated 2006 Quarty
Discussion Report Report on Report Financial Finanvial
teted Analysis Internal Courol Statenients {uformation

Over Financial

Reporting
97 98 102 113 113
X005 Quorterly Historical Statement 2006 Board Amnnal
Financial Review of Corporate of Dircctors CGeneral
Injernation Governnnece atd Corporate AMecting

[T T (YT




Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annnal Report FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 01

FINANCIAL

HIGHLIGHTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

1N MILLIONS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS,

UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED

L —_— MR
2006 2005 2004

s s s

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Sales 4,851 5,342 5,299

EBITDA™? 576 649 686

Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations 327 {276) {256)

Operating profit from continuing operations before specific items’ 136 141 115

Net earnings (loss) 54 (350} (36)

Loss before specific items’ (180) (176) (153)

Cash flows from (used in) continuing operating activities 232 164 (3)

Additions to property, plant and equipment 165 177 256

PER COMMON SHARE

Net earnings (loss) —basic and diluted 0.12 (0.80) (0.08)

Loss—before specific items’ (0.41) (0.40) (0.35)

Book value 5.57 545 - 6.19

Dividend declared 0.05 0.10 0.10

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Return on shareholders’ equity 2.2% (13.7%) (1.3%)

Net debt to total capitalization 0.592 0.598 0.616

EBITDA to sales™? 11.9% 12.1% 12.9%

Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations to sales 6.7% {5.2%) (4.8%)

Operating profit from continuing operations before specific items to sales' 2.8% 2.6% 2.2%

SHARES QUTSTANDING N MrLoNS)

Weighted average and at year-end 440 440 440

SHIPMENTS

Newsprint® 3,486 3,972 3,971

Commercial printing papers® 1,748 1,782 1,738

Wood products* 1,858 1,965 2,169

1 Non-GAAP measures

2 EBITDA is calculated befora specific iterna
3 In thousands of tonnes

4 In millions of board feet
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DISTRIBUTION
OF SALES

54%

Newsprint

"l !

Wood Products

31%
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OUR BUSINESS
AT-A-GLANCE

NEWSPRINT

0,
99%  4.2%

Middle East/Africa

12.1%

Latin America

58.3%

United States / ‘\

i 7 3.4%
Asia

12.1%

UK/Eurape

PRODUCTS

ABINEWS®

nawspapers, inserts, circulars,
directories, guides &

general commercial printing

MILLS

Canada

Amos {QC), Baie-Comeau (QC),
Belga (QC)*, Clermont (QC),

Grand Falls {NL}, lroqueis Falls (ON),
Mackenzie (BC), Thorold (ON)

United States
Alabama River (AL), Augusta {GA},
Lufkin (TX)*, Snowflake {AZ)

United Kingdom
Bridgewater (Eng)

* Produces mainly commercial

printing papers.

COMMERCIAL
PRINTING PAPERS

83.1%

United States /\ 1 ga'n? d:/o
: - 2.7%

| Latin America
\_ 1.6%
Middle East/Africa

1.1% 01%

UK/Eurape Asta

PRODUCTS

ABILITE*

telephone directories, catalogues,
specialty lightweight printing

ABICAL®

inserts, flyers, circulars, magazines,
catalogues, tabloids, digests
ABISERT®

newspaper insert jackets, stand-alones,
durable ads, special promo sections
ABIFORM®

continuous forms, cash register
receipts, stock tabs, job tickets
ABIBOOK®

paperback books, trade books,
educational workbocks, colouring books
ABIBRITE®

Inserts, circulars, special sections,
general commergial printing

ABIOFFSET™ GRADES

EQUAL OFFSET*

ALTERNATIVE OFFSET®

INNOVATIVE OFFSET™

Instruction manuals, magazines, magazing
inserts, catalogue inserts, catalogue order
forms, business directories, health care
guides, real estate guides, trade and tour
books, educational workbooks, guides and
maps, direct mail, financial printing

MILLS

Canada

Alma (QC), Beaupré (QC}, Belgo (QC),
Fort Frances {ON), Fort William (ON},
Grand Falls {NL}*, Iroquois Falls {ON)*,
Kénogami (QC), Laurentide (QC)

United States
Lufkin (TX)

* Produces mainly newsprint.
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WOOD PRODUCTS

43.7%

Canada

PRODUCTS

1"X2TOZ X 12"

1-JOISTS

BED FRAME COMPONENTS
FURRING STRIPS

roofs, housing,

remodetling, mobile homes,
flooring, boxspring components

FACILITIES

Canada

Chéateau-Richer (QC), Chibougamau (QC),
Comtois {QC), Girardville-Nomandin (QC),
La Doré (QC} (2), Larouche (QC),

La Tugque (QC}) {2}, Laterriére (QC),
Mackenzie (BC) (2), Manseau (QC),
Opitciwan (QC), Petit-Saguenay (QC),
Pointe-aux-Outardes (QC) (2),

Raberval (QC), Saint-Fulgence (QC),
Saint-Hilarion {QC), Saint-Ludger-de-Milot (QC),
Saint-Prime (QC) {2}, Saint-Raymond (QC}),
Saint-Thomas (QC), Senneterre (Q)
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LETTER TO
SHAREHOLDERS

JOHN W. WEAVER JACQUES BOUGIE
President and Chief Chatr of the Board
Executive Officer

Thanks in large part to our disciplined approach to costs, we were
able to maintain our leading position in key market segments.
IN ACHIEVING OVER $200 MILLION IN COST AND MARKET MIX IMPROVEMENTS
BY YEAR'S END, WE CLEARLY BEAT OUR ORIGINAL $175 MILLION COMMITMENT.
We also launched a cost-cutting program designed to yield an
additional annual savings of $35 million in SG&A expenses by
mid-2007. As of the end of 2006, WE ACHIEVED $40 MILLION IN SG&A
COST REDUCTIONS, EXCEEDING OUR GOAL SIX MONTHS AHEAD OF SCHEDULE.
These efforts were offset by rising energy and fibre costs as well
as increasing pension expense. The continued appreciation of the ‘
Canadian dollar also had a negative impact.
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DECISIVE ACTION CALLED FOR AND DELIVERED

In response to the changing dynamics of the market, on
numerous occasions over the past several years we took
decisivelactionuincluding the elimination of high-cost capacity
and the timely divestment of certain non-core assets-to help
Abitibi-Consolidated emerge stronger and better equipped to
compete in today's global marketplace. In that regard, it should
be noted that the permanent closure of 434,000 tonnes of
high-cost newsprint capacity in December of 2005 is yielding
the desired results, enabling us to realize improved EBITDA
and better margins in our newsprint segment.

Similarly, in February 2006, we announced the permanent
closure of a 80,000-tonne newsprint machine at our
Bridgewater, U.K, mill. We also converted 100,000 tonnes
of newsprint capacity at our Belgo mill in Shawinigan, Québec
to the production of commercial printing papers. In October,
detericrating market conditions for wood products~mainly
as a result of a steep decline in U.S. housing starts, coupled
with escalating preduction and fibre costs -necessitated
market-related downtime at five Québec sawmills.

While we act to improve the competitiveness of the
business for the longer-term benefit of all stakeholders,

we understand the impact cutbacks and closures have

had on communities. Our Company—and our industry—
remain vital economic engines, helping drive the economies
of rural Canada and many parts of the rural United
States. The decision, announced in July 2006, to suspend
Abitibi-Consolidated’s quarterly dividend was another very
tough call, albeit the correct one given the circumstances.

During 2006, we announced the intention to exercise our
option to acquire the remaining 47.5% interest in Augusta
Newsprint. The acquisition has now been rescheduled;
however, we will proceed with the sale of 55,000 acres
of woodlands situated in the Augusta region, with all
proceeds of the sale going to the Company.
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STRATEGIC INITIATIVE IN ENERGY

Efforts to enhance returns have not been limited to the

Company’s core business activities (newsprint, commercial

printing papers and wood products). We have also been
exploring strategic initia-

EFFORTS TO ENHANCE tives in energy that would
RETURNS HAVE NOT enable us to leverage the
BEEN LIMITED TO THE intrinsic value of assets
COMPANY'S CORE to create added value
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES. for shareholders.

In mid-2006, we stated our intention to monetize a
portion of our hydroelectric generating capacity in the
province of Ontario. in a private transaction with Caisse
de dépot et placement du Québec, we announced in
January of 2007 that the Company will retain a 75%
interest in the new ACH Limited Partnership, while the
Caisse will acquire a 25% interest, The transaction, on a
consolidated basis, is expected to vield gross proceeds
of $297.5 million to Abitibi-Consolidated, inclusive of
the Caisse lending $250 million to the partnership, This
transaction provides for an energy-related investment
vehicle that will represent a new avenue for profitable
growth while generating immediate proceeds to
provide increased financial flexibility.

DEBT REDUCTION REMAINS A PRIORITY

For several years now, we have been aligning free
cash flows and utilizing the proceeds of asset sales to
strengthen our balance sheet. The US$239 million in
returned countervailing and anti-dumping duty deposits
in late 2006, following settlement of the Canada-U.S.
softwood lumber dispute, was also earmarked for debt
reduction. As of December 31, 2006, our long-term
debt stood at $3.9 billion, down 36 percent from

a peak of $6.1 billion at the end of 2001. We have
made important progress and debt reduction remains
a top priority.
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EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND SAFETY

We consider the health and safety of our employees

to be of paramount importance. Although we managed to
reduce the key QOccupational Safety and Health Administration
{OSHA) frequency rate for the fifth year running and realized

a 16% improvement in 2006, we regrettably suffered two
work-related fatalities. The circumstances of those accidents
have been thoroughly investigated and represent a galvanizing
event to place even more emphasis on this critical area.

CONTINUED FOCUS ON COSTS

As indicated above, we have continued our disciplined
approach to costs. Despite a steady upward trend in prices
for key inputs, we have been successful in containing
our costs of products sold. In fact, the average cost of
our combined paper segments (expressed in Canadian
currency) actually declined, albeit marginally, over the
period 2001 to 2006.

NEWSPRINT

As noted above, the Company’s newsprint operations
are beginning to reap the benefits of initiatives
taken over the past several years, with particular
focus on costs. While shipments declined 12% to
3,486,000 tonnes in 2006, newsprint EBITDA margin
increased from 13.9% to 16.5%. Additionally, newsprint
inventories remained low throughout the year as overall
supply remained in balance.

COMMERCIAL PRINTING PAPERS

While demand for traditional uncoated free sheet has
been declining, sales of our environmentally friendly
ABIOFFSET™ grades continued to increase, climbing
11.6% in 2006 to over 470,000 tonnes. We anjoyed strong
sales growth in glossy grades as well. Although we have
generally done a commendable job keeping costs in line,
our commercial printing papers business-with production
capacity entirely located in Canada and sales primarily

in the United States-has been particularly impacted by
the strength of the Canadian dollar.

wWOQOD PRODUCTS

The wood products segment experienced a complete
reversal of fortune from the outstanding performance
of 2005. It was buffeted on one side by a steep decline

Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annual Report

in U.S. housing starts—particularly in the latter half of the year-
which was reflected in significantly lower demand and pricing
for lumber, and from the other side by the high cost and
decreased availability of fibre in Québec, where the majority
of the Company's sawmilis are situated. Lumber prices,
which peaked at well over US$500 per thousand board feet
at the top of the cycle, had failen to below the US$300 mark
by the fourth quarter of 2006. On an encouraging note, the
Company welcomed resolution of the softwood lumber
dispute. Aside from facilitating the return of US$239 million
of countervailing and anti-dumping duties, the settlement
provides an important measure of clarity regarding market
access going forward, which will enable us to adjust our
strategy accordingly.

FIBRE PROCUREMENT AND FOREST MANAGEMENT
Continued progress in fibre procurement also extends to our
range of initiatives in the area of recycling. in recent years,
we have made significant direct investments in our recycling
operations and are currently evaluating expansion opportunities
in an effort to capture additional value from consumer and
commercial sources. Abitibi-Consclidated's position as one
of the leading recyclers of old newspapers and magazines in
North America and the United Kingdom represents both a cost
hedge and an integrated, assured supply of fibre. Of course,
recycling aligns with the Company’s commitment and
that of our customers to sustainability.

WE HAVE CERTIFIED It is also important to note
15.8 MILLION HECTARES that the Company has

OF FOREST ENTRUSTED obtained and maintained
TO OUR CARE. certification for 99.4%

of its forest operations.
As a result, we have certified 15.8 million hectares of forest
entrusted to our care. We have also made an important
measure of progress on “chain of custody” to track our
external fibre sourcing.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In October 20086, the Company announced that
Jacques Bougie, a director since 2004, would assume

the role of Chair of the Board upon the retirement, effective
January 1, 2007, of Richard Drouin. We wish to take this
opportunity to formally thank Mr. Drouin, who first joined
our Board in 1995 and was appointed Chair in 2001,
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for his tremendous contributions. On Richard's watch,
Abitibi-Consolidated enhanced its governance practices
and his leadership provided an infusion of new boardroom
talent. A special thanks also goes to David Ward who retired
in May 2006 as a Board member, following 20 years of service,
We would like to formally welcome two outstanding new-
comers to the Board, John Q. Anderson and David Galloway.
These appointments are in keeping with cur commitment
to maintain a rigorous focus on strong governance and to
provide an expanded breadth of expertise and depth of
experience. Finally, we wish to thank our employees for their
hard work and commitment,

OUTLOOK FOR 2007
While 2007 promises to be ancther challenging year, the
longer-term outlook is cause for optimism. in January 2007,
Abitibi-Consolidated and Bowater announced an agreement
to combine in an all-stock merger of equals. AbitibiBowater Inc.
will be a global leader with a brighter future than either com-
pany would have on its own. The combined company’s ability
to realize significant synergies will increase shareholder value,
improve financial flexibility and better position it to compete
in today's increasingly com-

ABITIBIBOWATER INC. petitive global marketplace.
WILL BE A GLOBAL Combining the companies
LEADER WITH A is also the best way to con-
BRIGHTER FUTURE tinue to contribute to the
THAN EITHER local and regicnal econo-
COMPANY WOULD mies of the communities in
HAVE ON ITS OWN. which we operate.

The combined company will be the 3 largest publicly
traded paper and forest products company in North America
and the B" largest in the world. It will offer customers one-
stop shopping for a full range of products. AbitibiBowater's
product lines will include newsprint, uncoated and coated
mechanical papers, market pulp and wood products. The
combined company will also be a world leader in recovery
and recycling of newspapers and magazines as it builds
on the existing efforts of both companies to be leaders in
environmentally sustainable production practices.

The combination is expected to generate approximately
US$250 million in annualized cost synergies from
improved efficiencies in such areas as production, SG&A
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costs, distribution and procurement. These synergies are
in addition to the cost saving initiatives already in process
at both companies.

The merger is anticipated to close during the third quarter
af 2007. Until that time, both companies will continue to
operate independent of one ancther and our focus will remain
on costs, cash generation and debt reduction.

The past five years have been challenging for our entire indus-
try, which has had to cope with a difficult businass climate,
fundamental changes in the markets for many of our key
products, significant increases in energy and fibre costs and
the unprecedented strengthening of the Canadian dollar. At
Abitibi-Consolidated, we have responded by reinventing and
renewing the Company. Qur focus on costs and productivity,
our commitinent to customers and to the introduction

of groundbreaking new products, our strategic initiatives
in energy and recycling—these are all indicative of the
dynamism and innovative thinking that define today’s
Abitibi-Consolidated. The recently announced merger of
equals with Bowater is yet another critical step in the conti-
nuing evolution of our Company.

However, our work is not yet complete—and won't be
until shareholder value is generated on a consisient basis.
We are confident that, going forward, the value created
through our ongoing efforts should be reflected in our
share price, rewarding all stakeholders with an appropriate
level of returns.

W.@W-,_____

JOHN W. WEAVER
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

M—-"--—-—..

JACQUES BOUGIE
CHAIR OF THE BOARD
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MAP OF OPERATIONS

Newsprint

Conumercial Printing Papers
Sawmills
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MAP OF OPERATIONS
CANADA
BRITISH NEWFOUNDLAND
QUEBEC ONTARIO COLUMSIA AND LABRADOR
Newsprint Newsprint Newsprint Newsprint
Amos / Baie-Comeau / Belgo / Clarmont Iroquois Falls / Mackenzie Grand Falls
Thorold
Commercial Printing Papers Sawmills Commercial
Alma / Beaupré / Belgo / Commercial Mackenzie (2) Printing Papers
Kénogami / Laurentide Printing Papers Grand Fails
. Fort Frances / Cogeneration
Sawmills Fort Witliam / Mackenzie Hydroelectric
Chibougamau / Comtois / Iroquois Falls Power
Girardville -Norrmandin / La Doré / . Exploits River /
La Tuque (2) / Laterriére / Opitciwan / Hydroelectric Grand Falls /
Petit-Saguenay / Pointe-aux-Outardes (2} / Power Star Lake
Roberval / Saint-Fulgence / Saint-Hitarion / Fort Frances /
Saint-Ludger-de-Milot / Saint-Raymond / iroquois Falls /
Saint-Thomas / Senneterre Kenora
Wood Remanufacturing Cogeneration
Chateau-Richer / La Doré / Fort Frances
Manseau / Saint-Prime
. Pulp
Engineered Wood Eort Frances
Larouche / Saint-Prime
Recycling

H ic P

ydroelectric ower. Thorold
Hydro-Saguenay / Manicouagan
UNITED STATES UNITED KINGDOM
Newsprint Cogeneration Newsprint

Alabama River, AL/
Augusta, GA /

Lufkin, TX / Snowtlake, AZ

Lufkin, TX/ Recycling
Snowflake, AZ Baltimore, MD / Boston, MA /

. Buffalo, N / Chicago, IL / Cincinnati, OH /
Commercial Cleveland, OH / Columbus, OH /
Printing Papers Dallas—Fort Worth, T/ Detroit, M1 /
Lufkin, TX Houston, TX / indianapolis, IN /

Kansas City, MO / Philadelphia, PA /
Phoenix, AZ / Pittsburgh, PA /

San Antonio~Austin, TX / Saint Louis, MO/
Tulsa—Oklahoma City, OK

Bridgewater, CHESHIRE, ENGLAND

Recycling

Claycross, DERBYSHIRE, ENGLAND /
Croy, NORTH LANARKSHIRE, SCOTLAND /
Edinburgh, EAST LOTHIAN, SCOTLAND /
Hersham, SURREY, ENGLAND / Liverpool,
MERSEYSIDE, ENGLAND / Middlesbrough,
TEESIDE, ENGLAND / Nottingham,
NOTTINGHAMSHIRE, ENGLAND /

Setton, MERSEYSIDE, ENGLAND /

Sl Helens, MERSEYSIDE, ENGLAND /
Stoke-on-Trent, STAFFORDSHIRE, ENGLAND
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NEWSPRINT AND COMMERCIAL PRINTING PAPERS AT-A-GLANCE

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2005 (CARPACITY IN THOUSANDS OF TONNES)

e -1
TOTAL
NUMBER A EQuAL S O RiTNG
OF PAPER CFFSET & DIRECTORY NEWS AND MARKET PAPERS TOTAL MILL
MILLS MACHINES MNEWSPRINT SC PAPERS HI-BRITE PAPEA OTHER PULP & PULP CAPACITY
CANADA
Alma (QC) 3 - 205 145 350 350
Amos {QC) 1 207 - 207
Baie-Comeau (QC) 4 577 - 577
Beaupré (QC) 2 - 223 223 223
Belgo (QC) 4 116 130 130 260 376
Clermont (QC) 2 354 - 354
Fort Frances (ON} 3 - 72 216 93 381 381
Fort William {ON) | - 141 141 141
Grand Falls (NL) 2 191 10 10 201
Iroquois Falls {ON) 2 240 38 38 278
Kénegami (QC) 2 - 207 207 207
Laurentide (QC) 2 - 360 360 360
Mackenzie (BC) 1 186 - 186
Thorold {ON} 2 414 - 414
31 2,285 639 774 145 319 93 1,970 4,255
UNITED STATES
Alabama River (AL) 1 264 - 264
Augusta (GA) 2 426 - 426
Lufkin (TX) 2 150 234 234 384
Snowflake (AZ) 2 375 - 375
7 1,215 234 - - - - 234 1,449
UNITED KINGDOM
Bridgewater (Eng) 2 209 - 209
2 209 — - - - - - 209

40 3,709 873 774 145 319 93 2,204 5,913
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WOOD PRODUCTS AT-A-GLANCE

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2008

AT-A-GLANCE TABLES 1"

| E—— - [ — o
SHARE OF PRODUCTION
CAPACITY
FACILITIES OWNERSHIP MLt MBt
SAWMILLS
Québec
Abitibi Comtois, Senneterre 2 100% 280
Lac-Saint-Jean Chibougamau, Girardville- Normandin,
La Doré, Roberval, Saint-Thomas 5 100% 583
Saint-Ludger-de-Milot {Produits Forestiers Petit-Paris) 1 50% 44
Saguenay Laterriére, Petit-Saguenay, Saint-Fulgence
(Produits Forestiers Saguenay) 3 77% 209
Mauricie La Tuque I 100% 79
La Tuque {Produits Forestiers La Tugue) 1 82% 49
Cote-Nord Pointe-aux-Outardes 2 100% 181
Québec Saint-Raymond 1 100% 34
Saint-Hilarion 1 100% 51
British Columbia
Mackenzie 2 100% 549
Intercompany Transactions (218)
Total - Sawmills 19 1,841
REMANUFACTURING AND ENGINEERED WOQD FACILITIES
Lac-Saint-Jean Saint-Prime, La Doré 2 100% 46
Larouche, Saint-Prime (Abitibi-LP Engineering Wood Inc.) 2 50% 73
Québec Chateau-Richer, Manseau 2 100% 88
Total - Remanufacturing and Engineered Wood Facilities 6 73 134

The Company holds a 45% investment in Sociéts en Commandite Sciesie Opitciwan, in Obedjiwan, Cuébec, which has an annual prxtuction capacity of 27 MBS,
The investment in this company is accounted for using the equity methed in the Company's consolidatad financial statements.

HYDROELECTRIC POWER AT-A-GLANCE

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2006

— — . T T o o T T T T TS
MANICOUAGAN STAR LAXE HYDRO
Coms ng;g:g GRAND FORT IRCOUQIS (i‘lfﬂuAEm;
{BAIE-GOMEAL) {GRAND FALLS} FALLS FRANCES KENCRA FALLS KENOGAMI} TOTAL
% Ownership 60 51 100 100 100 100 100
Capacity pw 326 15 61 27 18 92 162 701
Share of capacity nwm 196 8 61 27 18 92 162 564
Generation pmwn 2,889,460 147,771 483,010 138,514 66,332 543,342 1,142,821 5411,250
Share of generation wwn 1,733,676 75,363 483,010 138,514 66,332 543,342 1,142,821 4,183,058
Share of generation received wwm 632,675 75,363 461,092 138,514 66,332 543,342 1,142,821 3,060,139
Average power price
market reference sawm 49
Average generation cash cost smuwm 9
Impact on EBITDA? gnmiuions of powans: 123

The Company also has an investment of 48% in Exploits River Hydro Partnership which generated 158,216 MWh during the year 2006,
This investment is accounted for using the equity mathod, Therefore, it has no impact on EBITDA,

1 Non-GAAP measures
2 EBITDA impact if power had been acquired at prevailing markets rates.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

MARCH &, 2007

OVERVIEW AND HIGHLIGHTS OF 2006

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are expressed in Canadian dollars and
prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).
These financial statements differ in certain respects from those prepared in accordance with
United States GAAP and are not intended to provide certain disclosures which would be found
in United States GAAP financial statements. These measurement and disclosure differences
are described in Note 29 of the consolidated financial statements.

Abitibi-Consolidated is A GLOBAL LEADER IN NEWSPRINT AND UNCOATED GROUNDWOOD
(COMMERCIAL PRINTING) PAPERS AS WELL AS A MAJOR PRODUCER OF WOOD PRODUCTS, gencrating
sales of $4.9 billion in 2006. The Company owns or is a partner in 19 paper mills, 20 sawmills,
4 remanufacturing facilities and 2 engineered wood facilities in Canada, the United States and
the United Kingdom. Abitibi-Consolidated supplies customers in approximately 70 countries
and employs approximately 12,500 people. Responsible for the forest management of approxi-
mately 15.8 million hectares of woodlands in Canada, the Company is committed to the
sustainability of the natural resources in its care. Abitibi-Consolidated is also amongst North
America’s largest recyclers of newspapers and magazines, serving 21 metropolitan areas in
Canada and the U.S,, and 13 regions in the U.K., with more than 28,000 Paper Retriever®

and paper bank containers.

Abitibi-Consolidated is one of the lowest-cost global newsprint producers, annually marketing
approximately 4 million tonnes of newsprint, including third-party volumes, 2 million tonnes
of commercial printing papers and 2 billion board feet of lumber.
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KEY EVENT
ABITIBI-CONSOLIDATED INC. AND
BOWATER INCORPORATED TO MERGE
On January 29, 2007, Abitibi-Consolidated tnhe. and Bowater
Incorporated announced a definitive agreement to combine
in an all-stock merger of equals. The combination will create
a new leader in publication papers. The combined company,
which will be called AbitibiBowater Inc., will have pro forma
annual revenues of approximately US$7.9 billion ($9.3 billion),
making it the 37 largest publicly traded paper and forest
products company in North America and the 8™ largest in

the world. The combi-

ABITIBI BOWATER INC. ned enterprise value

WILL BE THE 3°° LARGEST of the two companies
PUBLICLY TRADED at the time of the

PAPER AND FOREST announcement was in
PRODUCTS COMPANY excess of US$8 billion

IN NORTH AMERICA. ($9.4 billion).

John W, Weaver, President and Chief Executive Officer
of Abitibi-Consolidated, will be Executive Chairman of
AbitibiBowater, and David J. Paterson, Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer of Bowater, will be
President and Chief Executive Officer of AbitibiBowater.
The AbitibiBowater Board of Directors will consist of
14 directors, 7 from each company.

AbitibiBowater’s headquarters and executive office will be
located in Montréal, Québec, with a U.S. regional manufac-
turing and sales office in Greenville, South Carolina. The
company, which will be incorporated in Delaware as the new
parent company, will apply to list its shares on the New York
and Toronto stock exchanges.

Under the terms of the transaction, each common share

of Abitibi-Consolidated will be exchanged for 0.06261 commaon
share of AbitibiBowater, and each Bowater common share
will be exchanged for 0.52 common share of AbitibiBowater.
The exchange ratio will result in 48% of AbitibiBowater
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being owned by former Abitibi-Consolidated shareholders
and 52% of AbitibiBowater being owned by former
Bowater shareholders.

The combination is expected to generate approxi-
mately US$250 million ($295 million) of annualized cost
synergies from improved efficiencies in such areas as
production, selling, general and administrative (SG&A)
costs, distribution and procurement. These synergies
are in addition to cost saving initiatives already in
process at both companies.

The combination has been approved unanimously by

the Boards of Directors of both companies, which received
fairmess opinions from their respective financial advisors.
The combination is subject to approval by the shareholders
of both companies, regulatory approvals, and customary
closing conditions. It is expected 1o be completed in the
third quarter of 2007. Abitibi-Consclidated and Bowater will
continue to operate separately until the transaction closes.

$54 MILLION NET EARNINGS

Abitibi-Consolidated reported net earnings of $54 million, or

12 cents per share, in 2006 compared to a loss of $350 million,

or 80 cents per share, in the previous year. Before the impact

of foreign currency translation and other specific items, net -

earnings would have been a loss of $180 million or 41 cents
per share in 2006,

ABITIBI-CONSOLIDATED compared to a loss

REPORTED NET EARNINGS of $176 million or
OF $54 MILLION, OR 12 CENTS 40 cents per share
PER SHARE, IN 2006. in 2005.

The Company's operating profit from continuing operations
amounted to $327 million on sales of $4,851 million in 20086,
compared to an operating loss of $276 million on sales of
$5,342 million in 2005. Excluding specific items, operating
profit from continuing operations, in 2006, amounted to
$136 million compared to $141 million in 2005.
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SALES EBITDA’ OPERATING PROFIT NET
{LOSS) FROM CONTINUING EARNINGS
OPERATIONS (LOSS)

In millions of dollars {Lines = As per financial statements, Bars = Before specific items1)

TABLE 1 Summary of financial information

IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

S |

AS PER FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BEFORE SPECIFIC ITEMS!

Sales
EBITDA
Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations
Net earnings {loss)
$ per share

2006 2005 2006 2005
s $ s s

4,851 5,342 4,851 5,342

N/A N/A 576 649

327 (276) 136 141
54 (350) (180) (176)
0.12 (0.80) (0.41) (0.40)

1 Mon-GAAP measures

The decrease in sales shown in Table 1 is mainly attributable
to lower sales volume in the Company’s three business
segments, particularly in the Newsprint segment where the
Company permanently closed two mills in December of 2005,
and to a stronger Canadian dollar compared to the U.S.
currency. This was partly offset by higher prices in the
Company’s paper business segments.

IN-DEPTH OPERATIONS REVIEW

On January 26, 2005, the Company announced an in-depth
operations review to be implemented over a two-year period.
The plan initially targeted an improvement of $175 million in
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) related to cost reduction, productivity and market
mix, while it targeted $75 million from increased revenue
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related to future Afternative Offset® and Equal Offset®
conversions, and the relaunch of the Lufkin, Texas mili. As a

result of this review, the Company took the following actions:

- The restructuring of the Newfoundland operations, which
led to labour reductions, the permanent closure of the
Stephenville paper mill and the announcement of the per-
manent closure of paper machine number seven at Grand
Falls. The Stephenville paper mill had an annual production
capacity of approximately 194,000 tonnes of newsprint. The
machine at Grand Falls has an annual production capacity
of approximately 60,000 tonnes of newsprint;

- The permanent closure of the Kenora, Ontario paper
mill, which resulted in the permanent removal of
240,000 tonnes of newsprint capacity annually,

- The permanent closure of one paper machine at
the Bridgewater mill, in the U.K., which resulted in
the permanent removal of 60,000 tonnes
of annual capacity;

- The sale of the Company's 196,000 hectares
{or about 485,000 acres} of privately owned
timberlands located near Thunder Bay, Ontario;

- Other initiatives focusing on cost and
productivity improvements.

THE COMPANY ACHIEVED
OVER $200 MILLION IN
EBITDA IMPROVEMENT,
EXCEEDING THE

$175 MILLION TARGET.

By the end of 2008, the
Company achieved over
$200 million in EBITDA
improvement, exceeding
the $175 million target.
However, none of the
additional $75 miliion target, from increased revenue, has
been realized, the Company having delayed both the future
Afternative Offset® and Equal Offset® conversions and the
relaunch of the Lufkin mill.

SG&A INITIATIVE

In April of 2006, the Company began a review of its SG&A
costs to reduce these expenses at Head Office, as well as
the general and administrative costs incurred at the mills,

where these expenses are included in the cost of products

sold. The objective was to remove $35 million of cost
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annually, by the middle of 2007, through process
improvements, regionalization or centralization of
certain functions, as well as eliminating some expenses.

THE COMPANY At the end of 20086, the
HAD REALIZED Company had realized
$40 MILLION IN COST $40 million in cost improve-
IMPROVEMENTS. ments. The savings occurred

faster than anticipated and
the Company is confident it will maintain that leve! of savings
on an ongoing basis.

LUMBER DISPUTE SETTLEMENT

With respect to the softwood lumber dispiite, as of
December 12, 2005, the Company’s softwood lumber
exports to the United States were subject to estimated
duties of 8.7% for countervailing duties (CVD) and of
3.2% for anti-dumping duties {AD). The duty deposit rates
originally imposed on the Company by the U.S. government
in 2002 were 18.79% for CVD and 12.44% for AD.

In April 2006, the governments of Canada and the United
States reached a framework agreement for a settlement

of the dispute (the Agreement) which was implemented on
October 12, 2006. Under the Agreement, the United States
terminated the AD and CVD orders and ceased collecting
cash deposits of AD and CVD duties as of that date. The two
governments also have taken steps to seek to terminate all
related litigation, including all cases to which the Company
was a party.

Under the terms of the Agreement, all but US$1 billion of
duty deposits by Canadian producers was to be returned.
According to the terms of the Agreement, the Company sold
the right to its refunds to Export Development Canada (EDC),
pursuant to which the Company received an amount equal to
the CVD and AD deposits it had paid, less its share of the
US$1 billion that will not be reimbursed. As of October 12,
20086, Abitibi-Consolidated had paid a total of approximately
1S$258 million in AD and CVD deposits. In December of
2006, the Agreement received final approval by the Canadian
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Parliament and the Company received US$239 million from
EDC representing approximately 81.94% of the deposit
amounts, plus interest accruing from the date of deposit
to the date of liquidation. This amount represents the total
of the refunds the Company was entitled to receive.

Since Qctober 12, 2006, exports of softwood lumber to the
United States are subject to either a three-tiered export tax
or a combination of a lower-tiered export tax and volume
restrictions, as elected region by region. These measures will
be effective during periods when a U.S. market benchmark
composite price for lumber is at or below US$355 per
thousand board feet. Since January 1, 2007, all Québec mills
are subject to monthly quotas and a tax which ranges between
0 and 5% depending on the Framing Lumber Composite
Price (FLCP). For the operations in British-Columbia, the
volume is not limited, but the tax could range from 0 to 15%
depending on the FLCP, and if volumes exported exceed the
allocation for this region, the tax will be increased by 50%.
The agreement is for a minimum seven-year term, but could
be terminated after two years (although the U.S. lumber
coalition could not file new AD or CVD cases for a minimum
three-year period).

SALE OF PANASIA

On November 17, 2005, Abitibi-Consolidated announced
that it had completed the sale of its 50% share ownership
in Pan Asia Paper Company Pte Ltd {PanAsia) to Norske
Skogindustrier ASA (Norske Skog) of Norway. Therefore,
effective with the third quarter of 2005 financial reporting,
the information pertaining to PanAsia was no longer propor-
tienally included in the Company's consolidated financial
statements but presented as discontinued operations. Also,
the Company has reclassified its historical information to
exclude PanAsia’s results from continuing operations.

As a result of this transaction, Abitibi-Consolidated reduced
its net debt leve! by approximately $1 billion when compared
to the second quarter of the 2005 financial report, improving
its balance sheet and liquidity position, as well as providing
financial flexibility for the future.
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DIVIDENDS AND SHARES OUTSTANDING

Dividends paid in 2006 amounted to $22 million compared to
$44 million in 2005. On July 25, 2006, the Company's Board
of Directors suspended dividend payments.

The weighted average number of shares cutstanding remained
constant at 440 million during both years in 2008 and 2005,
while there were 14.5 million opticns outstanding at the end
of 2006 compared to 13.6 million at the end of 2005.

SPECIFIC ITEMS IMPACTING

RESULTS AND NON-GAAP MEASURES

The Company's operating resuits include specific items that
are not related to normal operating activities and make the
comparison of results difficult from period to pericd. Abitibi-
Consolidated compares its performance as well as those of its
business segments before specific items based on EBITDA,
operating profit (Joss) from continuing operations, net earnings
{loss), net earnings (loss) per share and other such measures,
Specific items include gain or loss on translation of foreign
currencies, mill closure and other elements, asset write offs or
write downs, income tax adjustments related to the finalization
of prior-year audits, impact of changes in income tax
legislation and other items that do not relate to normal
operating activities. Operating profit (loss) from continuing
operaticns before specific items, net earnings (loss) before
specific items, net earnings (loss) per share before specific
items and other such measures before specific items such as
EBITDA are not measures prescribed by the Canadian GAAP.

Management uses both GAAP and non-GAAP ineasures
to evaluate results of operations and believes that investors
and other readers should be aware of both measures in
order to more meaningfully evaluate operations. Some of
the key users of the Company's financial information, inclu-
ding analysts and creditors, request that these measures
be made publicly available.

The use of operating profit (loss) from continuing operations
and EBITDA has certain material limitations because they
exclude the recumring expenditures of financing expenses and
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income taxes. These expenses are necessary components
of the Company's costs because Abitibi-Consolidated is
required over time to pay cash income taxes and to pay
interest on its indebtedness. Management compensates for
these limitations to the use of operating profit {loss) from
continuing operations and EBITDA by using them as only
supplementary measures of profitability.

The Company believes that the impact of the key business
drivers (price, volume and foreign exchange) on its results is
more readily understandable when isolated from the specific
items. The specific items are then separately identifiable and
discussed in detail so that the impact of those items on the
results may be understood. Abitibi-Consolidated believes
this gives the reader an easy to follow format where specific
items are brought to the forefront immediately, allowing the
reader to focus on these points separately.

Measures excluding specific items have no standardized
meaning prescribed by GAAP and are not necessarily
comparable to similar measures presented by other com-
panies, and therefore should not be considered in isolation.
It is important for readers to understand that certain items
may be presented in different lines on the financial state-
ments thereby leading to different measures for different
companies. However, the Company believes this is useful
supplemental information as it provides an indication of
performance and comparative trends excluding these
specific items. Readers should be cautioned, however,
that this information should not be confused with

or used as an afternative to measures prescribed by

the Canadian GAAP.

SPECIFIC ITEMS IMPACTING OPERATING PROFIT
{LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

in 2006, the Company’s operating results were positively
impacted by $191 million of specific items. In December
of 2006, following the lumber dispute settlement, the
Cormpany recorded income of $171 million mainly related
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to the unrecognized portion of the CVD and AD deposits
that were refunded. In December of 2004, the Company
recognized US$52 million of CVD and AD in its conso-
lidated financial statements. Also, following the sale of the
permanently closed Sheldon, Texas mill, Abitibi-Consolidated
recorded an $18 million gain on disposal of assets under mill
closure and other elements. During 2006, the Company
recorded $9 million in mill closure and other elements mainly .
attributable to restructuring charges related to the SG&A
review announced in the second guarter of 2006, partly
offset by a reduction of the provision for mill closures,

In the second quarter of 2006, the Company recognized

in its SG&A expenses a credit of $11 million related to
prior-years provisions of capital tax, which impacted the
Newsprint, Commercial Printing Papers and Wood
Products segments by $6 million, $3 mitlion and

$2 million, respectively.

In 2005, Newsprint operating results were negatively
impacted by $292 million due to asset write downs

of $203 million and provisions for mill closure costs of
$89 million mainly related to the permanent closure of the
Kenora and Stephenville paper mills as well as one paper
machine in Bridgewater. Also, the Newsprint segment
was hegatively impacted by $44 million due to impairment
of the long-lived assets of the Lufkin milt and the recog-
nition of a liability related to an early retirement program
and labour force reductions for $9 million. Commercial
Printing Papers operating results were negatively impacted
by $71 million due to impairment of the long-lived assets
of tha Lufkin and Thunder Bay (Fort William) paper mills
for $124 million, partly offset by a gain of $53 million

on the sale of timberlands. Operating results in the
Wood Products segment were negatively impacted

by $1 million, mainly due to mill closure costs of the
Champneuf, Québec sawmill.

Table 2 highlights the impact of the above specific items
on operating results from continuing operations by segment.
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1ABLE 2 Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations
IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS
C g piy ]
AS PER FIRANCIAL STATEMENTS BEFORE SPECIFIC ITEMS'
2006 2005 2006 2005
’ s s s
Newsprint 215 {(228) 192 117
Commercial Printing Papers (32) (89} (23) (18)
Wood Products 144 41 (28) 42
327 (276) 136 141

1 Non-GAAP measures

OTHER SPECIFIC ITEMS IMPACTING

NET EARNINGS (LOSS)

Other than specific items already covered in the previous
section, Abitibi-Consolidated recorded in 2006 positive
income tax adjustments of $79 million, mainly related to the
prospective reduction in the Canadian federal income tax rate,
an after-tax interest income of $22 million, which represented
the interest portion of the CVD and AD refunds, and an after
tax gain on translation of foreign currencies of $6 million.

In 2005, the Company recorded an after-tax gain on
transtation of foreign currencies of $90 million, mainly
from the stronger Canadian currency at the end of the

TABLE 3 Impact of specific items'
N MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

year compared to the U.S. dollar, in which most of Abitibi-
Consolidated's long-term debt is denominated. Also,
the Company recorded favourable income tax adjust-
ments of $27 million attributable to positive income tax
adjustments mainly related to the finalization of prior-year
audits, partly offset by negative income tax adjustments
due to an increase in tax rate. The Company recorded

an unfavourable after-tax amount of $17 million in its
financial expenses, mainly due to the premiun paid on
early debt repayment. The $10 million after-tax loss
recorded by the Company on the sale of its interest in
PanAsia is attributable to a fiscal gain higher than the
accounting gain.

e — - Ap— ; ;
2006 2005
BEFORE TAX AFTER TAX BEFORE TAX AFTER TAX
s s s $
Net earnings {loss} as reported in the financial statements 54 (350)
$ per share 0.12 (0.80)
Specific items:
Impacting operating profit {loss} from continuing operations
{included in Table 2} (191) (127} 417 264
Loss (gain) on translation of foreign currencies (10} (6) (101) (90)
Loss {gain) on sale of PanAsia - - (3) 10
Financial expenses {income} (32) {22) 24 17
Incomne tax expense (recovery) (79) {(27)
Net earnings (loss) excluding specific items’ (180} {(176)
§ per share’ (0.41) (0.40)

1 Non-GAAP measures
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RESULTS BEFORE SPECIFIC ITEMS is mainly attributable to the strength of the Canadian
As specific items have already been covered in the dollar, higher cost of products sold and lower sales
previous section, the following compariscn and analysis volume. These were partially offset by higher prices in
will focus on the Company’s performance only related the Company’s two paper business segments, fower
to normal operating activities. amortization expense, lower CVD and AD and lower

SG&A costs mainly attributable to the SG&A initiative.
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS BEFORE SPECIFIC ITEMS
Before specific itemns, the $5 million reduction in in 2006, EBITDA was $576 million, or 11.9% of sales,
operating profit from continuing eperations, in 2006, compared to $649 million, or 12.1% of sales in 2005.

TABLE 4 Consolidated results before specific items'

N MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

FAV/[UNFAY) VARIANCE DUE TO:
2006  voume  BiowaNoe PRICES cosTs 2005
s s s s s s
Sales 4,851 (432) (295) 236 - 5,342
Cost of products sold 3,612 309 43 - (98) 3,866
Distribution costs 517 48 13 - 13 - 591
CVD, AD and other duties 2 4 2 - 59 67
SG&A 144 - 1 - 24 i69
EBITDA' 576 (71) (236) 236 (2) 649
Amortization 440 - 5 - 63 508
Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations 136 (71} (231) 236 61 141
Financial expenses 339 388
Other expenses 28 10
Income tax expense (recovery) (84) {95)
Share of earnings from investments
subject to significant influence ; 4 2
Non-controlling interests (37) (29)
Earnings from discontinued operations - 13
Net earnings (loss} (180) (176)
$ per share {0.41) {0.40)
1 Non-GAAP measures
Sales were $4,851 million in 2006, compared to $5,342 mil- the Company permanently closed two mills in December
lion in 2005. The decrease in sales was mainly attributable 2005, and by a stronger Canadian dollar compared to the
to lower sales volume in the Company’s three business seg- U.S. currency. This was partly offset by higher prices in

ments and most specifically in the Newsprint segment where the Company’s paper business segments.
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Cost of products sold was $3,612 million in 2008,
compared to $3,866 million in 2005. This decrease was
mainly attributabte to lower sales volume particularly in
the Newsprint segment and the strength of the Canadian
dollar reflected in the costs of the Company’s U.S. news-
print mills, partly offset by higher operating costs per unit.
The increase in the Company’s operating costs per unit is
mainly due to higher input prices for energy and fibre as
well as pension and other employee future benefits. These
increases were partly offset by productivity improvements
and by reducing input usage.

Distribution costs were $517 millicn in 2008, compared to
$591 million in 2005. Cost decreases were mainly due to
improvements in transportation mode and logistics as well
as the strength of the Canadian dollar and lower sales volume
particularly in the Newsprint segment.

In 2006, following the lumber dispute settlement, the Company
recorded no CVD or AD, before specific items, but $2 million
of export tax. In 2005, the Company recorded $67 million of
CVD and AD depaosits. More details are provided in the Wood
Products section.

SGA&A expenses befare specific items amounted to $144 million
in 2008, compared to $169 million in 2005. The reduction was
mainly attributable to the SG&A initiative.

In 20086, total amortization before specific items decreased
to $440 million compared to $508 million the previous year.
in 2005, the Company wrote down assets for an amount of
$203 million mainly due to the permanent closure of the Kenora
and Stephenville paper mills. Also in the fourth quarter

of 2005, the Company recorded an impairment charge of
$125 million as a result of the impairment test of long-lived
assets of the Lufkin paper mill. Furthermore, following
the sale of timberlands in the Thunder Bay area, Abitibi-
Consolidated assessed its Fort William paper mill to net
realizable value and recognized an impairment charge

of $43 million.

When comparing the average exchange rate in 2008 to
the same period in 2005, the Canadian dollar strengthened
by 6.8% compared to the U.S. dollar. The Company esti-
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mates that the Canadian dollar appreciation against the
U.S. dollar had an unfavourable impact, net of hedging,
on its operating results of approximately $221 million
compared to the previous year. Other currency exchange
rates had a negative impact, net of hedging, of $10 million.

Financial expenses before specific items totalled

$339 million in 2006, compared to $388 miftion In 2005.
This decrease was mainly due to the reduction in the
Company's long-term debt, largely attributable to debt
repayment made with the proceeds from the sale of
PanAsia and the sale of Ontario timberlands in 2005,
partly offset by higher interest costs on the Company’s
floating rate debt.

Other expenses in 20086 increased to $28 million compared
to $10 million the previous year. This increase is mainly due
to higher discounts on sale of accounts receivable in 2006
and to other income recorded in 2005 mainly from the price
adjustment related to the sale of Voyageur Panel and the
sale of other assets.

Income tax recovery before specific items during the year
amounted to $84 million or an average effectiva tax rate of
approximately 36%, compared to $95 million or an average
effective tax rate of approximatety 37% in 2005, Average
effective tax rates are impacted mainly by the mix and level
of earnings (loss) subject to different tax rates applicable
to the various jurisdictions.

Earnings from discontinued operations of $13 million in
2005 represented net earnings of PanAsia for the year until
closing of the sale.

NEWSPRINT

OPERATING RESULT'S BEFORE SPECIFIC ITEMS

In the Newsprint segment, the $75 million improvement
in operating profit from continuing operations before
specific items is mainly due to higher LU.S. dollar selling
prices and lower amortization expense, partly offset by a
stronger Canadian dollar,
lower sales volume and
higher manufacturing
costs per tonne.

$75 MILLION
IMPROVEMENT IN
OPERATING PROFIT.
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SALES EBITDA' OPERATING PROFIT SHIPMENTS
(LOSS) FROM CONTINUING Thousands
OPERATIONS' of tonnes
In millions of doltars, before specific items! (except tor shipments)
TaBLE 5 Newsprint operating results before specific items'
IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS
L . - [ 1
FAVAUNFAV) VARIANCE DUE TO:
FOREIGN
2006 VOLUME EXCHANGE PRICES COSTS 2005
[ s s s s s
Sales 2,607 (354) (174) 243 - 2,892
EBITDA' 429 (61) (122) 243 (32) 401
Amortization 237 - 4 - 43 284

Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations

192

(61) {118) 243 11 117

1 Non-GAAP measures

Sales of newsprint were $2,607 million in 2006 compared
to $2,892 million in 2005. Operating profit from continuing
operations before specific items in 2006 was $192 million,
or 7.4% of sales, compared to $117 million, or 4% of
sales In 2005.

The decrease in sales is mainly attributable to lower sales
volume and a stronger average Canadian dollar compared
with the U.S. currency, partly offset by higher average
prices year-over-year. The Company’s shipments totalled
3,486,000 tonnes compared to 3,972,000 tonnes sold in
2005. The reduction in shipments was mainly due to the
elimination of the least profitable destinations, resulting in
the closure of the Kenora and Stephenville paper mills in
December of 2005. The average newsprint realized price

rose by $20 per tonne in 2006, an increase of 3% from
the previous year, primarily due to price improvements of
US$62 per tonne on average for all markets, largely offset
by the strengthening of the Canadian dollar.

On a per tonne basis, the Company’s newsprint cost of
products sold in 2006 was $3 higher than in 2005. This was
mainly due to $17 per tonne of input price increases, primarily
energy and higher pension and other employee future benefits,
combined with lower production, mainly attributable to a
reduction of 1.3% in basis weight. However, cost increases
were mostly offset by lower usage, the closure of the high-
cost Kenora and Stephenville paper mills, as well as the stron-
ger Canadian dollar, reducing production costs in Canadian
dollars of the Company's U.S. mills.
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Distribution of newsprint sales:
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NEWSPRINT MARKET

According to the Pulp and Paper Products Council (PPPC),
North American newsprint demand declined by 6% in 2006
compared to 2005, The North American domestic shipments'
share of lighter basis weight newsprint increased from 36%
in 2005 to 51% in 2008, contributing to approximately 1.3%
of the decline in U.S. consumption. This translated to an
average basis weight in North America of 46.9 grams per
square metre (Gsmy) in 2006, compared to 47.4 Gsm in 2005.
Other key drivers include the continued decline in news-
paper circulation and advertising volume. Compared to
the previous year, North American imports declined by
25.2% to 142,000 tonnes, while exports declined by 9.8%
to 2,242,000 tonnes, mainly due to lower exports to Japan
and Western Europe.

The average North American operating rate remained high
at 94%, compared to 96% in 2005. The preservation of
high operating rate is mainly attributable to the reduction in
production capacity. North American newsprint production
declined by 6.3% in 2006 compared to 2005. At the end

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND' ANALYSIS 23

of 2006, total producer and customer newsprint inventories
were 105,000 tonnes lower than in December of 2005.
The Company continued to employ disciplined inventary
management in 2006 to match cutput with its order book.
At year-end, the Company's inventories stood at the same
record low level as at the end of December 2005.

In 2005, the Company announced three price increases in
the U.S. that were put into effect on March 1, June 1 and
October 1. The 2005 year-end industry published trans-
action price stood at US$635 per tonne, 11.4% above
December of 2004. In 2006, the Company announced two
price increases that were put into effect on February 1 and
August 1. During the third quarter of 2008, the (Company
reduced to US$20 the initial US$40 per tonne newsprint
price increase announced for the U.S. market effective
August 1, 2006. In the fourth quarter of 2008, newsprint
prices started to decline and at year-end the industry
published transaction price stood at US$646 per tonne,
1.7% above December of 2005. Newsprint prices in
international markets, with the exception of European
countries, increased between 10% and 14% during the
year. In 2006, published transaction prices in continental
Europe were approximately 4% to 7% higher than in 2005
in local currency basis.

MARKET OUTLOOK

The Company expects global demand to increase slightly

in 2007, with continued positive growth in Europe and Latin
America as well as higher growth levels in certain countries
in Asia, such as China and India. However, the Company
expects demand in North America to decline by 5% to 6%
on a tonnage basis, resulting mainly from continued decline
in newspaper circulation and a sluggish advertising environ-
ment. Key risk factors to the Company’s demand expectation
include cost-control measures by the newspaper publishers
as well as economic factors.

CHANGE IN CAPACITY

As announced in the fourth quarter of 2005, Abitibi-
Gonsolidated permanently closed one paper machine
at the Bridgewater mill, on February 28, 2006. The closure
of the machine removed 60,000 tonnes of annual
newsprint capacity.
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In 20086, newsprint production capacity changed due to
the conversion of one paper machine from newsprint

to commercial printing paper grades at the Shawinigan
(Belgo), Québec mill, the allocation of the capacity between
newsprint and commercial printing papers, as well as

the production of lighter basis weight paper. Considering
the above, the Company’s capacity for 2007 stands at
3,709,000 tonnes of newsprint, including 150,000 tonnes
of idled capacity at the Lufkin paper mill.
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COMMERCIAL PRINTING PAPERS

OPERATING RESULTS BEFORE SPECIFIC ITEMS

in the Commercial Printing Papers segment, the $10 million
increase in operating loss from continuing operations before
specific items is mainly due to a stronger Canadian dollar,
partly offset by higher U.S. doliar selling prices and lower
amortization expense.
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SALES EBITDA' OPERATING PROFIT SHIPMENTS
{(LOSS} FROM CONTINUING Thousands
OPERATICNS' of tonnes
In milions of dollars, before specific items! (except for shipments)
1aBLE 6 Commercial Printing Papers operating results before specific items'
IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS
e —
FAVAUNFAY) VARIANGE DUE TO:
20086 VOLUME a&iﬁgg PRICES COSTS 2005
s $ $ s s s
Sales 1,511 29 (101} 89 - 1,552
EBITDA' 128 {4) (99) 89 (13) 155
Amortization 156 - 1 - 16 173
Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations (28) (4) (98) 89 3 (18)

1 Non-GAAP measures

Sales of commercial printing papers were $1,511 million in
2006 compared to $1,552 million in 2005. Operating loss from
continuing operations before specific items was $28 million,
or 1.9% of sales in 2006, compared to $18 million, or 1.2%
of sales in 2005.

The decrease in sales is mainly attributable to a stronger
average Canadian dollar, compared with the U.S. currency and
lower sales volume, partly offset by higher average prices year-
over-year. The average realized price for commercial printing
papers decreased from the previous year by 1% to $864 per
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tonne. This reduction is primarily due to the strengthening of the
Canadian dollar, largely offset by an average price improvement
of USS845 per tonne. The Company’s shipments of commercial
printing papers totalled 1,748,000 tonnes in 2006, compared to
1,782,000 tonnes in 2005, mainly due to the Company exiting
the Rotonews grades. In the fourth quarter of 2006, the
Company toock approximately 50,000 tonnes of market-related
downtime at four of its commercial printing paper mils.

TABLE 7 Shipments of commercial printing papers

IN THOUSANDS OF TONNES
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On a per tonne basis, the Company's commercial
printing papers cost of products sold in 2006 was

$18 higher than in 2005. The cost increase was mainly
due to $23 per tonne of input price increases, primarily
energy and pension and other employee future benefits,
as well as an unfavourable product mix, These were
partly offset by productivity improvements anci labour
cost reductions.

[ - - R [ B

2006 2005
S8C, Soft-Nip papers 599 611
ABloffset™ papers 471 422
Hi-Brite papers 267 306
Directory papers 138 135
Other papers 185 233
Total papers 1,660 1,707
Market pulp 88 75
Total segment 1,748 1,782

ABICAL® GRADES (SUPERCALENDERED (“SC"”) AND SOFT-NIP)
North American demand for SC grades decreased by 3.6%
in 2006 compared to 2005. SC grades are mainly used in
retail inserts, catalogues and magazines. The largest SC
paper machine in North America, which is owned by a
competitor, was idled frorn December 2005 to October 2006
due to labour disruptions. As the increase in imports only
partially compensated for the reduction in capacity, this
resulted in a lower availability of SC papers in North America.
Shipments of the Company’s ABical® grades declined by 2%
compared to 2005 mainly due to less production in the low-
end of the grades in 2006,

According to an industry publication, prices for super-
calendered (SCA} grades rose by 2.5% on average in 2006
compared to 2005. In 2005, prices increased in January,
April and July ending the year 6.8% higher than in
Decermnber 2004. In 2008, prices increased in April and
July but began to decline in November. The December
2006 industry-published transaction price stood at
US$775 per short ton, 0.6% below December of 2005.

2006
83%
United States @
‘/1 1%
6%  Canada
Quher countries
2005
86%

United States

-

9%
5 0/0 Canada
Other countries
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ABIQFFSET™ GRADES
North American demand for superbrite grades increased
by 10.1% in 2006 compared to 2005. Superbrite grades
are mainly used as a substitute for traditional uncoated
freesheet grade applications. Demand growth was largely
driven by the Company’s continued success in pene-
trating the uncoated freesheet market with its ABloffset™
grades. Shipments of the Company’s ABloffset™ grades
increased by 11.6% in

SHIPMENTS OF 2006 compared to 2005.
THE COMPANY’S ABloffset™ grades consist
ABIOFFSET™ of Alternative Offset®,
GRADES INCREASED Equal Offset® and

BY 11.6% IN 2006. innovative Offset™.
According to an industry publication, prices for uncoated
freesheet grades, against which ABloffset™ grades

are benchmarked, rose by 15% on average in 2006
compared to 2005. In 2005, prices fluctuated throughout
the year, ending the year 4.8% lower than in December
2004. In 2006, prices had strong upward momentum
and ended up at US$830 per short ton, 19.4% above
December of 2005.

UNCOATED GROUNDWOOD PAPERS MARKET

According to the PPPC, North American demand for
uncoated groundwood papers was almost fiat, decreasing
by 0.3% in 2006 compared tc 2005. The demand decline
for supercalendered grades was almost totally offset by
growth in lightweight and superbrite grades.

MARKET QUTLOOK

The Company expects the outlook for 2007 to be positive
for uncoated groundwood grades with dernand to grow by
2% to 3%. The main drivers of this growth are expected to
be a rebound in supercalendered demand as well as the
continued uncoated freesheet substitution strategy with
the Company’s ABloffset™ grades.

CHANGE IN CAPACITY

On February 25, 2007, Abitibi-Consolidated idied for an
indefinite period its Fort William paper mifl located in Thunder
Bay, due to market conditions and high production costs.
The mill has an annual production capacity of approximately
145,000 tonnes of commercia! printing papers.

In 2006, the commercial printing papers production capacity
changed due to the conversion of one paper machine from
newsprint to commercial printing paper grades at the Belgo
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mill and the allocation of the capacity between newsprint
and commercial printing papers. Considering the above,
the Company's capacity for 2007 stands at 2,111,000 tonnes
of commercial printing papers, including 375,000 tonnes of
idled capacity at the Fort William and Lufkin paper mills.

WOOD PRODUCTS

OPERATING RESULTS BEFORE SPECIFIC ITEMS

In the Wood Products segment, the $70 million reduction in
operating results from continuing operations before specific
items is mainly due to lower selling prices and a stronger
Canadian dollar, partly offset by a reduction in CvVD, AD
and other duty expenses.

Sales of wood products declined to $733 miltion in 2008,
compared to $898 million in 2005. Operating loss from
continuing operations before specific items was $28 million,
or 3.8% of sales in 2006, compared to an operating profit from
continuing operations before specific items of $42 million, or
4.7% of sales in 2005,

The reduction in sales is mainly attributable to lower sefling
prices and volume as well as a stronger average Canadian
dollar. The average realized price for wood products
decreased to $394 per thousand board feet in 2006,
compared to $457 per thousand board feet in 2005. The
Company's shipments totalled 1,858 million board fest

in 2006, compared to 1,965 million board feet in 2005.
The reduction in sales volurme is mainly attributable to the
reduction in allowable cut in the province of Québec and
lower production due to deteriorating market conditions.

On a per thousand board feet basis, the Company's cost
of goods sold in 2006 was $9 higher than in 2005. This was
mainly due to higher fuel prices and lower production.

tn the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company announced the
idling of five Québec sawmills, including a sawmill owned
by Produits Forestiers Saguenay Inc., a subsidiary of Abitibi-
Consolidated. The temporary closures were mainly attribu-
table to deteriorating market conditions as well as high
production and fibre costs. At this time, three of the five
sawmills are still idled.

CVD, AD and other duties before specific items decreased
from $67 million in 2005 to $2 mitlion in 2006. The Company
expensed an amount of $2 million for export tax in the
fourth quarter of 2008, while it paid $67 million of CVD
and AD deposits in 2005.
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SALES EBITDA' OPERATING PROFIT SHIPMENTS
{LOSS) FROM CONTINUING Millions of
OPERATIONS’ board feet
In millions of doltars, before specific items? (@xcept for shipments}
TABLE 8 Wood products operating results before specific items'
IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS
o S T e e s e e e T T L ST Lt L T T
FAVAUNFAY) VARIANCE DUE TO:
2006 VOLUME EXOHANGE PRICES COsTS 2005
s $ $ s t s
Sales 733 (49) (20) (96) - 898
EBITDA' 19 (6) (15) (%6) 43 93
Amortization 47 - - - 4 51
Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations (28) {6) (15} (96) 47 42

1 Non-GAAP measures

Distribution of wood products sales:

2006

56%

United States / %\
|

™ 44%

Canada

2005
63%

United States @
i |

37%

Canada

LUMBER MARKET
Demand in the United States slowed down throughout the
year with housing starts decreasing by 12.9%, irom an
average of 2.1 million units in 2005 to 1.8 million units in
20086. This reduction occurred mainly in the second half of
2006 with housing starts ending the year at 1.6 million units!
Demand in Canada continued to be very strong with housing
starts remaining above an annualized rate of 200,000 units
for all of the year for the fifth consecutive year. In Japan,
housing starts increased by approximately 10% in 2008,
improving demand for the

COMPANY RECEIVED Company’s 2 X 4 “J grade”
US$239 MILLION OF products sold through
CVDRAD REFUNDS. Canadian distributors.

In 20086, yearly average published lumber prices (f.o.b. Great
Lakes) in North America dropped significantly compared to
2005. Prices for 2 X 4 Stud dropped by approximately 17%
and 2 X 4 Random Length dropped by approximately 12%.
This is mainly due to the declining demand and the capacity/
demand ratio in North America.




28 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MARKET OUTLOOK
The Company expects U.S. housing starts to remain low for
the first half of 2007 and then increase for the second half of

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

1a8LE 9 Summary of quarterly results
tN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMQUNTS
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the year. In Canada, the Company expects housing starts
to slightly decrease from 2006.

LT L L L A e LT [ |
2006 2005
a-4 a3 a2 o1 04 Q3 Q2 a1
s s s s s 5 s s
Sales 1,180 1,181 1,253 1,237 1,310 1,355 1,354 1,323
Operating profit (loss) from
continuing operations 236 2 48 41 (352) 8 57 1i
Operating profit (loss) from
continuing operations before
specific items’ 17 10 57 52 15 49 58 19
Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations (22) (48) 157 (33) (345) 95 (49) (54)
Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations per share (0.05) (0.11) 0.36 (0.08) (0.79} 0.22 {0.11) (0.13)
Net earnings {loss) (22) (48) 157 (33) (355) 99 (43) (51)
Net earnings (loss) per share (0.05) {0.11) 0.36 (0.08) (0.81) 0.23 (0.10) (0.12)
Net earnings {loss) before
specific items’ {61) (54) (29) (36) (51} (40) (26) (59)
Net earnings (loss) before
specific items’ per share (0.14) {0.12) {0.07) (0.08} (0.12) (0.09) (0.06) (0.13)
Exchange rates (CDN$1= US$):
Average noon rate 0.878 0.892 0.891 0.866 0.852 0.832 0.804 0.815

1 Non-GAAP measures

On a quarterly basis, sales were negatively impacted by
lower sales volume related to the newsprint closures in

the fourth quarter of 2005 and in the first quarter of 2006.
The strength of the Canadian doliar compared to the U.S.
currency also contributed to the negative trend, going
from an average of US$0.815 in the first quarter of 2005

to US$0.852 in the fourth quarter of 2005 and to US$0.878
in the fourth quarter of 2006. This represents an 8% strength-
ening of the Canadian dollar from the first quarter of 2005 to
the fourth quarter of 2006. These were partly offset by price
increases in the Company’s two paper segments.

The Company’s operating results before specific items are
negatively impacted by winter months in the first and fourth
quarters of each year, mainly due to higher energy costs. In
the first quarter of 2006, the Company benefited from price
increases mainly in the Newsprint segment. In the third
quarter of 2006, the reduction in operating results was mainly
due to lower prices in the Wood Products segment and higher
costs mainly in the Newsprint and Wood Products segments.

QOther than the elements mentioned above, major factors
impacting the Company's net earnings (loss) were the major
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specific items, principally the CVD and AD refunds in the fourth
quarter of 2006, asset write downs and impairments in the
fourth quarter of 2005, as well as the gain on transiation of
foreign currencies, mainly due to the strengthening Canadian
dollar and its effect on the Company’s U.S. dollar denominated
debt. The reduction in financial expenses related to the lower
debt level in 2006 also impacted net earnings (loss).

The weighted average number of shares outstanding
remained constant at 440 million during these periods.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

The major cash requirements for the Company are to fund
its operating working capital, capital expenditures, debt
and interest payment obligations. Also, due to the current
underfunded situation of the employee future benefit plans,
additional funding is required. Over time, the funding of these
requirements is expected to be generated from continuing
operating activities and the use of the Company's revolving
credit facility if necessary. Subject to certain restrictions,
related to the merger of Abitibi-Consoclidated and Bowater
discussed in the Key event section, the Company could also
increase its liquidity by issuing new debt or equity depending
on financial market conditions and availability. In 2006, the
main cash transaction other than cash from continuing
operating activities and capital expenditures, was the refund
of the CVD and AD deposits received following the lumber
dispute settlement. For 2007, the Company believes its
liquidity generated from continuing operating activities, its
cash on hand and the use, from time to time, of its revolving
credit facility, will be sufficient to satisfy its requirements

in operating working capital, capital expenditures as well

as debt and interest payment obligations. Excluding any
amount drawn on its revelving credit facility, the Company
has US$61 million and US$346 million of debt maturing

in 2007 and 2008, respectively.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents retated to conti-
nuing operations at the end of 2006 amounted to $203 million,
an increase of $136 million, compared to $67 million at

the end of 2005. In 2006, Abitibi-Consclidated generated
$232 million of cash from continuing operating activities and
$22 million of cash from financing activities of continuing
operations, while it used $123 million of cash for investing
activities of continuing operations.
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CONTINUING OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from continuing operating activities totalled
$232 miltion in 2006, compared to $164 million in 2005.
The improvement in cash generated by operating activities
was mainly due to an increase in operating resulls from
continuing activities excluding the non-cash items rmainly
related to the CVD and AD refunds, partly offset by an
increase of $167 million in non-cash operating working
capital in 2008, compared to a reduction of $33 million in
2005. In 2006, non-cash operating working capital was
higher by $167 million mainly due to a reduction in accounts
payable, in large part attributable to the closure of some
newsprint operations and to higher inventories, mostly wood,
partly offset by a reduction in accounts receivable. The
reduction in non-cash operating working capital in 2005
was mainly due to an increase in accounts payable, partly
offset by an increase in accounts receivable.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Cash generated by financing activities from continuing
operations totalled $22 million in 2008, compared to cash
used of $797 miilion In 2005. Cash generated in 2006 was
mainly due to the utilisation of part of the credit facitities.
Cash used in 2005 was mainly due to the reduction of long-
term U.S. doltar debt.

Long-term debt, including the current portion, amounted
to $3,864 million as at December 31, 2008, representing a
ratio of net debt to total capitalization of 0.592, compared to
$3,762 million and a ratio of 0.598 as at December 31, 2005.
The increase in long-term debt is mainly attributable to
additional working capital requirements.

On December 15, 2006, the Company repaid the remaining
US$15 million of the US$300 million of 6.95% notes due on
December 15, 2006. At the end of 2006, the current portion of
the long-term debt was $72 million, compared to $18 million
at the end of the previous year. The remaining US$61 million
of the US$200 million of 7.625% notes comes to maturity on
May 15, 2007.

In the third quarter of 2006, the Company increzsed its
revolving credit facilities from $700 million to $750 million,
as a new lender joined the banking syndicate. The facilities
require the Company to maintain certain financial ratios,
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namely an interest coverage ratio of not less than 1.5x for the
life of the agreement and a net funded debt to capitalization
ratio of not more than 70% until December 31, 2007 and of not
more than 65% thereafter. Exempt from the calculation of the
net funded debt to capitalization ratio are up to $500 million of
non-cash asset write downs on an after-tax basis. At the end
of 2006, $479 million of the $500 million exemption was used.
Net funded debt to capitalization ratio, calculated as per the
requirements of the Company’s revolving credit facilities,
amounted to 58.3% at the end of the year, and the interest
coverage ratio was 2.6x for the twelve-month pericd ended
December 31, 2006. At the end of December 2006, the
Company had drawn $180 million on these credit facilities.

On January 29, 2007, following the announcement by Abitibi-
Consolidated and Bowater of a definitive agreement to combine
in an all-stock merger of equals, DBRS placed the Company
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under review with positive implications, Fitch put the Compa.ny
on rating watch with positive implication and Moody's Investors
Service (Moody's) affirned Abitibi-Consolidated’s ratings and
changed the outlook to developing from stable. On January 30,
2007, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (Standard & Poor’s)
affirmed the rating and the outlook.

On November 15, 20086, Standard & Poor’s ravised its outiook
on the Company to negative from stable. At the same time,
the long-term corporate credit rating was affirmed at B+. On
Septemnber 21, 2006, Moody's announced the implementa-
tion of its new rating methodology. As a resuft, the corporate
family rating was maintained at B1, and the rating for the
senior unsecured notes was changed from B1 to B2. The
liquidity rating was SGL-2 and the outlook was stable.
Both DBRS (BB (low}, trend negative) and Fitch (B+, stable
outlook) maintained their respective ratings in 2008.

TABLE 10 Credit ratings
e e e e 3
RATING AGENCIES CORPORATE FAMILY RATING OUTLOCK SECURITY RATING
DBRS BB (low) Unsecured Notes: BB (low)
Fitch B+ Unsecured Notes: B+
Secured Bank debt: BB-
Moody's B1 Developing Unsecured Notes: B2
Standard & Poor’s B+ Negative Unsecured Notes: B+

INVESTING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS
The Company used $123 million of cash for investing
activities of continuing operations in 2006, compared to
cash generated of $566 millicn last year. In 2006, Abitibi-
Consolidated used $165 million for capital expenditures
compared to $177 million in 2005. In 2008, the Company
received $28 mitlion of net proceeds from the sale of the
Sheldon paper mill. This compares to $693 million from the
sale of the Company’s interest in PanAsia and $64 million
mainly from the sale of the timberlands in Ontario in 2005,

in August of 2006, the Company completed the upgrade
project of one paper machine at its Snowflake, Arizona
paper mill. The main objective of the US$15 million project
was to reduce production cost. The $16 million project to
increase hydro power generation at the Company's Hydro-
Saguenay facility was operational in June of 2006, on
schedule and within budget. This new station is adding

18 Megawatts (MW) of hydro-generation capacity. The
Company also spent approximately US$6 million for the
expansion of its US recycling collection centers in 2006.

The Company intends to limit its capital expenditure program
in 2007 to approximately $165 million, and to continue to apply
free cash flows towards the reduction of the long-term debt.

2005 COMPARED TO 2004

SPECIFIC ITEMS

During 2005, the Company recorded an after-tax gain on
translation of foreign currencies of $30 million, as wel! as
favourable income tax adjustments of $27 million attributable
to positive income tax adjustments mainly related to the
finalization of prior-year audits. This was partly offset by
negative income tax adjustments due to increases in the
Québec provincial tax rates. The $10 million after-tax loss
recorded by the Company on the sale of its interest in
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PanAsia is attributable to a fiscal gain higher than the
accounting gain. Asset write downs and impairment charges
of $244 million after-tax are mainly due to the permanent
closure of tha Kenora and Stephenville paper mills, as well
as impairment of the long-lived assets of the Lufkin and Fort
William paper mills. Mill closure and other elements comprise
provisions for mill closure costs of $62 million after-tax,
mainly related to the permanent closure of the Kenora and
Stephenville paper mills and the Champneuf sawmill, as well
as the announced closure of one paper machine in Bridge-
water, partly offset by an after-tax gain of $48 miltion on the
sale of timberlands. Also, the Company recognized an unfa-
vourable after-tax amount of $6 million in mill closure and
other elements due to the recognition of a liability related to an
early retirement program and labour force reductions, as well
as an after-tax amount of $17 million in its financial expenses,
mainly due to the premium paid on early debt repayment.

RESULTS BEFORE SPECIFIC ITEMS
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During 2004, the Company recorded an after-tax. gain

on translation of foreign currencies of $260 million, an
after-tax credit of $22 million representing the prior-period
adjustments related to the lumber CVD and AD estimated
revised rates determined in the fourth quarter of 2004, an
after-tax gain of $73 miltion from the sale of its ramaining
interest in the Saint-Félicien, Québec pulp mill, an after-tax
gain of $19 million from the sale of its 21% interast in
Voyageur Panel, as well as favourable income tax adjust-
ments of $2 millicn. The Company recorded a provision for
mill closure and other elements of $20 million after-tax and
asset write downs of $235 million after-tax with respect to
the permanent closure of two previously idled paper mills
located in Port-Alfred, Québec and Sheldon. Also, the
Company recorded in mill closure and other elements

$4 million after-tax related to the start-up of the Alma,
Québec paper machine.

TABLE 11 2005/2004 Consolidated results before specific items’

1N MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

C . P T ™
FAV/[UNFAV) VARIANCE DUE TO:
2005  voume  ecrwe ericEs costs 2004
$ s s s s s
Sales 5,342 (58) (343) 444 - 5,299
Cost of products sold 3,866 32 55 - (183) 3,770
Distribution costs 591 3 17 - {19) 592
CVD, AD and other duties 67 8 5 - 2 82
SG&A 169 - 1 - (1) 169
EBITDA' 649 (15) (265) 444 (201) 686
Amortization 508 - 13 - 50 571
Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations 141 (15) (252) 444 {151} 115
Financial expenses 388 375
Other expenses 10 9
Income tax expense (recovery) (95) (103}
Share of earnings from investments
subject to significant influence 2 6
Non-controlling interests (29) (10}
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations 13 17
Net earnings (loss) {(176) {153)
$ per share (0.40) {0.35)

1 Non-GAAP measures
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Sales totalled $5,342 million in 2005, comparad to $5,299 mil-
lion in 2004. Tha Company’s increase in sales was mainly
attributable to higher prices in both the Newsprint and
Commercial Printing Papers business segments. These factors
were partly offset by a stronger Canadian dollar compared

to the U.S. currency and lower sales volume in the Wood
Products segment.

Loss before specific items amounted to $176 million in 2005,
or $0.40 per share, compared to $153 million in 2004, or
$0.35 per share. The increase of $23 million in loss before
specific items resulted mainly from a higher amount of non-
controlling interests of $19 million, higher financial expenses
of $13 million and lower income tax recovery of $8 million.
This was partly offset by an improvement in operating
results from continuing operations excluding specific items
of $26 million.

Improvement in operating results from continuing operations
before specific items resulted mainly from higher prices in the
Company’s paper segments totalling $444 million and a lower
amortization expense of $50 million. These elements were
largely offset by the effect of a stronger Canadian dollar for

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

TABLE 12 Selected Annual Information

I MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT QTHERWISE NOTED

Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annial Report

an amount of $252 million, higher cost of products sold of
$183 million and higher distribution costs aof $19 million.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2005
amounted to $67 million, a reduction of $48 million compared
to $115 millicn at the end of 2004. in 2005, Abitibi-Consolidated
generated $164 million of cash from continuing operating
activities and $566 million of cash from investing activities of
continuing aperations, while it used $797 million of cash for
financing activities of continuing operations. In 2004, Abitibi-
Consolidated used $3 million of cash for continuing operating
activities and $86 million of cash for investing activities of
continuing operations, while it generated $161 million of cash
from financing activities of continuing operations. In 2005,
major cash transactions other than cash from operations, debt
reduction, payment of dividends and capital expenditures were
related to the sale of PanAsia and the Ontario timberlands as
well as the excess of the pension funding cver expense. In
2004, major cash transactions other than cash from operations,
debt increase, payment of dividends and capital expenditures
were related to the sale of the remaining 25% of the Saint-
Félicien pulp mill, the sale of the Company's share in Voyageur
Pane! and the excess of the pension funding over expense.

e R — S |
2006 2005 2004
s s $
Sales 4,851 5,342 5,299
Qperating profit (loss) from continuing cperations 327 (276) (256)
Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations before specific items’ 136 141 115
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 34 (353} (126)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations per share 0.12 (0.81) (0.29)
Net earnings (loss} 54 (350) (36)
Net earnings (loss) per share 0.12 (0.80) (0.08})
Net earnings (loss) before specific items' {180} (176) (153)
Net earnings (loss) before specific items' per share (0.41} (0.40) (0.35)
Total assets 7,962 8,044 9,787
Total long-term liabilities 4,583 4,614 5,124
Dividends declared per share 0.050 0.100 0.100
Exchange rates (CDN$1= US$):
Closing exchange rate at year-end 0.858 0.860 0.832
Average noon rate for the year 0.882 0.826 0.76%

1 Non-GAAP measures
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Higher sales in 2005 when compared to 2004 were
mainly due to higher average prices in the Company's
paper segments for $444 million, largely offset by the
strength of the Canadian dollar for $343 million. Lower
sales in 2006 compared to 2005 were mainly attributable
to $432 million of lower sales volume mostly in the
Newsprint segment and the strength of the Canadian
dollar for $295 million. This was partly offset by a
$236 million positive impact of price increases, mainly
in the Company’s paper segments. The Canadian dollar
value compared to the U.S. currency increased from an
average of US$0.769 in 2004 to US$0.882 in 2008,
which represents a 14.7% strengthening.

Operating results from continuing operations before specific
items improved from 2004 to 2005 and were slightly down
in 2008. The improvement in 2005 was mainly due to price
increases largely offset by the strength of the Canadian
dollar compared to the U.S. currency and higher input prices
for energy and fibre, as well as pension and other employee
future benefits. In 2006, operating results were negatively
impacted by lower prices in the Wood Products segment
and by higher cost of products sold.

Other than the elements mentioned above, major factors
impacting the Company’s net earnings (loss) were the major
specific items, principally the CVD and AD refunds at the end
of 2006, asset write downs and impairments at the end of
2005 as well as the gain on translation of foreign currencies,
mainly due to the strengthening Canadian dollar and its effect
on the Company's U.S. dollar denorninated debt in 2005 and
2004. The reduction in financial expenses related to the lower
debt level in 2006 also impacted net earnings {loss).

The downward trend in total assets and total long-term
liabilities is mainly caused by the sale of the Company’s
interest in PanAsia and the strengthening of the Canadian
dollar compared to the U.S. currency, rising from a rate of
US$0.832 at the end of 2004 to US$0.86 at the end of 2005
and remaining stable at the end of 2006. Total assets were
also impacted by asset write downs of $371 million in 2005
and $364 million in 2004,

On July 25, 2006, the Company's Board of Directors
suspended dividend payments. The weighted average
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number of shares outstanding remained constant at
440 million during these periods.

OTHER NOTEWORTHY EVENTS

On January 26, 2007, Abitibi-Consclidated anncunced that
it had entered into a binding letter of intent with the Caisse
de dépdt et placement du Québec (Caisse) to create a
partnership for the Company’s Ontario hydroelectric assets,
consisting of approximately 137 MW of installed capacity.
The Company will retain a 75% interest in the partnership,
called ACH Limited Partnership, while the Caisse will acquire
a 25% interest. The Caisse has also provided a commitment
to ACH Limited Partnership for a 10-year unsecured term
loan of $250 million, non recourse to the Company, to par-
tially fund the acquisition of the facilities. The transaction,
on a consolidated basis, is expected to yield gross proceeds
of $297.5 million to Abitibi-Consolidated. ACH Limited
Partnership is intended to be Abitibi-Consolidated’s growth
vehicle in energy generation. Closing of the transaction is
expected to take place in the first half of 2007 and is subject
to execution of definitive agreerments and certain other
conditions and approvals.

On Jduly 25, 2006, the Company announced its intent to
exercise its option to acquire the remaining 47.5% interest
in Augusta Newsprint Company (ANC), a company operating
a newsprint mill located in Augusta, Georgia and to concur-
rently sell the 55,000 acres of ANC's timberlands. in January
of 2007, the Company and its partner decided to delay

the acquisition, by Abitibi-Consolidated, of the remaining
47.5% interest to a later date and to proceed with the sale
of 55,000 acres of timberlands, with all proceeds from the
sale going to the Company. Final terms of the agreement
are expected to be concluded in the first quarter of 2007.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

GLOBAL MARKETS AND COMPETITION

The Company competes on a global basis with numerous
forest products companies, some of which have greater
financial resources than the Company does. Thers has been
a continued trend towards consclidation, leading to new
global producers, These global producers are typically large,
well-capitalized companies that may have greater flexibility in
pricing and financial resources for marketing, investment and
expansion than Abitibi-Consoclidated. The Compariy’s lumber
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business also competes indirectly with firms that manufacture
substitutes for wood building materials. While the principal
basis for competition is price, the Company also competes
on the basis of customer service, quality and product type.
There has also been an increasing trend toward consolidation
among Abitibi-Consolidated’s customers. With fewer
customers in the market for the Company’s products, the
strength of its negotiating position with these customers
could be weakened.

Newsprint sales in North America represented 37% of the
Company's total sales in 2006. The Company assesses
demand for newsprint in North America to be at a mature
stage. Between 2000 and 2001, North American newsprint
demand declined by 1,417,000 tonnes or 11%. Since then,
demand has declined by 1,868,000 tonnes over five years,
ar an average of 3.2% annually. Concurrently, North
American newsprint production capacity has declined by
3,659,000 tonnes, or 22.5% since 2000. As a result of this
reduction in demand, the Company proceeded with the
permanent closure of the Sheldon and Port-Alfred newsprint
mills in 2004 and the Kenora and Stephenville newsprint
mills in 2005 to improve its competitiveness.

Paper prices are tied to the health of the economies of
North and South America, Asia and Europe, as well as to
paper inventory levels in these regions. In 2008, continued
trend towards lower basis weight substitution, conservation
measures and limited North American growth in advertising
spending, reduced newsprint consumption in North America.
Although lower basis weight substitution reduced consump-
tion volume, it also reduced preduction capacity, eliminating
the impact on supply/demand.

The Company expects 2007 worldwide newsprint demand
to increase slightly with growth in most regions of the
world, mostly offset by North American demand, which is
anticipated to decrease by approximately 5-6%, compared
to 2006. Gains in circulation and ad spending are expected
in several regions, especially Latin America and Asia,

FIBRE SUPPLY

Fibre represents the Company'’s major raw material in the
production of wood products, paper and pulp. The Company
uses both virgin fibre {wood chips and logs) and recycled
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fibre (old newspapers and magazines) as fibre sources for
its paper mills.

The virgin fibre supply required by the Company in Canada
is mostly assured by cutting right agreements with provinciai
governments. The agreements are granted for various terms,
from 5 to 25 years, and are generally subject to regular
renewal every 5 years. They incorporate commitments with
respect to sustainable forest management, silvicultural work,
forest and soil renewal, as well as cooperation with other
forest users. The Company believes that it is in material
compliance with all forest regulations.

Wood chips supplied from the Company's sawmills, together
with fibre exchanges with independent sawmills and long-
term contracts with third parties conducted at market prices,
represent approximately 93% of the Company’s Canadian pulp
and paper mill requirements for virgin fibre. For its operations
in the provinces of British Columbia, Ontario and Newfoundland,
the Company relies on internal sources, in the most part, and
the open market to supply in fibre its wood products, paper
and pulp production requirements, and such sources of supply
are more than adequate to meet its requirements.

On April 1, 2005, the Annual Allowable Cut (AAC} on Crown
land in Québec was reduced by 20% in all regions, for a
period of three years as a result of a recommendation of the
Coulombe Commission. The impact of this measure on the
Company’s sawmills, and those of its partnerships, was a

net reduction of 17.4% of the timber supply originating from
Québec Crown land for the period comprised between Aprii 1,
2005 and March 31, 2008.

On December 8, 2006, new AAC calculations were
announced by the Chief Forester of Québec. The reduction
for the province in AAC for spruce, pine and fir was revised
to 23.8% from the initial 20%, but regional reductions vary
greatly from one region to the other. This reduction is the
result of several governmenta! initiatives, including the
creation of new protected areas and the introduction of a
series of measures to enhance biodiversity. The new AAC
levels will be effective on April 1, 2008.

The Company estimates that these new AAC calculations
will result in a reduction of 19.7% of its allowable cuts, and
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those of its partnerships, compared to the 17.4% reduction
imposed for the period of April 1, 2005 to March 31, 2008.
Mitigating measures proposed by the Chief Forester of
Québec could partially offset these reductions. As a result
of these measures, a tightening of the supply of virgin fibre
to the Company’s Québec paper mills is expected.

Virgin fibre in the United States is obtained mainly through
long-term supply contracts.

The Company is amongst the largest North American
recyclers of old newspapers and magazines. The Company

is involved in the recovery of old paper and has contracts with
numerous municipalities, cities, recyclers, waste haulers and
brokers in countries where its mills are located. The Company's
own recovery network in North America and the U.K. accounts
for 40% of its recycled fibre needs.

The Company believes that the balance of fibre supply
between its internal sources and the open market is ade-
quate to support its current wood products, paper and
pulp production requirements.

ENERGY

In its manufacturing processes, the Company consumes
a large volume of energy. Expressed in Gigajoules (Gj),
the Company self-generates approximately 35% of the
steam and power required in its paper mills. Another 35%
of its energy is comprised of electricity bought in regulated
jurisdictions. For the remaining 30%, the Company is
exposed to fluctuations in energy commodity prices. In
2006, the evolution of North American energy commodities
was mixed, with oil product prices increasing and natura!
gas price decreasing.

Crude oil price increased by 17% compared to 2005, and it
had a direct impact on the price of residual oil consumed by
the Company, which increased by 26% in 2006. For the same
period, natural gas price decreased by 17%, mainly impacted
by favourable weather conditions.

In Ontario, the average hourly electricity price was $46 per
megawatt-hour (MWh) in 2006 compared to $68 in 2005.
However, the Company did not benefit from the full price
reduction, due to the introduction of several measures
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by the provincial Government, fixing electricity prices for
approximately 70% of the Ontario generation.

While prices for electricity have been more stable in the main
regulated jurisdictions where the Company has operations,
they also increased by between 5% and 18% in 2006.

In order to reduce the impact of these increases, the
Company continues to invest in its energy assets. In 20086,
the Company completed the Besy hydroelectric station.
This project, combined with the return in service of the
Murdock-Wilson unit, increased the Québec hydroelectricity
generation. In Kénogami, Québec, the Company is currently
building a heat-recovery system that will reduce energy
costs by displacing approximately 18 million litres of
bunker oil per year.

In 2006, the Company completed its detailed energy bench-
marking study. The results of the study will be used to
implement an energy usage reduction program in 2007.

The Company's ability to continue to internally genarate
hydroelectric power in some cases is conditional upon
its ability to maintain and renew its rights to utilize and
manage provincial waterways. These rights are subject
to certain conditions and their renewal is subject to
government discretion,

ENVIRONMENT

The Company is subject to environmental laws and
regulations relating to forest management, air emissions,
wastewater discharge, waste management, site opera-
tions and landfill sites. The Company believes that it

is in material compliance with all laws and regulalions
governing its activities.

The Company conducts environmental compliance audits,
generally performed by internal auditors, which cover all
the Company's paper and wood products sites over a
defined schedule of time. The Company has implemented an
Environmental Management System in all of its operations.

The Company has implemented a certification process of its
Environmental Management Systems, under the International
Standards Organization (ISQ), for its pulp and paper mills,
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sawmills and woodlands operations. All the Company’s
operations are certified SO 14001.

The Company also met its commitment to obtain sustain-
able forest management (SFM) certification for its North
American operations. All of the 15.8 million hectares of
forest entrusted to the Company are certified under a
SFM standard. Abitibi-Consolidated uses the CSA SFM
standard for most of these forests.

After implementing the Chain of Custody in two paper mills
in 2005, the Company continued its effort on fibre source
traceability and in 2006 began implementation in three
additional paper mills.

The Company's greenhouse gas (GHG) emission reduction
strategy is based on the reduction of its reliance on fossil
fuel, energy efficiency improvements through technological
innovation as well as continuous improvement. The
Company also takes advantage of opportunities related

to the GHG offset and carbon credit market. Since 2000,
Abitibi-Consolidated has reduced its company-wide GHG
emissions by 42% in absolute terms and 22% in terms of
intensity. In 2006, the Company sold, for a nominal amount,
27,000 tonnes of its excess carbon credits to the Chicago
Climate Exchange.

The Environmental, Health and Safety Committee, which
reports to the Board of Directors, oversess global perfor-
mance and orientation related to envirocnment, health and
safety. It evaluates risks associated with the Company’s
activities and actions to address those risks. This Committee
also reviews the adequacy of programs and assesses the
performance of the Company on such programs.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE
The Company realizes most of its sales outside Canada and,

therefore, exposure to the U.S. dollar is a risk to its business.

Approximately 78% of revenues and 14% of manufacturing
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costs of the Company's operations are in U.S. deollars, The
U.S. dollar exposure may therefore cause volatility in the
Company's cash flows, earnings and debt.

The Company’s foreign exchange program includes partial
hedging of U.S. dollar and other currency cash flows. The
Company also borrows most of its long-term debt in U.S.
dollars and this debt constitutes an effective partial economic
hedge on future U.S. dollar cash flows.

PENSION FUNDS

Abitibi-Consolidated maintains both defined benefit and
defined contribution pensicn plans. As discussed further
in the Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
section, in 2007, Abitibi-Consolidated expects to make
a contribution in excess of its annual pension expense,
in a similar range when compared to the comresponding
$73 million in 20086, to satisfy a portion of the underfunded
liability of its defined benefit pension ptans, as required
by law. Over time, the Company will continue to make
contributions until the legal funding obligations of its
pension plans are satisfied.

CHANGES IN BANKING AND CAPITAL

MARKETS AND CHANGES IN INTEREST RATES
Abitibi-Consolidated requires both short-term and long-term
financing to fund its operations, including capital expenditures.
Changes in banking, capital markets and/or its credit rating
could affect the cost or availability of financing. In addition,
the Company is exposed to changes in interest rates with
respect to floating rate debt, and in determining the interest
rate of any new debt issues.

PRICE, COSTS AND EXCHANGE

RATE SENSITIVITY

The Company’s pre-tax earnings, net earnings and earnings
per share are impacted by fluctuations in selling prices,
input costs and foreign exchange to the extent shown in
the following table:
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TABLE 13 Sensitivity analysis
BASED ON 2007 ESTIMATED VOLUMES, PRICES, EXCHANGE RATES AND FINANCIAL HEDGES IN PLACE AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2008.
IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS
[ —— z O |
IMPACT ON
NET
EARNNGS  EARNNGS  PERSHARE
$ s s
US$25 CHANGE IN TRANSACTION PRICE-PER UNIT
Newsprint’ 100 68 0.153
Commercial printing papers’ 52 35 0.080
Wood products? 54 36 0.083
FOREIGN EXCHANGE®
US$0.01 change in reiative value to the Canadian dollar
Cash impact 28 19 0.043
Non-cash impact 43 34 0.078
MANUFACTURING COSTS
Virgin fibre (2% on external source) 3 2 0.005
Recycled fibre (2% on external source) 3 2 0.005
Energy
Natural Gas (US$1/Gj) 11 8 0.018
Bunker “C” (US$1/Barrel) 1 1 0.002
Electricity ($1/MWh)
Regulated markets 9 6 0.014
Deregulated markets 2 1 0.002

1 Per tonne
2 Per thousand board feat

3 Cash impact partly offsata non-cash impact mainly attributable to transiation of foreign currenicies

OUTLOOK

The Company is a major global leader in newsprint and
commercial printing papers with interests in operations in
Canada, the United States and the United Kingdom. It is

also ong of the major lumber producers in North America.

TABLE 14 Production capacity

Newsprint’

Commercial printing papers’
Market pulp

Lumber and other wood products’
I-joist

Taking into consideration machine closures and conversions
completed in 2006 and those anticipated for 2007 as well as
product mix planned for 2007, the Company's production
capacity for 2007 is as follows:

2,111 Thousand tonnes
93 Thousand tonnes

1,975 Million board feet
73 Million linear feet

1 Includes currently idled capacity
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The Company expects 2007 worldwide newsprint demand
to be slightly positive with growth in most regions of the
world, mostly offset by North American demand, which is
anticipated to decrease by approximately 5-6%, compared
to 2006. Gains in circulation and ad spending are expected
in several regions, especially Latin America and Asia.

The outlook for uncoated groundweood papers demand
remains positive, Continued uncoated freesheet substitution
and growth in print advertising are expected to increase
uncoated groundwood papers demand in 2007.

The Company intends to limit its capital expenditure program
in 2007 to approximately $165 million. The Company also
intends to apply free cash flows towards the reduction of
long-term debt.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this MD&A and in particular
the statements contained in various outlook sections,
constitute forward-looking statements. These forward-looking
statements relate to the future financial condition, results of
operations or business of the Company. Thess statements
may be current expectations and estimates about the markets
in which Abitibi-Consolidated operates and management’s
beliefs and assumptions regarding these markets. These
statements are subject to important risks and uncertainties
which are difficult to predict and assumptions which may
prove to be inaccurate. The results or events predicted in the
forward-looking statements contained in this MD8A may differ
materially from actual results or events. Some of the factors,
which could cause results or events to differ materialty from
current expectations, are discussed above under the Risk and
Uncertainties section and other cautionary factors are outlined
elsewhere in this MD&A, The Company disclaims any intention
or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking state-
ments, whether as a result of new information, future events,
or otherwise. In particular, forward-looking statements do not
reflect the potential impact of any mergers, acquisitions or
other business combinations or divestitures that may be
announced or completed after such statements are made.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to
certain financial risks. The Company does not hold financial
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instruments for speculative purposes but only to reduce
the volatility of its results from its exposure to these risks.
The market value of financial instruments contracted by
the Company arises mostly from changes in interest and
exchange rates between the inception dates of these
contracts and the balance sheset date. More information
on financial instruments is presented in Note 26 of the
consolidated financial statements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The Company uses various financial instruments such

as U.S. dollar forward contracts as well as U.S. dollar and
Euro zero cost option tunnels to reduce its exposure to
foreign currency exchange risk. In 2006, the Company's
sales denominated in U.S. dollar and Euro represented 78%
and 2% of total sales, respectively. The foreign exchange
financial contracts only hedge a portion of the sales. This
portion declines as the hedge horizon increases. These hedges
are all due to mature within the next two years. The gains
and losses on foreign exchange contracts are recognized
in earnings when the related hedged revenus is recorded.

Furthermore, the long-term debt denominated in U.S. dollars
is also considered an effective economic hedge against the
exchange risk related to the future revenus streams originating
from sales denominated in U.S. dollars.

INTEREST RATE

At year-end, 66% of the Company’s recourse debt was at
fixed rates taking into account interest rate swap agreements
designated as hedges. The interest rate contracts are only for
a portion of the Company's bond portfolio and mature in the
years 2008 through 2011.

Interest expense on the debt is adjusted to include payments
made or received under these agreements. The net related
amount receivable or payable from counterparts is included
in the accounts receivable or accounts payable.

CREDIT RISK

The Company is exposed to credit risk on the accounts
receivable from its custorners. In order to manage its credit
risk, the Company has adopted policies, which include

the analysis of the financial position of its customers and
the regular review of their credit limits. The Company also
subscribes to credit insurance and, in some cases, requires
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bank letters of credit. As a'result, the Company does and sets a limit on a percentage basis that it can contract
not have significant exposure to any individual customer. with any given financial institution.
lts customers are mainly in the newspaper publishing,
commercial printing, advertising and paper converting, CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
as well as lumber wholesaling and retailing businesses. The Company has operating leases, purchase obligations
and other commitments entered into in the normal
The Company is exposed to credit risk on the favourable course of business. These commitments, which are not
fair value of its derivative financial instruments. In order accounted for on the Company’s consolidated balance
to mitigate this risk, the Company contracts its derivative sheets, are described in Note 27 of the consolidated
financial instruments with credit-worthy financial institutions financial statements.
TABLE 15 Summary of contractual obligations
IN MILLIDNS OF DOLLARS
-l L T T TILIIoI L. LT LTI
TOTAL COMMITMENTS BY PERIOD
TOTAL WITHIN 1-3 4-5 AFTER
COMMITMENTS 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS
$ 3 $ 5
Long-term debt 3,864 72 756 936 2,100
Operating leases 70 27 27 11 5
Purchase obligations 281 51 62 62 106
Employee future benefits contributions 220 220 - - -
TOTAL CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 4,435 370 845 1,009 2,211

Table 15 presents contractual agreements that are enfor-
ceable and are legally binding on the Company. For the
foreseeable future, the Company expects cash flows gene-
rated from operations and from other sources of financing
to be sufficient to meet its commitments.

Abitibi-Consolidated has long-term debt with contractual
maturities as described in Note 20 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Purchase obligations are mainly related to contracts signed
in the normal course of the Company's operations.

The Company’s contributions to employee future benefits
are estimated at $220 million in 2007. Beyond 2007, contri-
butions to employee future benefits are unknown and could
vary significantly depending on return on plan assets or any
other assumptions as detailed in the Employee future
benesfit plans section.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
As described in Note 26 of the consolidated financial
statements, in 2006, the Company had two securi-
tization programs with major international financial
institutions. The first program is committed until
October of 2008 for aggregate proceeds of up to
US$300 million from North American accounts
receivable. The second program is uncommitted for
aggregate proceeds of up to US$125 million from
international accounts receivable. The programs do
not require the Company to maintain a specific credit
rating or company-specific financial covenants. Uncler
these programs, the outstanding balance in Canadian
dollars, as at December 31, 2006, was $433 million,
compared to $459 million the previous year.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
ADOPTED DURING THE 2006 FISCAL YEAR
No new accounting policies were adopted in 2006.
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EXPECTED TO BE ADOPTED

IN SUBSEQUENT YEARS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, HEDGES

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In January 2005, the CICA published the following three new
sections of the CICA Handbook: Section 3855, Financial
Instruments - Recognition and Measurement, Section 3865,
Hedges, and Section 1530, Comprehensive Income. Together,
these standards introduce new requirements for the recogn-
ition and measurement of financial instruments, hedge
accounting and comprehensive income that are, for the
most part, harmonized with standards issued by the U.S.
Financial Accounting Standards Board. These new recom-
mendations must be adopted by the Company for the
fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2007.

The Company expects that the implementation of these new
recommendations will have an impact consistent with the
adjustments described under Note 29 D} 1 and 2 and E) of its
consolidated financial statements. The application of these
new recommendations is not expected to have a significant
effect on the Company's financial position, earnings or cash
flows but will require the Company to present a new
statement entitled “Comprehensive Income”.

ACCOUNTING CHANGES

In 2006, the CICA issued Section 1508, Accounting Changes,
of the Handbook. This standard establishes criteria for
changing accounting policies, together with the accounting
treatment and disclosure of changes in accounting policies
and estimates, and correction of errors. The Company will
apply this standard as of January 1, 2007.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

On January 29, 2007, Abitibi-Consolidated Inc. and Bowater
Incorporated announced a definitive agreement to combine
in an all-stock merger of equals. The combination has been
approved unanimously by the Boards of Directors of both
companies, which received fairness opinions from their
respective financial advisors. The combination is subject to
approval by the shareholders of both companies, regulatory
approvals, and customary closing conditions. It is expected
to be completed in the third quarter of 2007.

Upon completion of the merger, all the assets and liabilities
of the Company could be recorded at the fair valueina
purchase price allocation in accordance with GAAP if the
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Company is identified as the business being acquired.
Therefore, the Company's assets, such as goodwill and
future income taxes, could have a decrease in value upon
completion of the merger in accordance with business
combination accounting.

The Company's summary of significant accounting policies is
described in Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements.
Abitibi-Consolidated believes its most critical accounting
policies include those related to goodwill, property, plant and
equipment, future income taxes, the Company's employee
future benefit plans and foreign exchange.

GOODWILL

The application of CICA Handbook Section 3062, Goodwill
and Other intangible Assets, requires that goodwill be tested
for impairment.

During the fourth quarter of each year, the Company
performs the required annual impairment test as of
September 30, As at December 31, 2006, the Company
had $1,297 million of goodwill, from which $858 million
were related to the Newsprint segment and $439 million

to the Commercial Printing Papers segment. The Company
performed the 2006 goodwill impairment test and found
that the fair value of both paper segments exceeded book
value by at least 20%. The Company also performed sensi-
tivity analyses under various scenarios and assumptions.

Testing for impairment is accomplished mainly by determining
whether the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds the book
value of the net assets of that reporting unit as at the assess-
ment date. The Company tests its goodwill for impairment
using a two-step method. This two-step methed contains
estimates and judgments that are subjective and uncertain
and, thus, may change over time.

The Company conducted the initial step of the goodwiil
impairment test, consisting of making the deterrination
of fair value, which the Company does by relying primarily
on the discounted cash flow method. This method uses
projections of cash flows from each of the reporting units.
Key assumptions include estimated useful life of the long-
lived assets, projections of trend price, production levels,
production costs, market supply and demand, foreign
exchange rates, inflation, weighted average cost of capital
(WACC) and capital spending. The assumptions are derived
from (1) information generated internally, such as existing
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sales data based on current product lines and assumed
production levels, as well as manufacturing costs; (2)
independent industry research firms; and {3) other external
published reports and forecasts. The Company's products
are commoedity products, therefore, pricing is inherently
volatile and often follows a cyclical pattern. Trend prices are
derived from forecasts prepared by Resource Information
Systemns Inc. (RISI), an independent external firm, taking into
consideration the specific characteristics of the Comparny's
products. The Company also uses RISIs currency exchange
tong-term forecast of $1.00 equals US$0.86. To assure
consistency with market valuation, the Company estimates
its market valuation and compares it with results obtained
with the discounted cash flow method.

The second step is performed only when the book value
exceeds the fair value. Under this scenario, a second test
is performed whereby the fair value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill is estimated to determine if it is less than its book
value as if it was an acquisition, that is, the excess of the
fair value of the reporting units over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets of the reparting unit.

The above-listed assumptions used in the calculation models
are interrelated. The continuing degree of interrelationship of

these assumptions is, in and of itself, a significant assumption.

Because of the interrelationship among these assumptions,
the Company does not believe it would be meaningful to
provide an additional sensitivity analysis on any of these
individual assumptions, with the exception of paper prices
and WACC. Based on the Company'’s most probable price
outlook scenario, if trend price projections were to decrease
by US$25 per tonne, the fair value would exceed book value
by 12% for the Newsprint segment and would be about equal
to book value in the Commercial Printing Papers segment,

If the WACC, which is used to discount the projected cash
flows, was lower, the measure of the fair value of the
Company’s assets would increase. Conversely, if the WACC
was higher, the measure of the fair value of the Company’s
assets would decrease. If the estimate of WACC was to
increase by 25 basis points, the excess of the fair values of
each of the reporting units would continue to exceed their
book values by at least 16%.

Future changes in assumptions or the interrelationship of
the assumptions may negatively impact future valuations.
In future measurements of fair value, adverse changes in
discounted cash flow assumptions could result in an
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impairment of goodwill that would require a non-cash
chargs to the cconsolidated statements of earnings and
may have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Company records its property, plant and equipment
at cost, including capitalized interest and pre-production
costs. Investment tax credits and government capital grants
received reduce the cost of the related assets. Property,
plant and equipment purchased following a business
acquisition are recorded at their fair value based on an
independent study.

The Company amortizes plant and equipment over their
productive life mainly using the straight-line method. However,
the Company records a write down when the value of a long-
lived asset is impaired. The Company assesses the probability
of future use of its property, plant and equipment and assesses
the fair value related to the most likely outcome.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company conducted
the initial step of the impairment tests on the Bridgewater
paper mill and on the Wood Products segment as a resuit
of operating losses. The Company also conducted the initial
step on the indefinitely idled Lufkin paper mill. Estimates of
future cash flows used to test the recoverability of a long-
lived asset are mainly derived in the same manner as the
projections of cash flows used in the initial step of the
goodwill impairment test. In addition, the impairment test
for the Lufkin paper mill was performed in light of a scenario
of the mill's restart producing lightweight coated paper
under a partnership structure.

The Company concluded that the recognition of an impairment
charge for the business units analyzed was not required, as
the estimated undiscounted cash flows exceeded the book
values by at least 32%. Certain paper mills and sawmills

are particularly sensitive to the key assumptions. Given the
inherent imprecision and corresponding importance of the
key assumptions used in the impairment test, it is reasonably
possible that changes in future conditions may lead mana-
gement tc use different key assumptions, which could require
a material change in the book value of these assets. The total
book value of these assets was $250 million, $174 million
and $344 millicn for the Newsprint, Commercial Printing
Papers and Wood Products segments, respectively, as at
December 31, 2006.
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In 2005, the Company wrote down assets in the amount

of $203 miliion mainly due to the permanent closure of the
Kenora and Stephenville paper mills. Also, the Company
performed an impairment test of some long-lived assets

on the Lufkin paper mill in light of a scenario of the mill’s
restart producing lightweight coated paper under a partner-
ship structure. As a result of this test, Abitibi-Consolidated
recorded an impairment charge of $125 million, of which

$81 million was attributed to the Commercial Printing Papers
segment and $44 million to the Newsprint segment. Further-
more, following the sale of timberlands in the Thunder Bay
area, Abitibi-Consolidated assessed its Fort William paper
mill to net realizable value and recognized an impairment
charge of $43 miliion. These asset write downs and impairment
charges reduced arnortization expense by approximately
$36 million in 2006,

FUTURE INCOME TAXES

The application of CICA Handbook Section 3465, Income
taxes, requires that future income tax assets and liabilities be
recognized for the future income tax consequences of events
that have been included in the consolidated statements of
earnings or income tax returns. Future income tax is provided
for using the liability method and recognizes all significant
temporary differences between the tax and consolidated
financial statements bases of assets, liabilities and certain
carry forward items.

The Company’s future income tax assets are recognized only
to the extent that, in the Company’s opinion, it is more likely
than not that the future income tax assets will be realized.
This opinion is based on certain estimates and assumptions.
If these estimates or assumptions change in the future,

the Company could be required to reduce or increase the
value of the future income tax assets resulting in income tax
expense or recovery. The Company reviews its future income
tax assets periodically.

Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted
or substantively enacted tax rates and laws expected to
apply in the years in which assets and liabilities are expected
to be recovered or settled. For these years, a projection of
taxable income and an assumption of the ultimate recovery
or settlement period for temporary differences are required.
The projection of future taxable income is based on manage-
ment’s best estimate and may vary from actual taxable
income. Changes in estimates or assumptions could affect
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the income tax expense (recovery) in the consolidated state-
ments of earnings and the future income taxes in the balance
sheets of the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFIT PLANS

The application of CICA Handbook Section 3461, Employee
Future Benefits, requires judgments regarding certain assump-
tions that affect the amounts recorded for the plans’ estimated
accrued benefit cbligations and related income or expense.

The Company uses independent actuariat firms to perform
actuarial valuations of the fair values of post-retirement and
pension plan obligations and costs. The major assumptions
are the expected return on plan assets and the compensation
rate increase. The Company, based on its own experience
and recommendations from its actuarial firms, reviews these
assumptions annually. The discount rate used to calculate
the present value of the pension obligation is reassessed at
each measurement date. For 2006, the majer assumptions
have been estimated at 5.25% for the discount rate and
3.1% for the compensation rate increase in the case of the
pension obligation. In the case of the pension expense, the
assumptions have been estimated at 5.25% for the discount
rate, 7% for the return on plan assets and 3.1% for the
compensation rate increase.

The Company amortizes past service costs and cumulative
unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses, in excess of
10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the
market-related value of plan assets, over the average remaining
service period of the active employee group covered by the
plans. As at December 31, 2006, the Company’s deficit of the
fair value of the pension plan assets over its accrued benefit
obligation was $607 million, compared to $874 miillion at the
end of 2005. This decrease is mainly attributable to the higher
than expected return on plan assets as well as the additional
funding from the Company in 2006. The Company anticipates
that it will fund its actuarial deficit over the next five years.
Consequently, the Company believes its minimum pension
and post-retirement bensfits funding in excess of pension
expense will be in a similar range for 2007 when compared
to the corresponding $73 million for 2006. The Company’s
contributions for both pension and post-retirement benefits
are expected to be approximately $220 million in 2007,
compared to $222 miliion in 2006. The estimated contribu-
tion for 2007 includes a one-time amount of $16 miliion
related to mill closures.
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Changes in estimates or assumptions could affect the
employee future benefits in the balance sheets and cost

of products sold in the statements of earnings of the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. A change
of 0.25% in the discount and compensation rates would
represent a variation in the pension obligation of approxi-
mately $120 million and $25 million, respectively. Also, a
change of 0.25% in the discount, return on plan assets
and compensation rates would represent a variation in the
pension costs of approximately $10 million, $8 million and
$5 million, respectively. These sensitivities are based on
actual assumptions and could differ when using a different
base or percentage of variation in a way that may not be
linear or symmetrical.

A description of the plans, the assumptions used in the
calculation and certain sensitivities are presented in Note 21
of the consolidated financial statements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE .
The application of CICA Handbook Section 1650, Foreign
Currency Transiation, requires that monetary assets and
liabilities of domestic and integrated foreign operations
denominated in foreign currencies be translated at the year-
end exchange rate and the gains or losses resulting from
the period-to-period exchange variation he absorbed in the
consolidated staternents of earnings.

TABLE 16 EBITDA reconciliation

IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS
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The majority of the Company’s long-term debt is denomi-
nated in U.S. dollars. A variation of US$0.01 in relative
value to the Canadian dollar represents $43 million of non-
cash pre-tax gain or loss to the Company’s consolidated
statements of earnings.

USE OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
EBITDA is not a recognized measure under Canadian GAAP.
The Company believes that this measure is useful supple-
mental information as it provides readers with an indication
of cash generated before specific items, debt service, capital
expenditures, excess funding to employee future benefit
plans and income taxes. Readers should be cautioned,
however, that this information should not be confused with
or used as an alternative for net earnings determined in
accordance with Canadian GAAP as an Indicator of
performance or for cash flows from continuing operating,
investing and financing activities as a measure of liquidity
and cash flows.

As shown in Table 16, EBITDA is calculated by adding
amortization of plant and equipment, amortization of
intangible assets, as well as specific items to operating profit
(loss) from continuing operations. The Company’s method for
calculating this information may differ from that used by other
companies and, accordingly, this information may not be
comparable 1o measures used by other companies.

£

[ENARR— |

2006 2005
s s

Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations 327 (276}
Plus (minus): .
Amortization of plant and equipment 424 863
Amortization of intangible assets 16 16

Specific items:
CVD/AD (171) -
SG&A (11) -
Mill closure and other elements {9) 46
EBITDA 376 649
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND
PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Disclosure contrals and procedures have been established
by the Company, in accordance with Regulation Ml 52-109,
to ensure that information disclosed by the Company in this
MD&A and the related financial statements was properly
recorded, processed, summarized and ultimately reported
to the Board and the Audit Committee.

The Company has also established internal controls and
procedures for financial reporting to ensure that the financial
information contained in this MD&A and the related financial
statements is fairly presented in conformity with Canadian
GAAP and that the Company's transactions are properly
approved, its assets are safeguarded against unauthorized
or improper use, and the transactions it enters into are
properly recorded and reported to permit the preparation

of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with
Canadian GAAP.

In the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company

did not make any significant changes in, nor take any
significant corrective actions regarding the controls and
procedures described in the two preceding paragraphs, or
other factors that could significantly affect these controls
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and procedures. The Company’s CEQO and CFO periodically
review the aforementioned controls and procedures for
effectiveness and conduct an evaluation each quarter. As
of the end of the fourth quarter, the Company’s CEO and
CFQ believe that the aforementioned controls and
procedures are effective.

OVERSIGHT ROLE OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Audit Committee reviews the Company's annual
MD&A and related financial statements with management
and the external auditors, and recommends their approval
to the Board. Management and the internal auditor of
the Company also present periodically to the committee
a report of their assessment of the Company's internal
controls and procedures for financial reporting. The
external auditor periodically prepares for management

a report on internal control weaknesses identified during
the course of the auditor's annual audit, which is reviewed
by the Audit Committee.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information relating to Abitibi-Consclidated,
including the Annual Information Form, is on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com, on EDGAR at www.edgar-online.com, and
on the Company’s website at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT
The consolidated financial statements and all other information in the Annual Report are the responsibility of the Company’s
management and have been approved by its Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles and include some amounts, which are based on best estimates and judgment. Financial information provided
elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with that shown in the consolidated financial statements.

Senior management of the Company is responsible for the design, establishment and maintenance of appropriate internal
controls and procedures for financial reporting, to ensure that financial statements for external purposes are fairly presented
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Pursuant to these internal controls and procedures, processes
have been designed to ensure that the Company’s transactions are properly authorized, the Company’s assets are safeguarded
against unauthorized or improper use, and the Company's transactions are properly recorded and reported to permit the
preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
A team of internal auditors regularly evaluates the effectiveness of the Company’s accounting systems, policies and internal
controls and procedures for financial reporting, and presents its findings to senior management and informs the Audit Committee
of its conclusions arising from this evaluation.

External and internal auditors have free and independent access to the Audit Committee, which is comprised of five independent
members of the Board of Directors. The Audit Comrmittes, which meets regularly throughout the year with members of financial
rmanagement and the external and internat auditors, reviews the consolidated financial statements and recommends their approval
to the Board of Directors.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been examined by the external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, whose report appears herein.

aﬁk/“"‘"—“ g‘“’é‘f““

JOHN W, WEAVER PIERRE ROUGEAU
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXEGUTIVE OFFICER SENIQR VICE-PAESIDENT,
CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

MARCH 8, 2007
MONTREAL. QUEBEC, CANADA
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company’s management, more specifically, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the financial reporting of the Company, as such term is defined
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

The Company's internat control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting as well as the preparation and the presentation of the Company’s consolidated financial
staternents for external reporting purposes in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, including
a reconciliation to United States generally accepted accounting principles.

The Company’s management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as at December 31, 2006 based on the criteria established in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework” issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Qrganizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company's management has concluded that such
internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria as at December 31, 2006. There are no material
weaknesses that have been identified by management in this regard, as of December 31, 2006.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31,
2006 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, our independent auditors, as stated in their report which follows.

SR b i A

JOHN W, WEAVER PIERRE ROUGEAU
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER SENIOR VICE-PRESIDENT,
CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

AND CHIEF FINANGCIAL OFFICER

MARCH 8, 2007
MONTREAL, QUEBEC, CANADA
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AUDITORS’ REPORT :

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ABITIBI-CONSOLIDATED INC.

We have completed an integrated audit of the consolidated financial statements and internat control over financial reporting of
Abitibi-Consolidated Inc. (the "Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and audits of its December 31, 2005 and 2004 consolidated
financial statements. Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of the Company as at December 31, 2008 and 2005, and the
related consolidated statements of earnings, deficit and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended Decernber 31,
2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2006 and for the year
then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board {United States). We conducted our audits of the Company's consolidated financial statements
as at December 31, 2005 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2005 in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial
statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. A financial statement audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 20086 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

We have also audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management's report on internal control cver
financial reporting, that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
(COS0) of the Treadway Commission. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal contrel over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal contro! over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.
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We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal contro! over financial reporting was maintained in ali material respects. An audit
of internal control over financial reporting includes cbtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financiat statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that () pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (i} provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (i) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinian, management's assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31, 2006 is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control-1integrated
Framework issued by the COSO. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of Decernber 31, 2006 based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framewaork issued by the COSO.

%W@?m LL°

MARGCH 8, 2007
MONTREAL, QUEBEC, CANADA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
IN MILLIONS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND 49
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF DEFICIT

j : 1
2006 2005 2004
s $ s
Sales 4,851 5,342 5,299
Cost of products sold, excluding amortization 3,612 3,866 3,770
Distribution costs 517 591 592
Countervailing, anti-dumping and other duties pore 4 (169) 67 50
Selling, general and administrative expenses 133 169 169
Mill closure and other elements mote s (9 46 39
Amortization of plant and equipment mote s ano nore 15} 424 863 919
Amortization of intangible assets o 1 16 16 16
Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations 327 (276) (256)
Financial expenses woren 307 412 375
Gain on translation of foreign currencies (10) (101} (317)
Other expenses (income) wore s 28 10 (16}
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before the following items 2 {597} (298}
Income tax recovery mote iy l (85) (271) {176}
Share of earnings from investments subject to significant influence 4 2 6
Non-controlling interests (37) (29) (10}
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 54 (353) (126}
Earnings from discontinued operations pore g - 3 %0
Net earnings (loss) 54 {350) {36)
Per common share (in dollars, basic and diluted) more 25
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 0.12 {0.81) (0.29)
Net earnings (loss) 6.12 {0.80) (0.08)
Weighted average number of commion shares outstanding o miuons) 440 440 440
Common shares outstanding, end of year s wwons 440 440 440
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF DEFICIT
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
IN MILLIONS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
{ - }
2006 2005 2004
' $ s
Deficit, beginning of year (875) (481) (401)
Net earnings (loss} 54 (350) (36)
Dividends declared (22) (44) (44)
Deficit, end of year (843) {(875) (481)

See accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
IN MILLIONS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS
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L

2006 2005 2004
s $ s
CONTINUING OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 54 (353) (126)
Amortization 440 879 935
Future income taxes move 1o {68) (194} (182)
Loss (gain) on translation of foreign currency long-term debt 6 (154) (356)
Employee future benefits, excess of funding over expense (73) (65) (116)
Long-term portion of countervailing and anti-dumping duties receivable mote 41 - (44)
Non-cash mill closure elements - 19 28
Gain on disposal of assets potes (20) (58) -
Gain on disposal of an investment moren - (2) (25)
Non-controlling interests 37 29 10
Other non-cash itermns (18) 30 19
399 131 143
Changes in non-cash operating working capital components wore 19 (167) 33 (146)
Cash flows from {used in) continuing operating activities 232 164 (3)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Increase in long-term debt 558 1,172 1,004
Repayment of long-term debt wore 2 (470) (1,881) (766)
Financing fees - (14) (9)
Dividends paid to shareholders (22} (44) (55)
Dividends and cash distributions paid to non-controlling interests (44) (31) (16}
Other - 1 3
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities of continuing operations 22 (797) 161
INVESTING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Additions to property, plant and equipment (165) (177) (256)
Additions to intangible assets (3) - -
Business acquisitions, net of cash and cash equivalents wore 5 - (13) 8
Acquisition of non-controlling interests morea - - (7)
Net proceeds on disposal of discontinued operations more s - 693 112
Net proceeds on disposal of an investment wotes) 1 2 57
Net proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment and other assets 32 64 4
Receipt on note receivable 10 - -
Other 2 (3) (4)
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities of continuing operations (123) 566 (86)
Cash generated by {used in) continuing operations 131 (67) 72
Cash generated by discontinued operations mores) - 3 15
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 131 (64) 87
Foreign currency translation adjustment on cash 5 (4) (5)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 67 135 53
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 203 67 135
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year, related to:
Continuing cperations 203 67 115
Discontinued operations - - 20
203 67 135

See accormpanying Motes to consolidated financial statements.




Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annuul Reporr

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AS AT DECEMBER 31
IN MILLICNS CF CANADIAN DOLLARS

CONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEETS 51

Pom o e R

2006 2005
* s

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents more 12 203 67

Accounts receivable 362 436

Inventories mote 13 683 652

Prepaid expenses 53 52

Future income taxes wore 10 70 -
1,371 1,207

Property, plant and equipment pore 15

3,984 4,260

Intangible assets more 19 460 473
Employee future benefits wore 2y 328 248
Future income taxes moe 10) 322 414
Other assets pore 18 200 146
Goodwill wore 10 1,297 1,296
7,962 8,044
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities pore 785 933
Long-term debt due within one year wore2n 72 18
857 951
Long-term debt wore 2 3,792 3,744
Employee future benefits more 2y 162 154
Future income taxes wove 1o 629 716
Non-controlling interests 71 78

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Capital stock motez

3,518 3,518

Contributed surplus por 24 40 34

Deficit (843) {(875)

Foreign currency translation adjustment morezn (264) (276)
2,451 2,401

7,962 8,044

Commitments and contingencies (NOTE 27)

Sea accompanying Notes to consolidated financial staternents.

Approved by the Board

e

JOHN W. WEAVER
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE QFFICER

/g%)d/,.m\

GARY J. LUKASSEN
CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
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CONSOLIDATED BUSINESS SEGMENTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
IN MILLIONS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED

- .
AMOATIZATION OPERATING ADDITIONS SALES
AND FROFIT TO CAPITAL VOLUME
SALES IMPAIRMENT * Loss)! ASSETS ASSETS !  (UNAUDITED)
$ $ s $ 3
2006
Newsprint 2,607 237 215 4,358 84 3,486°
Commercial printing papers 1,511 156 (32) 2,742 52 1,748°"
Wood products® 733 47 144 862 32 1,858°
Continuing operations 4,851 440 327 7,962 168
| 2005
| Newsprint 2,892 531 (228) 4,490 70 3,972°
| Commetcial printing papers 1,552 297 (89) 2,701 69 1,782+
| Wood products® 898 51 41 853 38 1,965°
. Continuing operations 5,342 879 (276) 8,044 177
2004
Newsprint 2,795 702 (362) 96 3,971*
Commercial printing papers 1,479 177 {52} 141 1,738°
Wood products® 1,025 56 158 19 2,169°
Continuing operations 5,299 935 (256} 256

1 Specific items affacting:

L ' 1

MILL GLOBURE AND OTHER ELEMENTS

COUNTER-
! MILL GAIN O VAN, ANTH ANORTIZATION TOTAL
GLOSURE BALE OF QTHER DAMPING AND BGAA AND BPECIFIC
COSTS ASSETS ELEMENTS 4 OTHER DUTES EXPEMSES * BAPAIRMENT s
' ' s s ' s '
2008
. Newsprint (7 (18) 8 - (6) - 23
- Commercial printing papers - - 7 - (3) - 4
' Wood products - - 1 (171) {2) - (172)
7) (18) 16 (171) {11) - (191)
2005
- Newsprint 89 - 9 - - 247 345
| Commercial printing papers - (53) - - - 124 71
! Wood products 1 - - - - - 1
90 (53) 9 — - 371 417
2004
Newsprint 17 - 8 - - 364 389
Commercial printing papers 7 - 7 - - - 14
- (32) - - (32)
24 - 15 (32) - 364 371

2 Capital essets include property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,

3 Wood products sales exclude inter-segment sales of $162 million in 2006 (2005-$172 million, 2004-$177 million).

4 Other elements include earty retirement program, labour force reductions, start-up costs and air emission credits.

5 Related to the reversal of prior years' provision of capital tax included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

]
|
! Wood products - -
]
|
|
I

a in thousands of tonnes
b in millions of board feet

Soe accompanying Notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
IN MILLIONS OF CANADHAN DOLLARS

Sales, capital assets' and goodwill by geographic manufacturing location are as follows:
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[

CTAPITAL
ASSETS AND
SALES GOOOWILL
s s
2006
Canada 3,938 4,341
United States 752 1,147
United Kingdom 161 253
Continuing operations 4,851 5,741
2005
Canada 4417 4,587
United States 741 1,192
United Kingdom 184 250
Continuing operations 5,342 6,029
2004
Canada 4,453
United States 663
United Kingdom 183
Continuing operations 5,299
Sales by final destination are as follows:
{ — i |
2006 2005 2004
[ 1 Y
Canada 750 710 817
United States 3,190 3,547 3,508
Other countries 911 1,085 974
Continuing operations 4,851 5,342 5,299

1 Capital assats include property, plant and squipment and intangible assets.

See accompanying Notes to consclidated financial staterments.
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01 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

[ I x

These consolidated financial statements of Abitibi-Consolidated inc. (the “Company”) are expressed in Canadian dollars and
are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles {“Canadian GAAP"). These consolidated
financial statements differ in certain respects from those prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted
accounting principles (“US GAAP™) and are not intended to provide certain disclosures which would typically be found in US
GAAP financial statements. These measurement and disclosure differences are described in note 29 “Differences between
Canadian and United States generally accepted accounting principles”.

. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATICN
The consolidated financial staternents include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as its joint ventures.
The Company’s interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the proportionate conselidation method. The investments
in entities subject to significant influence are accounted for using the equity method.

BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY

The Company operates an integrated business in forest products. Operations are located in Canada, the United States and
the United Kingdom. The woodlands operations supply logs to sawmills and certain pulp and paper mills. Sawmilts process
logs to produce wood products and wood chips. The production and selling of wood products constitutes the “Wood products”
segment. Chips are used in the production of newsprint, commercial printing papers and market pulp. The remaining fibre
requirements for the production of newsprint and commercial printing papers is obtained mainly from the paper recycling
facilities operated by the Company and from tong-term supply agreements. The manufacturing and selling of newsprint and
the collection of old papers constitute the “Newsprint” segment. As newsprint is used to print newspapers and advertising
flyers, demand is determined by circutation and advertising. The manufacturing and selling of commercial printing papers and
a small volume of market pulp constitute the “Commercial printing papers”™ segment. Commercial printing papers are used by
commercial printers, converters, advertisers and publishers to produce advertising inserts, bocks, telephone directories,
business forms, magazines, catalogues, envelopes, instruction manuals and financial printing.

Most of the Company’s products are marketed globally with a significant concentration in the United States. The Company
does not have any customer for which sales exceed 10% of total sales.

The accounting policies used in each of these business segments are the same as those described in this summary of significant
accounting policies. The head office costs are distributed to the different segments using an appropriate method. Inter-segment
transfers of wood chips and old papers are recarded at the exchange value, which is the amount agreed to by the parties.

The business segments are managed separately because each segment requires different technology and marketing strategies.
Business segment operating profit takes into account sales, cost of products sold, distribution costs, countervailing, anti-dumping
and other duties, selling, general and administrative expenses, mill closure and other elements, amortization and impairment of
plant and equipment and intangible assets as well as goodwill impairment for each business segment. Financial expenses, loss

or gain on translation of foreign currencies, other expenses and income, income tax expense or recovery, share of earnings from
investments subject to significant influence, as well as non-controlling interests are not allocated to specific business segments.

USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of consolidated financial staterments in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
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and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting period.
Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates are: useful lives of plant and equipment, impairment of long-lived
assets and goodwill, employee future benefits, income taxes, asset retirement obligations and environmental accruals, Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

REVENUE

The Company’s revenues are essentially derived from sales of goods. Such revenues are recognized when persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists, the goods have been delivered, there are no uncertainties surrounding product acceptance, the
related revenue is fixed or determinable and collection is reasonably assured. Sales are reported net of allowances and rebates,

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES

SELF-SUSTAINING FOREIGN OPERATIONS

Assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries and joint ventures are translated into Canadian dollars at year-end
exchange rates and the resulting unrealized exchange gains or losses are included in the foreign currency translation adjustment
account in shareholders’ equity. Revenue and expense items are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect
on the date on which such items are recognized into earnings.

TRANSLATION OF OTHER FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
Monetary items denominated in foreign currency such as foreign currency debt are translated at the year-end exchange rate.
The resulting exchange gains or losses are included in earnings of the year.

Realized gains and losses on currency options and forward exchange contracts designated as hedges of anticipated revenues
are recognized in earnings when such revenue is earned.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits, banker's acceptances and commercial paper with
a maturity of three months or less from the date of purchase that are recorded at cost, which approximates market valusa.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable are recorded at cost, net of a provision for doubtful accounts that is based on expected collectibility. Any
gains or losses on the sale of accounts receivable are calculated by comparing the book value of the accounts receivable sold
to the total of the cash proceeds received from the sale and the fair value of the retained interest in such receivables on the date
of the transfer, Fair values are determined on a discounted cash flow basis. Costs related to the sale of accounts receivable are
recognized in "Other expenses (income)” in the consolidated statements of earnings in the period in which they are incurred.

As at December 31, 2006, accounts receivable recorded on the balance sheet are net of an allowance for doubtful accounts
of $3 million {2005 -$4 million).

INVENTORIES
Woaod products, newsprint and commercial printing papers inventories are valued at the lower of cost, determined on ar
average cost basis, and net realizable value.

Logs, chips, other raw materials as well as production and maintenance supply inventories are valued at the lower of cost,
determined on an average cost basis, and replacement cost,
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01 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS

Investments in entities subject to significant influence are accounted for using the equity method. Other investments are
recorded at cost.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND AMORTIZATION
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, including capitalized Interest and pre-production costs. Investment tax
credits and government capital grants recsived reduce the cost of the related assets.

Amortization is provided principally using the straight-line method, at rates which amortize the assets’ cost over the useful
lives as follows: :

— !
YEARS
Buildings, pulp and paper mill production equipment 20-25
Sawmill production equipment 10-12
Woodlands, roads, timberlands, camps and equipment 10-20
Hydroelectric power plants : 40

Additions to plant and equipment are amortized from the date of operation. Repairs and maintenance as well as planned
shutdown maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND AMORTIZATION

Intangible assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided using the straight-line method over the useful lives of the
intangible assets.

i 3

YEARS
Water rights 40
Cutting rights 25-33

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Long-lived assets are raviewed for impairment upon the occurrence of events or changes in circumstances indicating that
the book value of the assets may not be recoverable, as measured by comparing their net book value to the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows generated by their use. Impaired assets are recorded at fair value, determined principally using
discounted future cash flows expected from thelr use and eventual disposition.

OTHER ASSETS
Other assets are reported at cost. Deferred financing fees are amortized over the life of the related long-term debt, which
generally ranges from 5 to 30 years.

GOODWILL

Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test performed during the fourth quarter of each year. The test will be
performed more frequently if everits or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired. Testing
for impairment is accomplished mainly by determining whether the fair value of a reporting unit, based on discounted
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cash flows, exceeds the book value of the net assets of that reporting unit as at the assessment date. If the fair value
is greater than the book value, no further impairment testing is necessary. In the event that the book value exceeds the
fair value, a second test must be performed whereby the fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill must be estimatad
to determine if it is less than its book value. Fair value of goodwill is estimated in the same manner as goodwill is
determined in an acquisition, that is, the excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets of the reporting unit.

ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations enacted by federal, provincial, state and focal authorities.
Environmental expenditures that will benefit the Company in future years are recorded at cost and capitalized as part of
property, plant and equipment. Amertization is charged to income over the estimated future benefit period of the assets.
Environmental expenditures that are not expected to provide a benefit to the Company in future periods are accrued on a
non-discounted basis and expensed to earnings, on a site-by-site basis, when a reguirement to remedy an environmental
exposure is probable and a cost can reasonably be estimated.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Asset retirement obligations are recognized in the period in which the Company incurs a legal obligation associated to the
retirement of an asset. The obligation is initially measured at fair value and subsequently adjusted for the passage of time, using
a credit adjusted risk-free interest rate, and any changes in the underlying cash flows, The costs are to be capitalized as part

of the book value of the related asset and depreciated over its remaining useful life.

EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

PENSION BENEFIT PLANS

The Company accrues the cost of defined benefit plans as determined by independent actuaries based on assurnptions

determined by the Company. The determination of the net periodic benefit cost includes:

- the cost of pension benefits provided in exchange of employees’ services rendered during the year;

- the interest cost of pensicon obligations;

- the expected iong-term return on pension fund assets, which is based on a market-related value determined using
a five-year moving average market value for equity securities and fair value for other asset classes;

- gains or losses on settlements, curtailments and special early retirement;

- the straight-line amortization of past service costs and plan amendments over the average remaining service period
of the active employee group covered by the plans {approximately 11 years); and

- the amortization of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the accrued
benefit obligation or market-refated value of plan assets, at the beginning of the year, over the average remaining service
period of the active employee group covered by the plans.

The pension plans’ obligations are determined in accordance with the projected benefit method prorated on services.

OTHER BENEFIT PLANS

The Company accrues the cost of post-retirement benefits other than pensions as determined by independent actuaries based
on assumptions determined by the Company. These benefits, which are funded by the Company as they become dus, include
life insurance programs as well as medical and dental benefits. The Company amortizes the cumulative unrecognized net actuarial
gains and losses in excess of 10% of the accrued benefit obligation at the beginning of the year, over the average remaining
service period of the active employee group covered by the plans.
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01 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INCOME TAXES

Future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future income tax consequences of events that have been
included in the financial statements or income tax returns of the Company. Future income taxes are provided for using the
liability method. Under the liability methad, future income taxes are recognized for all significant temporary differences between
the tax and financial statement bases of assets, liabilities and carry forward items, and measured using the tax rates and laws
expected to apply in the years in which the assets and liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company does
not provide for income taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are not expected to be repatriated in the
foreseeable future.

Future income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that the ‘
future income tax assets will be realized. Future income tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effect of changes in tax i
laws and rates on the date of enactment or substantive enactment.

Investment tax credits are recognized in eamnings as a reduction of research and development expenses, as part of cost of goods
sold, when the Company has made the qualifying expenditures and there is a reasonable assurance that the credits will be realized.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company has stock-based compensation plans, which are described in note 24. The Company records, as a charge to
earnings, the fair value of stock options at the grant date. Any consideration paid by employees on exercise of stock options
or purchase of stock is credited to “Capital stock”. Stock-based compensation expense, related to stock option plans, is
recognized using the straight-fine method over the vesting period. The contributed surplus component of the stock-based
compensation is transferred to capital stock upon the issuance of common shares.

All costs related to the other stock-based compensation plans are accrued and expensed to earnings when earned or over
the vesting period, if any.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company utilizes derivative instruments in the management of its foreign currency and interest rate exposures. The Company
uses hedging instrurents to hedge changes in fair value or cash flows for items with identified exposures. The Company also
assesses, both at the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, the effectiveness of hedging instruments. The Company uses
hedge accounting to account for the derivative instruments formally designated as hedging instruments and the fair value
method for derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments.

Realized and unrealized gains or losses associated with hedging instruments for which the underlying hedged items are either
sold, paid or terminated are recognized to earnings. Realized and unrealized gains or losses when hedging instruments have
ended or cease to be effective prior to their maturity are deferred and recognized in earnings concurrently with the recognition
of the items being hedged.

The Company hedges part of its foreign exchange exposure on anticipated cash inflows in US dollars and Euros through the
use of options and forward exchange contracts. Resulting gains and losses, including premiums on options, are recognized
when the designated hedge is exercised and are included in “Sales”.

_The Company hedges part of its risk exposure to interest rates on its long-term debt through the use of interest rate swap
contracts. Amounts accounted for under interest rate swap agreements are recognized as adjustments to “Financial expenses”.
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ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES ISSUED BUT NOT YET IMPLEMENTED

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, HEDGES AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In January 2005, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA™ published the following three new sections of the CICA
Handbook: Section 3855, Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement, Section 3865, Hedges, and Section 1530,
Comprehensive Income. Together, these standards introduce new requirements for the recognition and measurement of financial
instruments, hedge accounting and comprehensive income that are, for the most part, harmonized with standards issued by the
US Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™). While management is currently assessing the effects of these new recommen-
dations, impacts consistent with the adjustments described under note 29 D) 1, 2 and E) of these financial statements are
expected. These new recommendations must be adopted by the Gompany for the fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2007.
The application of these new recommendations is not expected to have a significant effect on the Company's financial position,
earnings or cash flows but will require the Company to present a new statement entitled “Comprehensive income”,

ACCOUNTING CHANGES

During the year, the CICA has issued a new section of the CICA Handbook, Section 1506, Accounting Changes. This standard
establishes criteria for changing accounting policies, together with the accounting treatment and disclosure of changes in
accounting policies and estimates, and correction of errors. The Company will apply this standard on January 1, 2007.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures disclosed in the consalidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the present
year presentation,

02 MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY

{

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

The Company performs the required annual impairment test as of Septernber 30 during the fourth quarter of each year. As

at December 31, 2006, the Company had $1,297 million of goodwill, from which $858 million were related to the “Newsprint”
segment and $439 million to the “Commercial printing papers” segment. The Company performed the 2006 goodwill impairment
test and found that the fair value of both paper segments exceeded book value by at least 20%. The Company also performed
sensitivity analyses under various scenarios and assumptions.

Testing for impairment is accomplished mainly by determining whether the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds the book value
of the net assets of that reporting unit as at the assessment date. The Company tests its gocodwill for impairment using a two-
step methodology. This two-step methodology contains estimates and judgments that are subjective and uncertain, and thus,
may change over time.

The Company conducted the initial step of the goodwill impairment test, consisting of making the determination of fair value,
which the Company does by relying primarily on the discounted cash flow method. This method uses projections of cash flows
from each of the reporting units. Key assumptions include estimated useful life of the long-lived assets, projections of trend
price, production levels, production costs, market supply and demand, foreign exchange rates, inflation, weighted average
cost of capital (*WACC") and capital spending. The assumptions are derived from (1) information generated internally, such
as existing sales data based on current product lines and assumed production levels, as well as manufacturing costs; {2)
independent industry research firms; and (3) other external published reports and forecasts. The Company’s products ara
commodity products, therefere, pricing is inherently volatile and often follows a cyclical pattern. Trend prices are derived from
forecasts prepared by Resource Information Systems Inc. ("RISI”), an independent external firm, taking into consideration the
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02 MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

specific characteristics of the Company's products. The Company also uses RISls currency exchange long-term forecast of
CDN$1.00 equals US$0.86. To assure consistency with market valuation, the Company estimates its market valuation and
compares it with results obtained with the discounted cash flow method.

The second step is performed only when the book value exceeds the fair value. Under this scenario, a second test is performed
whereby the fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is estimated to determine if it is less than its book value. Fair value of
goodwill Is estimated in the same manner as goodwill is determined in an acquisition, that is, the excess of the fair value of the
reporting unit over the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the reporting unit.

The above-listed assumptions used in the calculation models are interrelated. The continuing degree of interrelationship of these
assumptions is, in and of itself, a significant assumption. Because of the interrelationship among these assumptions, the Company
does not believe it would be meaningful to provide additional sensitivity analysis on any of these individual assumptions, with the
exception of paper prices and WACC. Based on the Company's most probable price outlook scenario, if trend price projections
were to decrease by US$25 per tonne, the fair value would exceed book value by 12% for the “Newsprint” segment and would be
about equal to book value in the “Commercial printing papers” segment. If the WACC, which is used to discount the projected cash
flows, was lower, the measure of the fair value of the Company's assets would increase. Conversely, if the WACC was higher, the
measure of the fair value of the Company's assets would decrease. If the estimate of WACC was to increase by 25 basis points,

the excess of the fair values of each of the reporting units would continue to exceed their book values by at least 16%.

Future changes in assumptions or the interrelationship of the assumptions may negatively impact future valuations. In future
measurements of fair value, adverse changes in discounted cash flow assumptions could result in an impairment of goodwill
that would require a non-cash charge to the consolidated statements of earnings and may have a material effect on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company conducted the initial step of the impairment tests on the Bridgewater, United
Kingdom paper mill and on the “Wood products” segment as a result of operating losses. The Company also conducted the initial
step on the indefinitely idled Lufkin, Texas paper mill. Estimates of future cash flows used to test the recoverability of a tong-
lived asset are mainly derived in the same manner as the projections of cash flows used in the initial step of the goodwill
impairment test. In addition, the impairment test for the Lufkin paper mill was performed in light of a scenario of the mill’'s
restart producing lightweight coated paper under a partnership structure,

The Company concluded that the recognition of an impairment charge for the business units analyzed was not required, as the
estimated undiscounted cash flows exceeded the book values by at least 32%. Certain paper mills and sawmills are particularty
sensitive to the key assumptions. Given the inherent imprecision and corresponding importance of the key assumptions used
in the impairment test, it is reasonably possible that changes in future conditions may lead management to use different key
assumptions, which could require a material change in the book value of these assets. The total book value of these asssts was
$250 million, $174 million and $344 million for the “Newsprint”, “Commercial printing papers” and “Wood products” segments,
respectively, as at December 31, 2006.

See note 5 “iImpairment of long-lived assets” for the write downs and impairment charges recorded by the Company
in 2005 and 2004.
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03 ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURE

{ —

I

2005

I) DIVESTITURE

On November 17, 2005, the Company completed the sale of its 50% share ownership in Pan Asia Paper Company Pte Ltd
{"PanAsia”} to Norske Skogindustrier ASA of Norway for a cash consideration of $712 million (US$600 million), iess $11 million
of post-closing transaction costs, plus a cash purchase price adjustment of up to US$30 million depending on the achisvement
of certain financial performance objectives in 2006. No price adjustment has been booked as at December 31, 20086. The
Company recorded a gain of $3 million {loss of $10 million net of income taxes) related to this transaction. The $10 million

loss is included in “Earnings from discontinued operations” in the consolidated statements of earnings.

I1) ACQUISITION

In 2005, the Company acquired the remaining 57% of the softwood sawmill assets owned by Gestofor Inc. The sawmill is
located in Saint-Raymond de Portneuf, Québec. The results of the acquired business have been included in the consclidated
financial statements since January 1, 2005,

2004

1) ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

On June 2, 2004, the Company exercised its option, at the predetermined amount of $7 million (US$5 million), to acquir2 the
other joint venture partner's 50% non-controlling interest in Alabama River Newsprint Company (“Alabama”) and Alabama River
Recycling Company (“Alabama Recycling”). As part of this transaction, the Company renounced its loan receivable from the
partner, and the partner renounced its right to the subordinated long-term debt. The book value of the non-controlling interest
amounted to $90 million as at June 2, 2004. The $12 million excess of consideration over the book value of non-controling
interest has been allocated to property, plant and equipment.

1) BUSINES5 ACQUISITIONS

On May 17, 2004, the Company acquired the assets of Coopérative Forestiére Laterriére for a cash consideration of $10 million.
The consideration paid was entirely allocated to property, plant and equipment. The results of the acquired business have been
included in the consoclidated financial statements since the effective date of the acquisition.

On July 1, 2004, the Company acquired, for a cash consideration of $14 million (US$10.5 million) an additional 2.5% interest
in Augusta Newsprint Company {“Augusta”), a company operating a newsprint mill located in Augusta, Georgia. As a result of this
transaction, the Company’s interest rose from 50% to 52.5% and control was obtained. Effective as at the date of acquisition
and in accordance with Section 1590 of the CICA Handbook, the Company’s consolidated financial statements include all
the accounts of Augusta, which is no longer included on a proportionate consolidation basis. The effect of this business
transaction has been reflected in the consolidated financial statements since the effective date of the acquisition.

These acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, whereby the total cost of the acquisitions
has been allocated to the assets acquired and to the liabilities assumed based upon their respective fair values at the effective
date of acquisition.
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03 ACGUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURE (CONTINUED)

Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annunl Report

The fair value of net assets acquired, net liabilities assumed or book value of net assets sold were as follows:

S SR - i 3
2005 2004
NET NET NET
Moy acountb  Assuwen
s s $
Net assets acquired, net liabilities assumed or net assets sold
Current assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents 174 8 21
Property, plant and equipment 814 5 78
Intangible assets 5 21 -
Other non-current assets 4 - 1
Goodwill 75 - 4
Current liabilities (81} (1) (11}
Long-term debt {346) (1) (37}
Employee future benefits - - (9}
Future income tax liabilities (46) (8) -
Non-controlling interests (33) - (55)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 120 - -
Fair value of net assets acquired or net liabilities assumed or book value of net assets sold 686 24 (&)
Consideration paid {received)
Cash (net of cash and cash equivalents) (689) 13 (8)
Transaction costs payable {4) - -
Book value of investment in Gestofor Inc. - 11 -
(693} 24 )
04 COUNTERVAIL!NG ANTI DUMPING AND OTHER DUTIES
s e ey

In December 20086, the Company received a refund of $270 million (US$239 million) in countervailing and anti-dumping deposits.
Taking into consideration the account receivable of $59 million (US$52 million) recorded in 2004, revenue of $171 million was
recognized in 2008, mostly related to the agreement and settlement by the governments of Canada and the United States on
the softwood lumber dispute, as well as a related interest income of $32 million {note 7). The $171 million revenue is a reversal

of previous years’ countervailing and anti-dumping duties.

The new export tax expense on softwood lumber effective in the fourth quarter of 2006 amounted to $2 million.

05 IMPAIRMENT OF LONG LIVED ASSETS

2005

tn 2005, the Cormpany recorded asset write downs and impairment charges of $203 million ($138 million net of income taxes), mainty
due to the permanent closure of its Stephenville, Newfoundland and Kenora, Ontario newsprint mills. The book value of the property,
plant and equipment has been written down to its fair value, which represented the present value of the estimated net proceeds from
dismantling, redeployment and disposal based on experience with the disposal of similar assets. The Company also recognized an
impairment charge of $125 million ($77 million net of income taxes) related to the property, plant and equipment of the Lutkin paper




Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annnal Report NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 63
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 11, 2008, 2005 AND 2004
1N MILLIONS OF CANADIAN DDLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE NUTED

mill as some of its long-lived assets were no longer recoverable and exceeded their fair value, Furthermore, following the sale

of timberands in the Thunder Bay area, in Ontario, the Company assessed its Fort William, Ontario paper mill to fair value and
recognized an impairment charge of $43 million ($22 million net of income taxes). Of the $371 million of write downs and impairment
charges, $247 million was included in the “Newsprint” segrment and $124 million was included in the *“Commercial printing papers”
segment. The revenues that used to be generated from those closed assets are now generated by the other mills of the Company.

2004

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company recognized asset write downs of $364 million ($235 million net of income taxes)
related to the property, plant and equipment located in Sheldon, Texas, and Port-Alfred, Québec, as these long-lived assets
were no longer recoverable and exceeded their fair value. The Company subsequently announced, on January 26, 2005, the
permanent shutdown of the Sheldon and Port-Alfred mills, due to excess paper production capacity in the general business and
high production costs. The book value of the property, plant and equipment was written down to its fair value, representing the
present value of the estimated net proceeds from dismantiing, redeployment and disposal, based on experience with disposal
value of similar assets. Those assets are included in the "Newsprint” segment, The revenues that used to be generated from
those closed assets are now generated by the other mills of the Company.

06 MILL CLOSURE AND OTHER ELEMENTS

o T LT T T oo U |

2006

In 2006, the Company recorded favourable milt closure and other elements of $9 million ($4 million net of income taxes), resulting

mainly from the sale of the Sheldon mill and from the reversal of related asset retirement obligations. These favourable elements were

partially offset, mainly by mill closure and other elements charges, in most part related to the Company’s initiative to review its Selling,

General and Administrative expenses at Head Office, as well as its general and administrative costs incurred at the mills, where these

expenses are included in cost of products sold. The mill closure and other elemenits included in the “Newsprint”, “Commercial printing
papers” and “Wood products” segments were a credit of $17 million, a charge of $7 million and a charge of $1 million, respectively.

2005

With respect to the permanent closure of the Kenora and Stephenville paper mills, as well as the Champneuf, Québec sawmill,
and the closure of one paper machine at the Bridgewater paper mill announced in December 2005, the Company recorded a
charge of $90 million (362 million net of income taxes) in 2005. The Company also recorded in 2005 a charge of $9 million
($6 million net of income taxes) of early retirement program and labour force reductions. Of those mill closure and other
elements, $98 million was included in the “Newsprint” segment and $1 million was included in the “Wood products” segment.
Curing the fourth quarter, the Company also recorded a gain on the sale of timberlands in the Thunder Bay area for an amount
of $53 million {£48 million net of incama taxes). This gain was included in the “Commercial printing papers” segment,

2004
With respect to the permanent closure of its Sheldon and Port-Alfred paper mills, the Company recorded a charge of $28 million
($18 million net of income taxes) for obsolescence of inventory and asset retirement obligations related to environmental matters.

During the year 2004, $12 million of additional costs ($7 million net of income taxes) resulting from the 2003 idling of the Lufkin and
Port-Alfred mills were recorded, as well as $7 million {$4 million net of income taxes) of start-up costs related to the Alma project.

During the year 2004, following the 2002 indefinite idling of the Sheldon mill, the Company sold some air emission credits,
The resulting gain on disposal amounted to $8 million ($5 million net of income taxes) and was included in “Mill closure and
other elements”.
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06 MiLL CLOSURE AND OTHER ELEMENTS (CONTINUED)
The mill closure and other elements included in the “Newsprint” segment and in the “Commercial printing papers” segment
wera $25 million and $14 million, respectively. :

The following table provides the components of the milt closure and other elements for the years ended December 31:

(. oo - .- -]
2006 2005 2004
s $ $
Severance and other labour-related costs i3 32 3
Defined benefit pension and other benefits costs - 12 -
Early retirement program 2 9 -
Inventory obsolescence 1 18 17
Asset retirement obligations related to environmental matters (7 12 11
Gain on sale of assets (18) {53) -

Gain on sale of air emission credits - - (8)

Contractual obligations {2) 10 -
Start-up costs - - 7
Costs incurred for idling and other 2 6 9
9 46 39

The following table provides a reconciliation of the mill closure elements provision {excluding defined benefit pension and other
benefits cost, early retirement program and {abour force reductions, inventory obsolescence, asset retirement obligations and
other gains), for the years ended December 31:

[ : ]
2006 2005 2004
s $ s
Mill closure elements provision, beginning of year 38 17 62
Mill closure elements incurred during the year - 49 12
Mill closure elements reversed during the year (4) - -
Payments 27 (28) (57)
Mill closure elements provision, end of year 7 38 17

The Company expects to pay most of the balance of the provision for mill closure elements within the next twelve months.

07 FINANCIAL EXPENSES

O —— —

2006 2005 2004
$ $ s

Interest on long-term debt : 321 364 352
Amortization of deferred financing elements related to debt 16 23 19
Premium on early retirement of debt and other elements related to early debt retirement - 32 -
Interest income (37) (17} (3)
Other 7 10 7

307 412 375
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In 2006, interest income includes $32 million related to the settlement of the softwood lumber dispute. In 2005, $11 million
of interest income was recognized in relation to tax refunds.

Curing 2005, dus to early long-term debt retirements, the Company recorded a write off of $3 million for unamortized dzferred
financing fees.

Net paymaent of interest on long-term debt in 2006 amounted to $321 million (2005-$376 million, 2004 -$359 million).

08 OTHER EXPENSES (INCOME)
 ee—— . B 3
2006 2005 2004
$ $ $

Discount on sale of accounts receivable more 2600 28 17 7

Gain on disposal of an investment - (2) (25}

Other - (5) 2
28 10 (16)

On May 19, 2004, the Company sold its 21% interest in Voyageur Panel Limited for gross proceeds of $57 million. The
Company recorded a gain of $25 million, before income taxes, related to this transaction. In 2005, the Company received
a purchase price adjustment of $2 million related to this transaction.

09O DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

— . -

On November 17, 2005, the Company completed the sale of its 50% share ownership in PanAsia. Accordingly, the information
pertaining to PanAsia is no longer included on a proportionate consolidation basis, but presented as discontinued operations in
the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Comparative figures were reclassified to exclude PanAsia's results from the
Company’s continuing operations.

On February 27, 2004, the Company sold the remaining 25% interest in SFK Pulp General Partnership for gross proceeds
of $118 million. The Company recorded a gain of $85 million, before income taxes, after considering the original cost of the

investment, the reversal of a deferred gain related to this investment and $6 million of transaction costs.

Condensed earnings from discontinued operations are as follows:

[ T |
2006 2005 2004
s s s
Sales - 430 502
Operating profit - 33 37
Financial expenses - 13 13

Gain (loss} on disposal of business, net of income taxes

(2005—tax recovery of $13 million, 2004 —tax expense of $15 million) - (10} 75
Earnings from discontinued operations - 3 90

Earnings per common share from discontinued operations - 0.01 0.21
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09 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
Condensed cash flaws from discontinued operations are as follows:

i — B -
2006 2005 2004
s s $
Cash flows from operating activities - 36 69
Cash flows from financing activities - 33 78
Cash flows used in investing activities - {66} (132)
Cash flows generated by discontinued operations - 3 15
Condensed business segments from discontinued operations are as follows:
- .
2006 2005 2004
3 $ $
NEWSPRINT
Sales - 354 410
Amortization - - 40 40
Operating profit ' - 26 30
Additions to capital assets - 64 128
COMMERCIAL PRINTING PAPERS
Sales - 76 92
Amortization - 6 7
Operating profit - 7 7
Additions to capital assets - 1 2

10 INCOME TAXES

| S [

A) RECONCILIATION OF INCOME TAXES

The following table provides a reconciliation of income taxes computed at the combined statutory rate, to income tax recovery

presented on the consolidated statements of earnings:

[ S
2006 2005 2004
s s s
Income tax expense (recovery) based on combined basic Canadian federal
and provincial tax rates (2006-33.5%, 2005—~31.6%, 2004—32.4%) 1 {189) (97)
Manufacturing and processing allowances - 3 (7
Difference in tax rates for foreign subsidiaries 5 (6) (8)
Charge (recovery) from change in tax rates (63) 38 -
Non-taxable portion of foreign exchange gain and loss 2 (30) (45)
Canadian large corporation tax ' - 6 7
Re-evaluation of current and future income tax assets and liabilities 31 (29 a7
Tax exempt items - (50} 12
Non-taxable portion of gain on disposal of capital assets - (11) -
Charges for calculation of temporary differences’ 12 - -
Other (11} (3) (21)
Income tax recovery ’ (85) {271) (176)
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Significant components of the income tax recovery are as follows:

| — . }
2006 2005 2004
s s s
Current income tax expense (recovery) (17) (77) 6
Future income tax expense (recovery) relating to movement in timing differences 34 (198) {117}
Future income tax recovery relating to operating loss carry forwards (51) (34) {65)
Charges for calculation of temporary differences’ 12 - -
Future income tax charge (recovery} resulting from rate changes (63) 38 -
Income tax recovery (85) (271) (176)

1 The Company complated a calculation of the tax value of the temporary differances, using the income tax rates applicable
in the years in which the assets and liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled.

B} COMPONENTS OF FUTURE INCOME TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The temporary differences that give rise to future tax assets and liabilities at December 31 consist of the following:

B — S E— —
2006 2005
$ s

Future income tax assets

Research and development expenditure pool 133 -
Loss carry forwards 532 870
665 870
Future income tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {647) (972)
Long-term debt (171) (190)
Other (84) (10}
(902)  (1,172)
(237) (302)
Classified in the consolidated balance sheets as
Net current future income tax assets 70 -
Net non-current future income tax assets 322 414
Net non-current future income tax liabilities (629) (716)
(237) (302)

C) LOSS CARRY FORWARDS AND RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE POOL
The Company believes that it is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will uitimately be realized.

CANADA FEDERAL AND PROVINCIAL TAX JURISDICTIONS

At Decemnber 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had Canadian and provincial {cther than Québec) net operating loss carry forwards
of $104 million and $1,032 million, respectively, and Québec net operating loss carry forwards of $105 million and $1,299 million,
respectively. These loss carry forwards expire at various dates between 2009 and 2026. In addition, $114 million of Canadian
investment tax credit carry forwards expiring between 2011 and 2026 were available to reduce future income taxes.
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10 INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

During 2008, the Canadian tax authorities completed the audits of the 2001 through 2005 fiscal periods for two of the Company’s
major Canadian legal entities. Tha completion of these audits allowed the Company to review certain discretionary tax deductions
claimed in previous years. More specifically, the Company elected to reduce for all years audited, the amount of tax depreciation
claimed and to defer the deduction of certain research and development expenditures to future years. As a result, the Company
has significantly reduced the amount of losses carried forward for Canadian and provincial tax purposes.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had Canadian and provincial {other than Québec) research and development expenditure
pool of $430 million (2005-nil) and Québec research and development expenditure pool of $435 million (2005 -nil). These
research and development expenditure pools do not have an expiry date.

UNITED STATES FEDERAL AND STATE TAX JURISDICTIONS

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had United States federal and state net operating loss carry forwards
of $1,310 million (US$1,124 millien) and $1,301 million (US$1,119 million), respectively. These loss carry forwards expire
at various dates between 2007 and 2026.

OTHER TAX JURISDICTIONS
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had other tax jurisdictions net operating loss carry forwards totalling
$68 million and $67 million, respectively. These loss carry forwards do not have an expiry date.

D} GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION RELATED TO INCOME TAXES
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes arose in the following tax jurisdictions:
— - : n—

2006 2005 2004
s $ $

Domestic (77) (460) (27)
Foreign 79 (137) (271)
2 (597) (298)

The income tax expense (recovery) by geographic distribution is as follows:

 — ]
2006 2005 2004
s s s
Current income taxes
Domestic {19) (80} 5
Foreign 2 3
(17 (77} 6
Future income taxes
Domestic (95) {139) (70)
Foreign 27 (55) (112)
(68) (194) (182)

Income tax recovery (85) (271) (176}
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In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to audits from taxation authorities. These audits may alter the timing
or amount of the taxable income or deductions, The amount ultimately reassessed upen resolution of issues raised may differ
from the amount recorded. The Company believes that taxes recorded on the consolidated balance sheets fairly represent the

amount of future tax liability due.

Net cash receipts for income taxes in 2006 amounted to $4 million (2005 -cash receipts amounted to $40 million, 2004 -net

payments amounted to $12 million).

11 SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

{ y i 7
2006 2005 2004
' s s
Changes in non-cash operating working capital from continuing operations
Accounts receivable 12 (51) (87)
Inventories (29) 7 35
Prepaid expenses (D 4 9
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (149) 73 (85)
(167) 33 (146)
12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
T T R - LTI T T T T IS
2006 2005
. s
Cash 55 51
Cash equivalents 148 16
203 67
13 INVENTORIES
C S ; i ———
2006 2005
s s
Newsprint and commercial printing papers 929 88
Wood products 110 108
Logs, chips and other raw materials 257 239
Production and maintenance supplies 217 217
683 652
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14 INVESTHM

ENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annual Report

The Company's consolidated financial position as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and consolidated results of operations and
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 include, on a proportionate consolidation basis, its 51%
joint venture interest in Star Lake Hydro Partnership, and its investments in joint venture I-Joist mills in Québec.

The Gompany's consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the six-month period ended June 30, 2004 include
on a proportionate consolidation basis, its then 50% owned US joint venture partnership of Augusta (note 3).

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

i [ ——— |

S e e e e e -

2006 2005 2004
$ 5 $

Sales 65 76 136
Operating expenses 37 70 116
Operating profit 8 6 20
Non-operating expenses 3 3 5
Net earnings 5 3 15
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

s o e e e — T,

2006 2005 2004
) [ s

Cash flows from operating activities 7 8 20
Cash flows used in financing activities {1) (1) (7)
Cash flows used in investing activities (1) (N (37)
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

(LT U oTTI T i - p— T ittt |

2006 2005
] s

ASSETS

Current assets 21 20
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and other non-current assets 42 41
LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 8 9
Long-term debt {including current portion) 24 24
Other non-current liabilities 1 1
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- — .
2006 2005
ACCUMULATED NET BOOK ACCUMULATED NET BOOK
cosr AMORTIZATION VALUE COSsT AMORTIZATION VALUE
s s s s s s
Buildings, pulp and paper mill production equipment 6,220 3,015 3,205 7,005 3,543 3,462
Sawmill production equipment 640 458 182 625 428 197
Woodlands, roads, timberlands, camps and equipment 347 170 177 337 153 184
Hydroelectric power plants 554 141 413 534 123 411
Construction in progress 7 - 7 6 - 6
7,768 3,784 3,984 8,507 4,247 4,260

During 2005, the Company recorded asset write downs and impairment charges for an amount of $203 million mainly due

to the permanent closure of its Stephenville and Kenora nawsprint mills, Also, the Company recognized an impairment charge
of $125 million related to the property, plant and equipment of the Lufkin paper mill. Furthermore, following the sale of
timberlands in the Thunder Bay area, the Company assessed its Fort William paper mill to fair value and recognized an

impairment charge of $43 million,

The related expenses are included in “Amortization of plant and equipment” in the consolidated statements of earnings.

During 2006, no interest (2005~ no interest, 2004 -$4 million) has been capitalized in connection with capital projects.

As at December 31, 20086, the net book value of idled and permanently closed plant facilities amounted to $273 million

(2005-%$317 million}.

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

{

20086

2005

ACCUMULATED NET BOOK ACCUMULATED NET BOOK

COST  AMORTIZATION VALUE COST  AMORTIZATION VALUE

* $ s s s 3

Water rights 503 84 419 500 72 428
Cutting rights 97 56 41 97 52 45
600 140 460 597 124 473

Based on the current value of intangible assets subject to amortization, the estimated amortization expense will be $16 million
in each year from 2007 through 2011, As acquisitions and dispositions occur in the future, these amounts may vary.
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17 GOODWILL
oo . i
2006 2005
COMMERCIAL COMMERCLAL
PRINTING PRINTING
MEWSPRINT PAPERS TOTAL NEWSPRINT PAPERS TOTAL
s s s $ 3 5
Goodwill, beginning of year 857 439 1,296 857 439 1,296
Foreign exchange adjustment 1 - 1 - - -
Goodwill, end of year 858 439 1,297 857 439 1,296

18 OTHER ASSETS

oo T T - B

2006 2005
] $

Research and development tax credits 114 -
Beferred financing fees 39 46
Countervailing and anti-dumping duties receivable (2005-US5852 million) more 4 - 60
Investments 10 9
Other 37 31

200 146

In December 2006, the Company reclassified an amount of $85 million of research and development tax credits from accounts
receivable to other assets due to the likely scenario of not using these deductions in 2007.

10 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

pr— e s —

L. . _ . —_

The components of accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at December 31 are as follows:

p— —— —
2006 2005
' s
Trade payables . 386 431
Payroll-related liabilities 72 75
Compensated absences accrued 76 81
Accrued interest 79 78
Stumpage fees and silviculture payable 26 35
Freight payable 30 27
Payable on capital projects 15 21
Provision for environment morezr e 19 23
Income and other taxes payable 17 55
Provision for mill closure elements poren 7 38
Provision for asset retirement obligations wore2r & 18 24
Other 40 45

785 933




Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Ansual Repore NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 73
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2008, 2005 AND 2004
IN MILLIONS OF CANAQIAN DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHEFAWISE NOTED

20 LONG-TERM DEBT

{ e .

A) RECOURSE AND NON-RECOURSE DEBT

2006 2005
s s
Recourse

Canadian and U.S. revolving facilities bearing interest at floating rates based on bankers’
acceptances, prime, U.S. base rate or LIBOR, maturing in December 2008 180 70
US5315 million 6.95% notes matured on December 15, 2006 - 17
US$61 million 7.625% notes due May 15, 2007 71 71
US$196 million 6.95% notes due April 1, 2008 (2005-US$200 million) 223 225
US$150 million 5.25% notes due June 20, 2008 175 175
US$150 million 7.875% notes due August 1, 2009 173 171
US$395 million 8.55% notes due August 1, 2010 460 460
US5200 million 7.75% notes due June 15, 2011 233 233
US$200 million, three-month LIBOR plus 3.5% floating-rate notes due June 15, 2011 233 233
US$350 million 6.00% notes due June 20, 2013 408 407
US$450 million 8.375% notes due April 1, 2015 524 523
US$100 million 7.40% debentures due April 1, 2018 102 101
US$250 million 7.50% debentures due April 1, 2028 244 241
US$250 million 8.50% debentures due August 1, 2029 276 274
US$450 million 8.85% debentures due August 1, 2030 524 523
Other recourse debt 14 14
Non-recourse (9.2% amortized loan maturing April 1, 2023}’ 24 24
3,864 3,762
Less: Due within one year 72 18

3,792 3,744

1 This loan is described as non-recourse as it has no recourse to the Company but is secured by the Star Laka Hydro Partnership's assets,

On September 28, 2006, the Company increased its credit agreement from $700 million to $750 million as a new lender joined
the banking syndicate. On October 3, 2005, the Credit Agreement was renewed into two new Bank Credit facilities. The
$550 miillion Facility A is secured by certain fixed assets and the $200 million Facility B {2005-$150 million) is secured by certain
working capital elements. Available liquidities were $477 million as at December 31, 2006 (2005 -$545 million). Amounts drawn
on Facility A do not require reimbursement before maturity. As at December 31, 2008, the Company had outstanding letters

of credit pursuant to this revolving facility, for an amount of $93 million {2005-%$85 million). The unused portion of the facilities
incurs a commitment fee of 0.6%. The bank credit facility requires the Company to meet specific financial ratios, which are met
as at December 31, 2006.

On December 15, 2006, the Company repaid the remaining US$15 million of 6.95% notes due 2006 and US$4 million of 6.95%
notes due 2008.
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20 LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

On December 16, 2005, the Company repaid a total of US$579 million comprised of US$185 million of 6.95% notes due 2006,
US$139 million of 7.625% notes due 2007, US$50 million of 6.85% notes due 2008, US$100 miillion of 7.875% notes due 2009
and US$105 million of 8.55% notes due 2010.

On August 1, 2005, the Company repaid the remaining US$64 million of the 8.30% notes due 2005.

On March 28, 2005, the Company issued US$450 million of 8.375% notes due 2015. The net proceeds of the issue were used
to repay, on March 29, 2005, U$S$337 million of 8.30% notes due August 1, 2005 and on April 5, 2005, US$100 million of 6.95%
notes due December 15, 2006.

On June 15, 2004, the Company issued through a private placement US$200 million of 7.75% notes due 2011 and US$200 million
of three-month LIBOR plus 3.5% floating-rate notes due 2011. These notes have subsequently been exchanged for public notes,
with essentially the same terms and conditions, pursuant to an exchange offer. The net proceeds of these issues were used to
repay Alabama’s U5$118 million floating-rate term loan, to repay bank indebtedness and for general corporate purposes.

B) SCHEDULED LONG-TERM DEBT REPAYMENTS

L Ji]
-
2007 72
2008" 579
2009 177
2010 465
2011 471
Thereafter 2,100
3,864

1 inclurdes $180 million from bank credit facilities,

C) FAIR VALUE OF LONG-TERM DEBT
The estimated fair value of the long-term debt as at December 31, 2006 is at $3,499 million (2005-$3,528 million) and has been
determined based on management’s best estimate of the fair value to renegotiate debt with similar terms at December 31, 2006.

21 EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

O -]

A) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
The Company contributes to several defined contribution, multi-employer and 401(k) plans. The pension expense under these
plans is equal to the Company’s contribution. The 2006 pension expense was $15 million (2005 -$14 million, 2004 -$14 million).

B) DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS
The Company maintains contributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain groups of employees. The Company has an
obligation to ensure that these plans have sufficient funds to pay the benefits earned. These plans provide pensions based on
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length of service and final average employee earnings. The pension expense and the obligation related to the defined benefit
plans are actuarially determined using management’s most probable assumptions as reviewed by independent actuaries.

C) OTHER BENEFIT PLANS

The Company provides other benefit plans consisting of group health care and life insurance benefits to eligible retired
employees and their dependents. The other benefit expense and the obligation related to the cther benefit plans are actuarially
determined using management’s most probable assumptions as reviewed by independent actuaries.

D) DESCRIPTION OF FUND ASSETS

The assets of the pension plans are held by an independent custodian and are accounted for separately in the Company's
pension funds. The pension plan target percentage allocations and weighted average asset allocations as at December 31,
by asset category, are as follows:

: - |
ALLOGATION 2006 2005
% * *
Debt securities 50 47 49
Equity and other securities 50 53 51
100 100 100

E} FUNDING POLICY
The Company makes contributions that are required to provide for benefits earned in the year and fund past service obligations
over periods not exceeding those permitted by the applicable regulatory authorities.

The Company's funding policy is in accordance with the regulatory authorities' requirements and is determined by actuzrial
valuation conducted at least on a triennial basis for Canadian and United Kingdom pension plans and annually for UJ.5. pension
plans. With regards to Canadian pension plans, the latest actuarial valuations were conducted as at December 31, 2005 for
plans representing approximately 55% of the total plan assets fair value, as at December 31, 2004 for plans representing
approximately 15% of the total plan assets fair value, and as at December 31, 2003 for the remaining plans.

These valuations indicated a funding deficit at that time. Total cash contributions for all the Company’s defined bensfit pension
plans are expected to be approximately $205 million in 2007, including $16 million related to mili clesures, compared to
$206 million paid in 2006 (2005 -$180 million, 2004 -$182 million).

F) INVESTMENT POLICY

The Company follows a disciplined investment strategy, which provides diversification of investments by assat class, foreign
currency, sector or company. The Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has approved an
investment policy that establishes long-term asset mix targets based on a review of historical returns achieved by world-wride
investment markets. Investment managers may deviate from these targets but their performance is evaluated in relation to the
rmarket performance on the target mix. The Pension Investment Committee reviews investments regularly. The policy also permits
the use of derivative financlal instruments to implement asset mix decisions or to hedge existing or anticipated exposures. The
Pension Fund’s segregated accounts are prohibited from investing in the securities of the Company or its subsidiaries.
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21 EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

G} EXPECTED RETURN ON ASSETS ASSUMPTION

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on several factors, including input from pension managers,
consultants, and projected long-term returns on broad equity and bond indices. Based on the target asset allocation for each
asset class, the overall expected rate of return for the portfolio is developed considering the effects of active portiolio

“management and expenses paid from plan assets.

H) INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY'S DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS AND OTHER

BENEFIT PLANS IN AGGREGATE

The following table presents the change in the accrued benefit obligation as calculated by independent actuaries, the change
in the fair value of plan assets and the funded status of the plans:

ST p)

i ——— —— _—

PENSION BENEFIT PLANS OTHER BENEFIT PLANS

2006 2005 2006 2005
s s $ $

CHANGE IN ACCRUED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 4,167 3,771 256 219
Current service cost 94 85 4 3
Interest cost 215 222 13 13
Plan amendments 9 10 - 20
Actuariat loss (gain) on accrued benefit obligation 7 354 (6) 23
Curtailment and special early retirement - {6) - (3)
Settlement - 9) - -
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 15 (23) - - (4)
Benefits paid (273) (237) (16) (15)
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year - 4,234 4,167 251 256
CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 3,293 2,992 - -
Actual return on plan assets 363 350 - -
Employer’s contributions 206 180 16 15
Plan participants’ contributions 28 30 - -
Benefits paid ) {273) (237) (16) {15)
Settlement - (%) - -
Foreign exchange gain (loss) and other 10 (13) - -
Fair value of plan assets, end of year 3,627 3,293 - -
FUNDED STATUS OF THE PLANS

Funded status of the plans {deficit} (607) (874) (251) (256)
Unrecognized prior service cost ~ 96 100 24 26
Unrecognized actuarial loss . 837 1,022 64 75
Other components 2 - i 1

Net amount recognized in balance sheets 328 248 (162} (154)
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The following table presents defined benefit pension plans and other benefit plans for which the accrued benefit obligzation is
in excess of fair value of plan assets:

{. -

PENSION BENEFIT PLANS OTHER BENEFIT PLANS

2006 2005 2006 2005
$ s s $

Accrued benefit obligation 4,021 . 3,991 251 256
Fair value of plan assets 3,395 3,108 - -
626 883 251 256

{} COMPONENTS OF PERIQODIC COST FOR DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER BENEFIT PLANS
The following table presents the periodic cost for the defined benefit pension plans:
oo T S
2006 2005 2004
] $ $

Current service cost, net of participant contributions 66 55 54
Interest cost 215 222 212
Actual return on assets {363) (350) (265)
Plan amendments 9 10 83
Recognized actuarial loss on accrued benefit obligation 7 354 193
Settlement, curtailment and special early retirement - 16 10
Benefit costs before adjustments to recognize the long-term nature of plans (66) 307 287

ADJUSTMENTS TO RECOGNIZE THE LONG-TERM NATURE OF PLANS:

Difierence between expected return and actual return on plan assets 132 123 35
Difference between actuartal loss recognized for year and actual actuarial

loss on accrued benefit obligation for year 55 (323} (188)
Difference between amortization of past service costs for year and actual

plan amendments for year 4 3 (74)
Defined benefit pension cost recognized 125 110 60

The following table presents the periodic cost for the cther benefit plans:

O L T T I T —_— S |
2006 2005 2004
s $ $
Current service cost, net of participant contributions 4. 3 2
Interest cost 13 13 13
Plan amendments - 20 12
Actuarial loss (gain) on accrued benefit obligation (6) 23 28
Curtailment and special early retirement - - 3
Benefit costs before adjustments to recognize the long-term nature of plans 11 59 58

ADJUSTMENTS TO RECOGNIZE THE LONG-TERM NATURE OF PLANS:
Difference between actuarial loss (gatn) recognized for year and actual

actuariai loss (gain) on accrued benefit obligation for year 10 (20) (25)
Difference between amortization of past service costs for year
and actual plan amendments for year 3 (19) (11}

Other benefit cost recognized 24 20 22
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21 EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS [CONTINUED)
J) MEASUREMENT DATE AND ASSUMPTIONS
The Company uses December 31 as the measurement date for all the defined benefit pension plans and other benefit plans.

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net defined bensfit plan and other benefit costs for the years ended as at
December 31, were as follows:

r—— | ‘
: 2006 2005 2004 |
% % %
Discount rate 5.25 6.00 6.25 ‘
Expected long-term return on plan assets 7.00 7.25 7.50 |
Rate of compensation increase 3.10 3.10 3.55 ‘
|
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, were as follows:
; — ,
2006 2005
% %
Discount rate 5.25 5.25
Rate of compensation increase 3.10 3.10
Assumed health care cost trend rate for other benefit plans as of December 31, was as follows:
o e e
2006 2005
% %
Initial health care cost trend rate 9.75 9.43
Cost trend rate declines to 6.13 6.14
Year that the rate reaches the rate it is assumed to remain at 2014 2014

K) SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
Assumed health care cost trend rate has an effect on the amounts reported for the other benefit plans. A one-percentage-point
increase or decrease in assumed health care trend rate would have the following impact on:

[ — 1
INCREASE DECREASE
OF 1% OF 1%
s s
Net periodic benefit cost’ 1 (1)

Accrued benefit obligation 20 {17)
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L) EXPECTED BENEFIT PAYMENTS
Benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid as follows for the years
ending December 31:

S [ - T /=7
EXPECTED
PENSION OTHER SUBSIDY
BENEFITS BENEFITS RECEIFTS'
5 $ s
2007 365 17 -
2008 230 18 -
2009 235 19 -
2010 241 20 -
2011 249 21 -
2012-2016 ’ 1,389 114 2

1 In 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug. Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 was passed, which introduced amengst athers, a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree
heatlth care benefit plans offering a prescription drug progrem comparable to Medicare's drug program. The FASB issued, in 2004, the FASE Staff Position 106-2, Acecunting and
Disclosure Rpquirements Related to the Medicane Prascription Drug, improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, which requires employers who sponsor post-retinerrent health
care plans that provide drug benefits to provide some disclosures as to the expectation of the subsidy that will ba received. This only applies to our US other benafit plans.

The estimates are based on assumptions about future events. Actual benefit payments may vary significantly from these estimates.

22 CAPITAL STOCK

e e et e cormrem ot bt o e

A} AUTHORIZED
The Cormpany is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act and is authorized to issue an unlimited number
of preferred shares and common shares.

B) ISSUED COMMON SHARES

it e . O S

S e U —

2006 2005 2004

MILLION MILLICN MILLION
SHARES $ SHARES $ SHARES H
Common shares, beginning of year 440 3,518 440 3,517 440 3,517
Share purchase financing agreements - - - i - -
Common shares, end of year 440 3,518 440 3,518 440 3,517

The outstanding employee stock purchase loans receivable from employees totalled $2 million as at December 31, 2006 (2005-%$2 mil-
lion, 2004 -$3 million). Those loans were granted to certain designated executives in an amount equal to the purchase price of
the common shares acquired and are recorded against “Capital stock” in the consolidated balance sheets. The loans mature at
various dates from 2007 to 2009. Interest is charged at the lesser of the prevailing prime rate and the amount of dividends
attributable 1o ownership of the common shares. The common shares are held as security until the loan is repaid.

On a per share basis, dividends declared for the year ended December 31, 2006 totalled $0.05 (2005-$0.10, 2004-$0.10).

On July 25, 2006, the Company's Board of Directors suspended dividend payments.
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23 EARNINGS (L.OSS) PER SHARE

I 1

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net earnings (ioss) attributable to comman shares by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings {loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net earnings (loss) attributable to common shares by the weighted
average number of common shares during the year, plus the potential dilutive effect of the exercise of stock options. The diluted
earnings (loss) per share is calculated using the treasury method. Under this method, the proceeds from potential exercise of
such stock options are assumed to be used to purchase common shares.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the exercise of outstanding stock options would have had a non-
dilutive effect on the earnings {loss) per share. )

24 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

o —

A) EMPLOYEE SHARE OWNERSHIP PLAN

On January 1, 2002, the Company introduced a stock ownership plan for its non-unicnized employees, including senior
executives. Under this plan, participants may contribute, through payroll deductions, up to $3,000 annually. Cn January 31
of each year, provided certain conditions are met, the Company will contribute an additional amount equal to 33% of the
total contribution made by each participant during the preceding year. The shares are purchased on the open market. Gver
the last three years, the Company has not incurred any significant expense under this plan.

B) DEFERRED SHARE UNIT PLANS

The Gompany has established a deferred share unit plan for designated senior executives. Under the terms of this plan, senior
executives can elect to have a portion of their annual incentive remuneration paid to them in the form of deferred share units
{"DSUs"). Each DSU is equivalent in vatue to a common share of the Company and is notionally credited with dividends when
sharsholders receive dividends from the Company. A DSU is paid to an executive upon termination of employment and is
payable, at the executive’s option, in the form of either cash or common shares of the Campany, which are purchased on the
open market. As at December 31, 2006, 623,126 DSUs were outstanding (2005-565,804 DSUs), and no significant amount was
payable under this plan.

Non-employee directors of the Company are also given the option to receive part of their annual retainer, meeting fees and
awards under the Directors' Share Award Plan in the form of DSUs. A DSU is paid to a director upon termination of Board
service and is payable in the form of cash. As at December 31, 2006, 272,636 DSUs were outstanding (2005-180,956 DSUs),
and no significant amount was payable under this plan.

In addition, over the last three years, no significant expense was incurred as a result of these plans.
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C) RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT PLAN

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company implemented a new restricted share unit (“RSUs") plan. This plan provides for the
granting of RSUs to executives and senior managers and, on an exceptional basis, other selected high potential an/or high
performing key employees. The vesting of RSUs will be entirely subject to the Company’s relative average financial performance
versus other companies that comprise the comparator group during a set period {usually over three years). The Human Rasources
and Compensation Committee approves, on an annual basis, the RSU grants, the financial benchmarks, the composition of the
comparator group, the period during which the Company's performance will be evaluated, as well as the vesting conditions.
During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company granted 909,565 RSUs (2005-747,895 RSUs). As at Decernber 2008,
2,298,508 RSUs were outstanding {2005-1,432,754 RSUs). During the year, under this plan, the Company has not incurred any
significant expense, and there was no significant amount payable.

D) STOCK OPTICN PLANS

The Company has stock opticn plans for eligible employees and non-employee directors of the Company, under which common
shares of the Company may be purchased at a price equal to the market price of the common shares at the granting date of the
option. The right to exercise the options generally vests over a period of four years of continuous employment or immediately
for non-employee directors of the Company. The options can be exercised over a period not to exceed 10 years from the date
of the grant. A maximum of 19,000,000 stock options may be granted under the plan for eligible employees. Following a decision
from the Board of Directors, there are no longer any options granted under the Directors’ Stock Options Plan.

Effective January 1, 2004, and retroactive to January 1, 2002, the Company records a stock options’ expense based on the
fair value-based method.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, under the stock option plans, as described above, an amount of $6 million
(2005-$8 miltion, 2004 —$6 million) was included in “Contributed surplus” in the consolidated balance shesets in conjunction
with the recognition of stock-based compensation expense. The related expense is included in “Selling, generat and
administrative expenses” in the consolidated statements of earnings.

The fair value of each option granted during the years ended Decernber 31, 20086, 2005 and 2004, was estimated on the
granting date using the Black & Scholes option-pricing mode! with the following weighted average assumptions;

g g o P O
2006 2005 2004
Assumptions
Dividend yield 2.5% 1.6% 1.0%
Volatility 36.6% 25.4% 32.5%
Risk-free interest rate 4.1% 4,1% 4.1%
Expected option lives (in years) 6.1 6.1 6.1

Weighted average fair value of each option ($/option) 1.32 211 4,19
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24 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS [CONTINUED)

A summary of the status of the stock option plans as at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and changes during the years

ended on those dates is presented below:

m— ot s e s e — - R

-

2006 2005

2004

WEIQHKTED WEIGHTED WEIGHTED

MMLONS  OXEROBE  (NMILONS  DEROSE  (NMLUONS  Execise

OF SHAAES) PRICE OF SHARES} PRICE OF SHARES) PRICGE

S/OPTION SOPTION $/OPTION

Outstanding, beginning of year 13.6 12.61 13.9 13.61 13.0 13.95

Granted 1.5 4.06 1.4 6.12 1.3 10.45

Forfeited (0.2) 13.18 (1.3} 15.06 (0.3) 13.91

Expired {0.4) 17.78 (0.4) 17.29 (0.1) 15.54

Outstanding, end of year 14.5 11.51 13.6 12.61 13.9 13.61

Options exercisable, end of year 10.7 13.19 9.7 13.89 9.5 14.61

The following tabla summarizes information about stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2006:
e — : . ' S =
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

RANGE OF EXERGISE PRICES OPTIONS AVERAGE WEIGHTED OPTIONS WEIGHTED

OUTSTANDING REMAINING AVERAGE EXERCISABLE AVERAGE

{IN MILLIONS LIFE EXERCISE {IN MILLIONS EXERCISE

OF SHARES) {IN YEARS) PRICE OF SHARES} PRICE

SOPTION SOPTION

$4.06 1.5 9 4.06 - 4.06

$6.12to $ 9.82 1.4 8 6.27 0.4 6.65

$9.93 to $10.66 1.3 7 10.45 0.6 10.45

$10.97 to $11.73 2.2 6 10.98 1.6 10.98

$11.77 10 $12.23 1.8 4 11.82 1.8 11.82

$12.86to $13.33 23 5 13.32 23 13.32

$13.42 to0 $14.27 ' 1.3 3 13.45 1.3 13.45

$14.40 to $15.37 1.5 2 14.43 1.5 14.43

$16.42 to $21.53 1.2 1 19.54 1.2 19.54

14.5 5 11.51 10.7 13.19

25 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT

(T P

Regarding investments in self-sustaining operatians, the foreign currency transfation adjustment represents the unrealized
gain or loss on the Company's net investment. These valuation adjustments are recognized in earnings only when there is

a reduction in the Company’s investment in the respective foreign operations.
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 S—— = A |
: 2006 2005
] s

Foreign currency translation adjustment, beginning of year (276) {336)
Unrealized gain (loss) for the year on translation of net assets 12 (60}
Business divestiture mores - 120

Foreign currency translation adjustment, end of year (264) (276)

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

{

A) FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company uses various financial instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. Furthermore, the
long-term debt expressed in US dollars is also considered an effective economic hedge against the exchange risk related to
the future revenue streams originating from sales denominated in US dollars.

The Company had the following US dollar zero cost tunnel contracts outstanding as at December 31:

L

MATURITY CONTRACT RATES TO CONVERT USS CONTRACT AMOUNT
INTO CANADIAN DOLLARS {IN MILLIONS OF U DOLLARS)
2006 2005 2006 2005

AVERAGE AVERAGE AVERAGE AVERAGE

FLOOR CEILING FLOOR CEILNG
2006 - - 1.2157 1.2754 - 407
2007 1.1123 1.1669 - - 217 -

The Company had the following US dollar forward exchange contracts outstanding as at December 31:

[ e S—

MATURITY CONTRAGT RATES TO CONVERT US$ CONTRACT AMOUNT
INTO CANADIAN DOLLARS (N MILLIONS OF US DOLLARS)
2006 2005 2006 2005
2006 - 1.1866 - 193
2007 1.1414 - 415 -

The Company had the following Euro zero cost tunnel contracts outstanding as at December 31:

L=

MATURITY CONTRACT RATES TO CONVERT CONTRACT AMOUNT

EUROS INTO CANADIAN DOLLARS {IN MILLIONS OF EURDS)

2006 2005 2006 2005
AVERAGE AVERAGE AVERAGE AVERAGE
FLOOA CEILING FLOOR CELING

2007 1.5000 1.5553 - - 60 -
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED}

The gains and losses on foreign exchange contracts are recognized in earnings when the related hedged revenue’is recorded.
As at December 31, 2008, the Company would have paid a net amount of $10 million (2005-$32 million received) had it settied
its then outstanding foreign exchange contracts.

B) INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company uses interest rate swap agreements to manage the fixed and floating interest rate mix of its recourse debt
portfolio and related cost of borrowing whereby it is committed to exchange with the contracting parties, at specific intervals,
the difference between the fixed and floating interest rates calculated by reference to the notional amounts. Interest expense
on the debt is adjusted to include payments made or received under these agreements. The related amount receivable or
payable from counterparts is included in “Accounts receivable” or “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities”.

As at December 31, 2008, in order to hedge changes in fair value that are dus to changes in markst interest rates for a portion
of the debt, the Company had US$B00 million (2005-US$800 million) of interest rate swap contracts designated as hedges of
various fixed rate notes that are maturing in 2008 through 2011. The interest paid under these agreements Is based on the six
month LIBOR rate.

The Company would have paid $37 million (2005-$41 million) had it settled its interest rate swap contracts designated as
hedges as at Decernber 31, 2006,

As at December 31, 2004, the Company had $6 million of deferred gain realized on the early termination of interest rates swap
contracts. In 2005, the Company recorded the gain in “Financial expenses” in the consolidated statements of earnings due to
the repayment of debt refated to that deferred gain.

Interest on bank facilities can fluctuate depending upon the Company's ratings.

C) CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company is exposed to credit risk on the accounts receivable from its customers. In order to manage its credit risk, the
Company has adopled poficies, which include the analysis of the financial position of its customers and the regular review of
their credit limits. The Company also subscribes to credit insurance and, in some cases, requires bank letters of credit. As a
result, the Company does not have significant exposure to any individual customer. Its customers are mainly in the newspaper
publishing, commercial printing, paper converting, advertising and lumber wholesaling and retailing businesses.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on the favorable fair value of its derivative financial instruments. In order to mitigate
that risk, the Company contracts its derivative financial instruments with credit-worthy financial institutions and sets a limit
on a percentage basis that it can contract with any given financial institution.

D) SECURITIZATION AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Company sells most of its trade accounts receivable through two securitization programs in order to reduce its working
capital raquirements. The Company has an ongeing securitization program committed until October 2008 to obtain aggregate
proceeds of up to $350 miflion (US$300 million) from North American accounts receivable as well as an angoing uncommitted
securitization program to obtain aggregate proceeds of up to $146 million (US$125 million) from international accounts receivable,
pursuant to sale agreements. The Company acts as a service agent and administers the collection of the accounts receivable
sold pursuant to these agreements. Since the fees received for servicing the accounts receivable approximate the value of
services rendered, no servicing asset or liability has been recorded.
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Under the programs, outstanding proceeds as at December 31, 2006 were $433 million out of total trade receivables sold of
$588 mitlion for a difference of $155 million, which is included in *Accounts receivable” in the consolidated balance sheets
(2005-$459 million out of total trade receivables sold of $599 million for a difference of $140 million).

The net cash paid during the year, $27 million (2005-%$29 millicn received, 2004 -$39 million paid), is presented as a change
in non-cash operating working capital components in the consolidated statements of cash flows. The net charge during the
year is included in *Other expenses (income)” in the consolidated statements of earnings.

E} FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The book value of the Company's other financial instruments, namely cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximates their fair value because of the short-term maturities of these items.

The differences between the carrying and the fair value of financial instruments contracted by the Company arise in part, from
changes in interest and exchange rates between the inception dates of these contracts and the balance sheet date. The Company
does not hold financial instruments for speculative purposes and the effect on the financial statements may vary depending on
future changes in interest and exchange rates. See note 20 “Long-term debt” for a comparison of the carrying and the {air value
of the Company’s long-term debt.

27 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

— ——— e e

A) CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of business activities, the Company is subject to a number of claims and legal actions that may be made
by customers, suppliers and others in respect of which either an adequate provision has been made or for which no malerial
liability is expected.

Although the Company considers the provision to be adequate for all its cutstanding and pending claims, the final cutcome with
respect to actions outstanding or pending as at December 31, 2006, or with respect to future claims, cannot be predicted with
certainty. It is management’s opinion that their resolution will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated
financial position, earnings and cash flows.

B) ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations, enacted by Federal, Provincial, State and local authorities.

In 20086, the Company’s operating expenditures for environmental matters, which comprise air emission, effluent treatment, landfili
operation and closure, bark pile management and silviculture activities, amounted to $82 million {2005-$88 million, 2004-$80 miltion).
‘The Company made capital expenditures for environmental matters of $20 million in 2006 (2005-$17 million, 2004335 million) for
the improvement of effluent treatment, air emissions and remedy actions to address environmental compliance.

While the Gompany believes that it has identified costs likely to be incurred in the next several years, based on known information,
for environmental matters, the Company’s ongoing efforts to identify potential environmental concerns that may be associated with
its properties may lead to future environmenta! investigations. These efforts may result in the identification of additional envircnmental
costs and liabilities, which cannot be reasonabtly estimated at this time.




86 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annual Report
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004
IN MILLIONS OF CANADIAN DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHEAWISE NOTED

27 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED}

Additional costs, not known or identifiabte, could be incurred for remediation efforts. Based on policies and procedures in place
to monitor environmental exposure, management believes that such additional remediation costs would not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, earnings and cash flows.

As at December 31, 2006, the Company had an aggregate provision of $19 million {2005-$23 million) for environmental matters.
The Company anticipates that most of the liability as at December 31, 2006 will be paid out over the next five years. Provisions
for environmental matters are not discounted and are included in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” on the consolidated
balance sheets.

As at December 31, 2006, the Company had an aggregate provision of $18 million (2005-$24 million) for asset retirement
obligations. The Company anticipates that most of the liability at December 31, 2006 will be paid out over the next five years.
Provision for asset retirernent obligations is discounted and is included in “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities” on the
consolidated balance sheets.

The Company has also identified other asset retirement obligations for which no liability has been recorded. These relate to
assets with an undetermined useful life, for which the Company does not have sufficient information to set a realistic obligation
maturity schedule. A liability stemming from these asset retirement obligations will be accounted for in the period in which there
is sufficient information to set an obligation maturity schedule. .
C) COMMITMENTS

In the normal course of its business activities, the Company has cornmitments under various equipment, office operating leases
and purchase obligations for expected cash outflows for the following years as presented herein:

- g - - )

et ,

$

2007 78
2008 47
2009 42
2010 . 38
2011 35
Thereafter 111
Total 351
D) INDEMNITIES

The Company has, over time, sold portions of its business. Pursuant to these sale agreements, the Company may have to
indemnify the purchasers bacause of representations, guarantees and related indemnities made by the Company on issues
such as tax, environment, litigation, employrment matters or as a result of other indemnification obligations. These types of
indemnification guarantees generally extend for periods not exceeding 10 years,

The Company is unable to estimate the potential liability for these types of indemnification guarantees as the amounts are
dependent upon the outcome of future contingent events, the nature and likelihood of which cannot be determined at this time.

However, the maximum guarantee is not to exceed the proceeds from the disposal, accordingly, no provisions have been recorded.

Historically, the Company has not incurred any significant expense under such agreements.
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2.8 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Y I s s o —— o T 4

INDEFINITELY IDLED PAPER MILL
On February 25, 2007, the Fort Willlam paper milt located in Thunder Bay, Ontario has been idled for an indefinite period.

ABITIBI-CONSOLIDATED INC. AND BOWATER INCORPORATED MERGER

On January 29, 2007, Abitibi-Consolidated tnc. and Bowater Incorporated announced a definitive agreement to combine in an
all-stock merger of equals. The combined company, to be called AbitibiBowater Inc., will be incorporated in Delaware: as the
new parent company and will apply to list its shares on the New York and Toronto stock exchanges.

Under the terms of the transaction, each common share of Abitibi-Consolidated will be exchanged for 0.06261 common share
of AbitibiBowater, and each Bowater common share will be exchanged for 0.52 common share of AbitibiBowater. The axchange
ratio will result in 48% of AbitibiBowater being owned by former Abitibi-Consolidated shareholders and 52% of Abitibil3owater
being owned by former Bowater shareholders.

The combination has been approved unanimously by the Boards of Directors of both companies, which received fairness
opinions from their respective financial advisors. The combination is subject to approval by the shareholders of both companies,
regulatory approvals, and customary closing conditions. It is expected to be completed in the third quarter of 2007, Abitibi-
Consolidated and Bowater will continue to operate separately until the transaction closes.

PARTNERSHIP IN ENERGY GENERATION

On January 28, 2007, Abitibi-Consolidated announced that it had entered into a binding letter of intent with the Caisse de
dépdt et placement du Québec (Caisse) to create a partnership for the Company's Ontario hydroelectric assets, consisting
of approximately 137 Megawatts of installed capacity. The Company retains a 75% interest in the partnership, called ACH
Limited Partnership, while the Caisse will acquire a 25% interest. The Caisse has also provided a commitment to ACH Limited
Partnership for a 10 year unsecured term loan of $250 millicn, non recourse to the Company, to partially fund the acquisition
of the facilities. The transaction, on a consolidated basis, is expected to yield gross proceeds of $297.5 million to Abitibi-
Consolidated. Closing of the transaction is expected to take place in the first half of 2007 and is subject to execution of
definitive agreements and certain other conditions and approvals.

20 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES
GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

 — = o - _1

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAPR, which differ in some
respects from US GAAP. The following are the significant differences in accounting principles as they pertain to the consolidated
financial statements.
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29 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)
A) NET EARNINGS (LOSS) ADJUSTMENTS
The following table provides a reconciliation of the net earnings {loss} under Canadian GAAP to US GAAP:

B ——— ) -
2006 2005 2004
' s $
Net earnings (loss), as reported in the consolidated statements
of earnings per Canadian GAAP 54 {350) (36)
Current year adjustments
Contract for the purchase of energy* 2 - -
Stock option expense’ - - (2)
Income tax expense (1) - -
Net earnings (loss}, as adjusted per US GAAP 55 (350) (38)
Composition of net earnings, as adjusted per US GAAP
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 55 (350) (113)
Earnings from discontinued operations® - - 75
Net earnings (loss), as adjusted per US GAAP 55 (350) (38)
Per common share (basic and diluted), as adjusted per US GAAP
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 0.12 (0.80) (0.26)
Earnings from discontinued operations® - - 0.17
Net earnings (loss), as adjusted per US GAAP 012 (0.80) (0.09)
All numerical references in this tabla relate to note 26 D).
B) CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
The following table presents the condensed consolidated balance sheets under Canadian and US GAAP:
SR - s — —
2006 2005
CANADIAN us CANADIAN us
GAAP GAAP QAAP GAAP
s * s 5
ASSETS
Current assets'?® 1,371 1,354 1,207 1,218
Investments® 10 32 9 31
Property, plant and equipment® 3,984 3,950 4,260 4,226
Intangible assets® 460 460 473 568
Employee future benefits® 328 19 248 33
Future income taxes® 322 354 414 428
Other assets 190 190 137 137
Goodwill* 1,297 1,254 1,296 1,253

7,962 7,613 8,044 7,894
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C D—— A [
2006 2005
CANADLAN us CANADIAN us
aasP GARP GAAP GaAP
s $ $ s

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY B

Current liabilities ¥*° 857 896 951 984
Long-tert debt** 3,792 3,731 3,744 3,679
Employee future benefits® 162 877 154 700
Future income taxes*™ 629 322 716 528
Other long-term liability . - 17 - -
Non-controlling interests® 71 65 78 78
Shareholders’ equity **"* 2,451 1,705 2,401 1,925
7,962 7,613 8,044 7,894

All numerical refarences in this tabte relate to note 26 D).

C} CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
The following table presents the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows under Canadian and US GAAP:

— T T O T T L Lot LTI
2006 2005 2004
CANADIAN us CAMADLAN us CANALMAN us
GAAP QAAP GAAP GANP GAAP GAAP
s s $ $ [ s
Cash flows from {used in) operating activities® 232 225 164 159 (3} 8
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities® 22 23 (797} (796) 61 168
Cash flows from (used in} investing activities® (123) (117) 566 592 (86) (49)
Cash generated by discontinued operations® - - 3 - 15 -
Increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 131 131 (64) (45) 87 127
Currency translation adjustment on cash 5 5 {4) (4) (5) (4)
Cash and cash equivalents (bank indebtedness},
beginning of year® 67 62 135 111 53 (12)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year® 203 198 67 . .62 135 111

All numerical referances in this table refate to note 29 D).

D) DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND US GAAP

1) CURRENCY OPTIONS AND FORWARD EXCHANGE CONTRACTS

The Company has cutstanding options and/or forward exchange contracts, which it designates as cash flow hedges of antici-
pated future revenue for a maximum period of two years. On January 1, 2001, under US GAAP, the Company adopted the FASB
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (*SFAS™) 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as
amended. In accordance with this statement, the Company has recorded in its balance sheets the fair value of the options and
forward exchange contracts used to hedge a portion of the Company's revenues. Changes in the fair value of these options
and forward exchange contracts are recorded in “Other comprehensive income (loss)", a separate component of shareholders’
equity until the underlying transaction is recorded in earnings. There are no similar fair value recognitions under Canadian GAAP,
When the hedged item affects earnings, gains or losses are reclassified from “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)”
to the consolidated statements of earnings on the same ling as the underlying transaction (“Sales™). Any ineffective portion of
hedging derivative’s change in falr value is recognized immediately into earnings. The fair value of derivative contracts that is
recognized in the balance sheets is included in “Accounts receivable” or “Accounts payable and accrued liabilities”. Cash flows
refated to the derivative instruments are included in operating activities.
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29 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEFTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)
Based on the current value, the estimated net amount of the existing loss for options and forward exchange contracts on the
reporting date that is expected to be reclassified to earnings within the next 12 months amounts to $10 million.

2) INTEREST RATE SWAP CONTRACTS

The Gompany has outstanding interest rate swap contracts, which it designates as a fair value hedge related to variations of the
fair value of its long-term debt due to change in LIBOR interest rates. Under Canadian GAAR, an outstanding interest rate swap
contract’s fair value is not recognized on the balance sheets. In US GAAP under SFAS 133, when an interest rate swap contract
is designated as an effective fair value hedge of the debt, the swap is measured at fair value on the balance sheets and the offset
is applied to the book value of the debt. Cash flows related to the derivative instruments are included in operating activities.

3) JOINT VENTURES
The Company accounts for its joint venture investments using the proportionate consolidation method. Under US GAAF, these
joint ventures would be accounted for using the equity method. This difference does not affect net earnings.

4) DUPLICATE PROPERTY PROVISIONS

Up to July 1, 2001, Canadian GAAP permitted the acquirer in a business combination accounted as a purchase to adjust to
fair value specific assets and obligations of the acquirer as if they were those of the acquired Company. These are referred to as
the duplicate property provisions. US GAAP would not have permitted this accounting treatment in accordance with Emerging
Issues Task Force Abstract 95-3, Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Cornbination and these
costs would have been recorded in earnings.

5) EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

Effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 158, Accounting for Defined Benefit Plans and Other Post-Retirernent
Benelits—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132 (R}, This standard requires an employer to recognize the
overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit post-retirement plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial
position and to recognize changes in that status in the year in which the change cccurs through “Other comprehensive income
(loss)”. SFAS also eliminates the early measurement date option and provides for additional annual disclosures. The Company
currently measures its plan assets and benefit obligations as of December 31 each year. There are no such requirements under
Canadian GAAP. The following table presents the incremental effect of applying this statement on individual line iterns in the
consolidated balance shest as at December 31, 20086:

S —— — - -
BEFORE APPLICATION OF INCREMENTAL EFFECT OF AFTER APPLICATICN OF
SFAS NO. 158 APPLYING SFAS NO. 158 SFAS NO. 158
s s s
Intangible assets 528 (68) 460
Employee future benefits 328 (309} 19
Future income taxes 332 22 354
Total assets 7,968 (355) 7,613
Employee future benefits 525 352 877
Future income taxes 538 (216) 322
Non-controlling interests 71 (6) 65

Accumulated other comprehensive income (468) (485) (953)

Total liabilities and sharehelder’s equity 7,968 (355) 7,613
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Components of net periodic benefit cost:

o T e - ~
_—

PENSION BENEFTT PLANS OTHERA BENEFIT PLANS

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
$ 5 s ' s 3

Service cost 66 55 54 4 3 2
Interest cost 215 222 212 13 13 13
Expected return on plan assets (231) {227) (230) - - -
Amortization of past service cost 13 .13 9 3 1 1
Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss 62 31 5 4 3 3
Settlement, curtailment and special early retirement - 16 10 - - 3
Net periodic benefit cost 125 110 60 24 20 22

Amounts expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost:

—— " — . |
PENSION OTHER
BENEFIT BENEFIT
PLANS PLANS
2007 2007
s $
Past service cost amortization 13 3
Net actuarial loss amortization 61 3

Until the adoption of SFAS 158, the provisions of SFAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions reguired the Company to record
an additional minimum pension liability for plans where the accumulated benefit obligation exceeded plan assets’ fair value. With
regards to these plans, an intangible asset was recorded up to the extent of unrecognized past service costs. The balance was
recorded net of income tax in “Other comprehensive income (loss)”. There were no such requirements under Canadian GAAP.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the pension plans with accumulated
benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $2,509 million, $2,292 million and $1,930 milflion, respectively, as at December 31,
2006 {2005-$3,926 miliion, $3,590 million and $3,041 million, respectively).

Accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31, 2006 amounted to $3,916 million (2005 -$3,823 miillion).

6) ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE .
As at December 31, 2006, accounts receivable inciuded $90 million of non-trade receivables and nil of income tax receivables
{2005-%94 million of non-trade receivables and $85 million of income tax receivables).

7) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123 (Revised). This standard amends SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation and supersedes SFAS 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosura-an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. The principal amendments relate to the requirement to use a fair value method to
record stock-based compensation, to the measurement methodology to evaluate equity instruments such as options and to
the financial statement disclosure requirements. The measuremant methodelogy must specifically provide for an estimation

of forfeitures of employee stock awards, and compensation cost shall only inctude cost for awards expected to vest, As the
fair value provisions of SFAS No. 123 (R) are consistent with the Company’s stock-based compensation pfans, the application
of this standard has not had significant impacts on its consolidated financial statements.
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26 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

Effective January 1, 2004, for US GAAP purposes, the Company adopted the fair value method of accounting using the
modified prospective method of SFAS 148. Accordingly, the compensation expense for 2004 reflects the fair value of all stock
options granted since January 1, 2004 as well as the relevant portion of grants made prior to January 1, 2004 that wers not
vested at that date.

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company adopted the recommendations of Section 3870 of the Handbook, Stock-Based
Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments which also states that a fair value based measurement must be used.
However, the recommendations were applied retroactively with restatement for all stock options granted since January 1,
2002. Consequently, under US GAAP, there is no difference in the compensation expense for 2006 and 2005 (2004 -the
compensation expense was $2 million higher).

8) DIVIDENDS FROM INVESTMENTS SUBJECT TO SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE
For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company received dividends or cash distributions in the amount of $5 miliion
from its joint ventures {2005-$25 million, 2004 ~$31 million).

9) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ,

On Novernber 17, 2005, the Company completed the sale of its 50% share ownership in PanAsia. Under Canadian GAAP, the
Company's share in the results, prior to the sale, is reported as discontinued operations. Under US GAAR, as the investment
was accounted for using the equity method, there are no discontinued operations.

Under US GAAP, the amount for each category of cash flows from discontinued operations presented in note 8 would be
presented directly on the statement of cash flows.

10) RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT TAX CREDITS

Tax credits relating to research and development ara racognized in earnings as a reduction of the related expenses, which are
part of cost of products sold, when the Company has made the qualifying expenditures and has a reasonable assurance that
the credits will be realized.

Under US GAAP, those tax credits have been recorded as a reduction of the income tax expense or an increase of the income
tax recovery. The tax credits relating to research and development for the year ended December 31, 2006 amounted to
$29 million (2005-$52 million, 2004 -$13 million).

11) INVENTORY COSTS

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 151, Inventory Costs—an amendment of FASB Statement No. 43,
Chapter 4, issued by the FASB. This standard requires the allocation of fixed production overheads over normal capacity and
the expensing of abnormal amounts of idled facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material. The application of
this standard has not had significant impacts on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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12) CONTRACT FOR THE PURCHASE OF ENERGY AND QUANTIFYING FINANCIAL STATEMENT MISSTATEMENTS

In September 2008, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (*SAB”) No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements. SAB 10B was issued in order to efiminate
the diversity of practice surrounding how public companies quantify financial statement misstatements.

Traditionally, there have been two widely-recognized methods for quantifying the effects of financial statement misstatements:

the “roll-over” method and the “iron curtain” method. The roll-over method focuses primarily on the impact of a misstatement on
the income statement—including the reversing effect of prior year misstatements—but its use can lead to the accumulation of
misstatements in the balance sheet. The iron-curtain method, on the other hand, focuses primarily on the effect of correcting the
period-end balance sheet with less emphasis on the reversing effects of prior year errors on the income statement. Prior to the
application of the guidance in SAB 108, the Company used the roll-over method for quantifying financial statement misstatements,

In SAB 108, the SEC staff established an approach that requires quantification of financial statement misstatements based on
the effects of the misstatements on each of the Company’s financial statements and the related financial statement disclosures.
This mode! is commonly referred to as a “dual approach™ because it requires quantification of errors under both the iron curtain
and the roll-over methods.

SAB 108 permits the Company to initially apply its provisions either by (i) restating prior financial statements as if the “dual
approach” had always been applied or (i) recording the cumulative effect of initially applying the “dual approach™ as adjustments
to the book values of assets and liabilities as of January 1, 2006 with an offsetting adjustment recorded to the opening balance
of retained earnings (deficit). The Company previously quantified the errors described below under the roll-over method and
concluded that they were immaterial—individually and in the aggregate for all the periods in which the misstatement originated.
The Company elected to record the effects of applying SAB 108 using the cumulative effect transition method. The following
table summarizes the effects up to January 1, 2006 of applying the guidance in SAB 108:

S _ L T T T T T T e
PERIOD IN WHICH THE MISSTATEMENT ORIGINATED
ADJUSTMENT
CUMULATIVE RE CORDED
PRIOR TO AS OF
JANUARY YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 JANUARY 1
2004 2004 2005 2006
$ 5 s s
Other long-term liabitity (1) 26 (3) (6) 17
Future inconie tax liabilities (11} (8) | 2 (5}
Foreign currency translation adjustment - - 2 2
Impact on net earnings (loss) (111) (18) 2 2

Deficit (1v) (14)
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29 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES (CONTINUED)

n A contract for the purchase of energy, containing embedded derivatives signed in 1998 was deemed acquired in April 2000 in
the business combination of the Company and Donohue Inc. Therefore, this contract should have been marked-to-market with
changes in fair value flowing through net earnings (loss) since the adoption of SFAS 133 in 2001. As a result of this error, the
Company’s cost of products sold was understated by $26 million (cumulatively) in years prior to 2004, overstated by $3 miliion
in 2004 and by $3 million in 2005. The Company recorded a $17 million increase in long term liability as of January 1, 2006 with
$14 million increase in deficit to correct these misstatements.

m As a result of the misstatements described, the Company's provision for income taxes was overstated by $8 million
(curmnulatively) in years prior to 2004, understated by $1 million in 2004 and by $1 million in 2005.

1y Represents the net under-statement (over-statement) of net earnings {loss) for the indicated periods resulting from
these misstatements.

1vy Represents the net increase to deficit recorded as of January 1, 2006 to record the initial application of SAB 108.

The effect on the statement of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2006 was a reduction of $2 million of cost of
products sold and an increase of $1 million of income tax expense. In addition, foreign currency translation adjustment
was positively impacted by $1 million in 20086 in “Other comprehensive income (loss)”.

E} COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

1) COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Under US GAAP, the Company is required to prepare a distinct statement of comprehensive income {loss). This statement
woulld be as follows for the years ended December 31:

b —

2006 2005 2004
s $ s
Net earnings {loss) in accordance with US GAAP 55 (350) (38)
Other comprehensive income {loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustment™ i1 60 (70)
Loss on currency options and forward exchange contracts qualifying as a
cash flow hedge, net of taxes of $14 million (2005-$18 million, 2004—3$3 million}' (29) (42) {6)
Additional minimum liability adjustment of defined benefit pension
plans, net of taxes of $112 million (2005—$38 million, 2004—$76 million)® 256 (80) {175}
238 (62) (251}
Comprehensive income (loss) 293 (412) (289)

All numerical references in this table relate to note 29 D).
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11} ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME {LOSS)

| —— e — T
2006 2005
s s
Fore‘ign currency translation adjustment 2 (263) (276)
Unrealized gain (loss) on currency options and forward exchange contracts, net of taxes’ (7) 22
Additional minimum liability of defined benefit pension plans, net of taxes® - (454)
Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and past service cost on defined benefit
pension and other benefit plans, net of taxes® (683) -
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (953) (708)

All numerical raferences in this table relate to note 29 D).

F) RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

ACCOUNTING FOR UNCERTAINTY IN INCOME TAXES

During the year, the FASB has issued FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. This standard prescribes recognition
and measurement model for tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and provides guidance on the '
recognition, reclassification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim period, disclosure and transition. The Company will
apply this standard on January 1, 2007. The application of this standard is not expected to have significant impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements,

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

During the year, the FASB has issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Meastrements. This standard establishes a framework for measuring
fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The Company must apply this standard at the latest
on January 1, 2008. The Company will evaluate the effect of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
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Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annal Repert

— - - 1
- o am am YEAR
QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER GUARTER 2008
s s s s s
Sales 1,237 1,253 1,181 1,180 4,851
Cost of products sold, excluding amortization 906 919 897 890 3,612
Distribution costs 129 129 130 129 517
Countervailing, anti-dumping and other duties 9 10 7 (195) (169)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 40 26 34 33 133
Mili closure and other elements 2 10 1 (22) (9)
Amortization of plant and equipment 106 107 106 105 424
Amortization of intangible assets 4 4 4 4 i6
QOperating profit (loss) from continuing operations 41 48 2 236 327
Financial expenses 83 84 86 54 307
Loss (gain) on translation of foreign currencies 15 {156) - 131 (10)
Other expenses (income) 7 7 8 - 6 28
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before the following items (64) 113 (92) 45 2
Income tax expense (recovery) {40) {53) (52) 60 (85)
Share of earnings from investments subject to significant influence - 1 - 3 4
Non-controlling interests 9) (10) (8) (10) 37)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (33) 157 (48) (22) 54
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations - - - - -
Net earnings (loss} {33) 157 (48) (22) 54
Per common share (in dollars, basic and diluted)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (0.08) 0.36 {0.11) {0.05) 0.12
Net earnings (loss) (0.08) 0.36 (0.11) {0.05) 0.12
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding v wwons 440 440 440 440 440
Common shares outstanding, end of period e uruons: 440 440 440 40 440
SHIPMENTS
Newsprint’ 880 853 848 205 3,486
Commercial printing papers' 419 462 446 421 1,748
Wood products? 499 541 439 379 1,858

1 In thousands of tonnas
2 In millions of board feet
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j a— SRR
" 2 3w 4m YEAR
QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER QUARTER 2005
s s s s s
Sales 1,323 1,354 1,355 1,310 5,342
Cost of products sold, excluding amortization 970 961 966 969 3,866
Distribution costs 145 146 152 148 591
Countervailing, anti-dumping and other duties 19 18 17 13 67
Selling, general and administrative expenses 42 42 44 41 169
Mill closure and other elements 8 1 18 19 46
Amortization of plant and equipment 124 125 146 468 863
Amortization of intangible assets 4 4 4 4 16
Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations 11 57 8 (352) {276)
Financial expenses 93 105 101 113 412
Loss (gain) on translation of foreign currencies 28 60 (206) 17 (101)
Other expenses (income) 2 4 (2) 6 10
_ Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before the following items (112) (112) 115 (488) {597)
Income tax expense (recovery) (64) (69) 13 (151) (271)
Share of earnings from investments subject to significant influence - 1 - 1 2
Non-controlling interests (6} (7) (7) (9) (29)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (54) (49) 95 (345) (353)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations 3 6 4 (10) 3
Net earnings {loss) (51) (43} 99 (355) (350}
Per common share (in dollars, basic and diluted)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (0.13}) (0.11) 0.22 (0.79) (0.81)
Net earnings (loss) (0.12} (0.10) 0.23 (0.81) (0.80)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding s miuons) 440 440 440 440 440
Common shares outstanding, end of period ovmiuons 440 440 440 440 440
SHIPMENTS
Newsprint' 979 979 1,014 1,000 3,972
Commercial printing papers’ 447 436 451 448 1,782
Wood products® 525 515 479 446 1,965

1 In thousands of tonnes
2 In milttons of board feet
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2006 2005

s s

EARNINGS"?
Sales 4,851 5,342
Cost of products sold, excluding amortization 3,612 3,866
Distribution costs 517 591
Countervailing, anti-dumping and other duties (169) 67
Selling, general and administrative expenses 133 169
Mill closure and other elements 9) 46
Amortization of plant and equipment 424 863
Amortization of intangible assets 16 16
Goodwill impairment - -
Operating profit (loss) from continuing operations 327 (276)
Financial expenses 307 412
Loss {gain) on translation of foreign currencies (10) {101}
Other expenses {income) 28 10
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before the following items 2 (597)
Income tax expense (recovery} (85) (271)
Share of earnings from investments subject to significant influence 4 2
Non-controlling interests (37) (29)
Goodwill amortization - -
Earnings {loss) from continuing operations 54 (353)
Earnings from discontinued operations - 3
Net earnings (loss) 54 (350)
Net earnings (loss) per common share® 0.12 (0.80)
Dividends declared per common share® 0.05 0.100
BALANCE SHEETS"*
Current assets 1,371 1,207
Current assets of discontinued operations - .-
Property, plant and equipment 3,984 4,260
Intangible assets 460 473
Employee future benefits 328 248
Future income taxes 322 414
Investments and other assets 200 146
Goodwill 1,297 1,296
Non-current assets of discontinued operations -~ -
Total assets 7,962 8,044
Current liabilities 857 951
Current liabilities related to discontinued operations - -
Long-terrn debt 3,792 3,744
Employee future benefits 162 154
Future income taxes 629 716
Deferred gain - =
Non-controlling interests 71 78
Non-current liabilities related to discontinued operations - -
Shareholders’ equity 2,451 2,401
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 7,962 8,044
Book value per share® 5.57 5.45

1 Financial resuits prior to April 18, 2000 represent Donohue Inc. operations only, and results of Abltibi-Consolidated Inc. are included only from that date.

2 Certain financial statements figures have been rectassified to conform to the current year presentation.
3 Financiat information per share and the number of shares have been calculated to reflect the three for two stock split in 1999, and the impact of share exchange
based on reverse take-over method of purchase accounting in 2000.
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2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1997
H H $ s 3 s H
5,299 4,980 5,221 6,002 5,355 2,498 2,261 1,667 1,572
3,770 3,809 3,789 3,777 3,618 1,643 1,375 1,001 847
592 555 578 568 278 271 201 171 165
50 77 26 26 2 7 6 (2) 15
169 169 153 159 156 64 63 53 51
39 67 - - - - - - -
919 641 597 594 467 209 179 151 127
16 16 16 16 12 3 3 3 3
- 21 - - - - - - -
(256) (375) 62 862 822 301 434 290 364
375 376 422 443 384 93 9% 82 67
(317) (739) (62) 265 95 - - - -
(16) 8 14 16 (6) (14) 5 1 2
(298) (20) (312) 138 349 222 333 207 295
(176) (161) {205) 56 136 34 113 83 113
6 - - - - — — — —_
(10} 11 {5) (18) (12) (10) (15) (9) (15)
- - - 40 30 10 10 - -
(126) 152 (112) 24 171 168 195 115 167
90 23 369 82 122 48 34 40 31
(36) 175 257 106 293 216 229 155 198
(0.08) 0.40 0.58 0.24 0.76 0.86 0.93 0.63 0.82
0.100 0.175 0.400 0.400 0.360 0.238 0.224 0.202 0.233
1,228 1,051 1,316 1,411 1,458 736 803 520 562
174 187 204 229 201 55 57 51 47
5,005 5,709 6,257 6,681 6,818 2,513 2,405 1,717 1,768
468 485 501 517 532 44 47 51 54
176 56 12 - - - - - -
389 296 221 99 16 14 10 - -
145 360 334 152 120 101 175 95 74
1,296 1,294 1,325 1,322 1,337 154 158 - -
906 803 986 1,057 676 m 123 132 138
9,787 10,241 11,156 11,468 11,158 3,728 3,778 2,566 2,643
1,373 1,174 1,128 1,275 1,564 422 531 310 363
181 191 197 140 134 9 16 69 65
4,121 4,504 5,219 5,532 5,031 1,281 1,341 742 908
150 142 147 204 257 38 36 7 8
853 905 956 954 871 41 392 200 173
- 122 134 - - - - - -
83 125 37 37 41 45 61 48 47
300 208 252 355 276 23 24 25 25
2,726 2,870 3,086 2,971 2,984 1,489 1,377 1,165 1,054
9,787 10,241 11,156 11,468 11,158 3,728 3,778 2,566 2,643
6.19 6.52 7.01 6.75 6.78 5.99 5.57 4.69 4.25
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2006 2005
$ $

CASH FLOWS"?
CONTINUING OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations and items not affecting cash 399 131 ‘
Changes in non-cash operating working capital components (167) 33 1
Cash flows from (used in) continuing operating activities 232 164 ;
FINANCING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Increase in long-term debt 558 1,172
Repayment of long-term debt (470} (1,881)
Cash contributions by non-controlling interests - -
Dividends and cash distributions paid to shareholders and to non-controlling interests (66} (75}
Net proceeds on issuance of shares - 1
Other - (14)
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities of continuing operations 22 {797)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (168) (177)
Business acquisitions, net of cash and cash equivalents - (13)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests - -
Net proceeds on disposal of discontinued operations - 693
Other 45 63
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities of continuing operations (123) 566
Cash generated by (used in) continuing operations 131 (67)
Cash generated by (used in} discontinued operations - 3
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 131 (64)
SHIPMENTS
Newsprint gn THousans oF TonNES) 3,486 3,972
Commercial printing papers gn ousanns o ronnes; 1,748 1,782
Wood products onMiuons or s Feen 1,858 1,965
RATIOS
Return on shareholders’ equity m 2.2 (13.7)
Net debt to total capitalization 0.592 0.598

1 Financial results prior 1o April 18, 2000 represent Donohue Inc. operations only, end results of Abitibi-Consolidated Inc. are included only from that date.

2 Certain financial statements figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation,

3 Financial information per share and the number of shares have been calculated to reflect the three for two stock split in 1999, and the impact of share exchange

based on reverse take-over method of purchase accounting in 2000.
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2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
$ 4 $ $ % $ 5 $ s
|
i 143 (174) 196 929 850 398 403 314 362
| {146) 193 (46) (82) 167 (78) 29 (6) (152)
. (3) 19 150 847 1,017 320 432 308 210
1,004 1,466 733 1,579 5,316 144 874 306 957
(766) (1,231) (1,061) (1,489) (3,989) (140) (373) (574) (284)
3 32 - - - - - - -
(71) (115) (181) (198) (1,746) (68) (71) (59) (71)
- 2 - - 3 10 8 6 181
(9) (9) - - (92) (18) {8) (4) (11)
161 145 (509) (108) (508) (72) 430 (325) 772
(256) (229) (204) (421) (514) (287) (110) (75) (92)
8 - - (286) {41) (82) (675) 9 (1,068)
(7) - - - - - - - -
112 - 460 - _ - - - -
57 (46) (46) 16 9 - (1) 6 -
(86) (275) 210 (691) (546) (369) (786) (78) {1,160)
72 (111) (149) 48 (37) (121) 76 (95) (178)
15 39 92 33 137 52 (15) 48 122
87 (72) (57) 81 100 (69) 61 (47) (56)
3,971 4,061 4,070 4,055 4,378 2,275 1,848 1,439 1,189
1,738 1,727 1,695 1,693 1,361 271 248 98 89
2,169 1,930 1,759 1,704 1,828 1,476 1,325 1,275 1,136
(1.3) 5.9 8.5 36 13.1 15.1 18.0 14.0 222
0.616 0.610 0.626 0.648 0.632 0.468 0.478 0.406 0.479
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Effective June 30, 2005, the Canadian Securities Administrators adopted National Instrument 58-101, entitled “Disclosure
of Corporate Governance Practices” (“NI-58-101") and the associated National Policy 58-201, antitled “Corporate Governance
Guidelines” ("NP 58-201™ which require the Company to disclose in the Management Proxy Circular information relating
to its corporate governance practices. Reference is mads to the Company's Annual Information Form for the year ended
December 31, 2006 for disclosure of information relating to the Company’s Audit Committee, as required under Multilateral
Instrurment 52-110, entitled “Audit Committees”.

The Company's shares are also listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE"). In 2003, the NYSE adopted new
corporate governance rules (as amended, the “NYSE Standards”}. As a foreign private issuer on the NYSE, the Company is
generally permitted to comply with Canadian governance standards in lieu of the NYSE Standards applicable to U.S. domestic
issuers. The Company is, hawever, required to follow certain requirements applicable to audit committees and must disclose
any practices that differ significantly from the NYSE Standards.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act provides additional disclosure rules that apply to the Company addressing matters such as the reporting
of concerns and complaints by employees and codes of ethics.

The corporate governance practices and policies of the Company have been developed under the general stewardship of the
Corporate Governance Committes of the Board. The Company's governance practices are believed by the Board-to be in full
alignment with the requirements and guidelines of NI 58-101 and NP 58-201 and the applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act. The Company also complies with all mandatory requirements of the NYSE and all other non-mandatory NYSE Standards,
except as disclosed below. The Company reviews its practices an a continuing basis to ensure compliance with evolving laws and
regulations. In this regard, the Corporate Governance Committee, together with Management, has developed and implemented,
and continues to develop, implement and refine, formal policies and procedures that reflect the Company’s commitment to
exemplary corporate governance.

The following chart provides an analysis of the Company's governance practices, as at March 6, 2007, in relation to each of the
corporate governance disclosure requirements of the Canadian Securities Administrators set out in NI 58-101 and Form 58-101F1,
and the governance standards of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and of the NYSE.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS'

COMMENTS

[

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

— —

Y |

a) Disclose the identity of directors who are independent.

The Board has reviewed the independence of each director, within the
meaning of NI 58-101. Of all of the Company's directors, the Boad has
determnined that only John W, Weaver, the President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, is not “Independent”, within the meaning of

NI 58-101. The Board has determined that all of its other directors are
currently “independent” within the meaning of NI 58-101, inclucling
Mr. David Galloway, who is a first-time nominee to the Board.

In determining whether dimectors are independent, the Board considers and
discusses the nature and materiality of all direct or indirect relationships
between each director and the Company or its subsidiaries and affiliates,
including any family, customer, joint venture, partnership, supplier or service
provider relationships.

The relationships of Marlene Davidge and David Ward as partners of firms
providing legat services to the Company were analysed by the Board and
found not to interfera with their independence. The Board considered the
natura of the services provided by the law firms (including the amount of
compensation received by the firms and the level of involvement of each
director in the provision of the services) and ¢concluded that the service
provider relationships described above are not material and dic not
interfere with the ability of either Mrs. Davidge or Mr. Ward to act in the
Company’s best interest. Mr. Ward left the Board on May 9, 2006.

b) Disclose the identity of directors who are not independent,
and describe the basis for that detenmination.

As indicated in section 1{a) above, only John W. Weaver, being the President
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is not an “independert” director,
within the meaning of NI 58-101.

¢) Disclose whether or not a majority of the directors are independent.

NYSE STANDARDS

Under the NYSE Standards, there is a similar requirement that a majority
of directors be “independent”. Such independence is contingent on an
affirmative determination by the Board that a director has no material
relationship with the listed company (eithar directly or as a partner,
_shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with

the Company). Certain listed relationships serve as bars to independence.
The prohibition generally extends for a period of three years following
the end of the relationship.

The Board has determined that nine out of the ten directors of the Company
nominated for election are “independent”, within the meaning of NI 58-101.

Under the NYSE Standards, the Board has determined that John W, Weaver is
nct considerad “independent”. All other directors are deemed “independent”
for purposes ot the NYSE Standards.

d} If adirector is presently a director of any issuer that is a reporting issuer
{or the equivatent} in a jurisdiction or a foreign jurisdiction, identify both
the director and the other issuer.

All directorships with other reporting issuers for each director are sat
out in the Company’s Management Proxy Circular dated March 6, 2007
(the “Management Proxy Circular”).

1 Reference is made to the itams in Form 58-101F1,
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) Disclose whether or not the independent directors hold regularty
scheduled mestings at which non-independent directors and members
of management are not in attendance. If the independent directors
hold such meetings, disclose the number of mestings held since the
beginning of the issuer's most recently completed financial year.

As further discussed in the Management Proxy Circular, fallowing each
meeting, the Board conducts “in camera” sessions, which are presided
over by the Chair of the Board, at which no Management directors or
members of Management are present. There were seven “in camera”
sessions of independent directors between January 1, 2006 and
December 31, 2006.

f) Disclose whether or not the Chair of the Board is an independent director,
disclose the identity of the independent chair, and describe his or her role
and responsibilities,

NYSE STANDARDS

The NYSE Standards also contain a similar requirernent that non-
management directors meat at regularly scheduled executive
sessions without management and require a Company to disclose
a method for interested parties to communicata directly with
non-management directors.

The position of Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Board are split.

Mr. Richard Drouin, the Chair of the Board until January 1%, 2007, was
an independent director.

Mr. Jacques Bougie, who became the Chair of the Board on January 1,
2007, is an independent director.

The Chair of the Board has the respansibility of overseeing the efficient
operation of the Board and its committees. The Chair acts as an ex-officio
member of each committes of the Board and, as such, one of his principal
duties is to properly evaluate the effectiveness of the committee structure
and the quality of Management's work that is presented in support of the
decision-making process of the Board. The Chair also serves as Chair of
the Corporate Governance Committee of the Board.

The Chair of the Board presides over non-Management directors’ meetings.
Any Interested party may communicate with the Chair regarding any other
concerns at the Company’s corporate address: 1155 Metcalfe Street, Suite
800, Montréal, Québec, Canada, H3B 5H2.

g} Disclose the attendance record of each director for all board meetings
held since the beginning of the most recently completed financial year.

A record of the attendance of each director at mestings of the Boand and
its commitiees since the beginning of the last financial year is set out under
the heading “Nominees” in the Management Proxy Circular.

S

2. BOARD MANDATE

it —

Disclose the text of the board’s written mandate.

During 2008, the Corporate Governance Committee proposed changes to
the charter of the Board. The Board approved such changes on March 6,
2007. The revised Board's mandate is attached as a Schedule to the
Management Proxy Circular and is also available on the Company's website
at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.

The mandate of the Board provides that the Board oversees the
management of the business and affairs of the Company. The Board is
responsible for the stewardship of the business of the Company and, as
part of such responsibility, assurnes responsibility for the following matters:
corporate behavior and governance, strategic direction and planning,
senior management appaintment, evaluation, succession planning and
compensation, pension fund matters, internal controls and audit process,
communications and environmental, health and safety matters.
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3. POSITION DESCRIPTION

(o T o L L T T T T T

a) Disclosa whether or not the board has devaloped written position
descriptions for the chair and the chair of each board committee.

The mandates of the chairs of the Board and of each committee of the
Board are described in the Board’s and each committee’s charter, which
are available on the Company’s website at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.
The Board’s charter is also attached as a Schedule to the Manag2ment
Proxy Circular.

The Chair of the Board is charged with the responsibility of overseeing
the efficient operation of the Board and its committees. Tha Chair acts
as an ex-officio member of each committee of the Board and, as such,
one of his principal duties is to properly evaluate the effectiveness of
the committee structure and the quality of Management's work that is
presented in support of the decision-making process of the Board.
The Chair also serves as the Chair of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Board. The Chair of the Board also presides at the
annual shareholders' meeting.

The responsibilities of the chair of each committee include {} presiding

at meetings of such committee, (i)} providing teadership to enhance the
effectiveness and focus of the committee, (i} ensuring that the comm.mittes
has access to timely and relevant information and rescurces to support its
work, (v} setting with Management the agenda for each meeting, and (v)
acting as liaison between the committee and the Board, and the committes
and Managemaent.

b} Disciose whether or not the board and GEO have developed a written
position description for the CEQ.

The Board delegates the responsibility and authority for the day-to-day
operation of the Company to the President and Chief Executive Officer
and to Management. In doing so, the Prasident and Chief Execuiive
Officer must act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests
of the Company. Based on these principtes, the Human Resources and
Compensation Committes (the “HRC Committee"} has adopted a position
description for the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

4. ORIENTATION AND CONTINUING EDUCATION

v

a) Briefly describe what measures the board takes to orient
new members regarding

(i the role of the board, its committees and its directors, and

(i} the nature and operation of the issuer's business.

The Company conducts a comprehensive orientation program for new
directors, which includes crientation sessions with other Board memoers
and senior management, as well as the distribution of relevant materials
on the Company and the Industry.

Each director receives an information binder which includes infor-
mation pertaining to the functioning of the Board, financial information
of the Company, investor relations prasentations, recent press releases,
the curment annual report and most recent Management Proxy Circular,

Directors regularly meet with Management and are given periodic
prasentations on a particular business unit or on recent business
or regulatory developments.




106 STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Abitibi-Consolidated 2006 Annual Report

L

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

COMMENTS

gro = e e

b) Briefly describe what measures, if any, the board takes to provide
continuing education for its directors.

Management has developed a continuing education program intended to
broaden and deepen directors’ competencies and experience. This program
includes presentations from senior management on topics of particular
relevance for the Company's business, other presentations by experts on
subjects such as the economy and the markets and tours of tha Company’s
production and operation sites. Management also keeps directors informed
of changes within the Company and of regulatory and industry requirements
and standards. :

In 2006, the HRC Committee engaged Mercer Human Resources
Consulting and Ken Hugessen Consultants to provide executive
compensation consulting services. Significant knowledge, including
banchmark data, was shared with the directors in the course of this
process. During 20086, training was also provided to all directors on
Ontario Bill 198 regarding civil kability on secondary market disclosure.

L

5. ETHICAL BUSINESS CONDUCT

A —

3

a) Disclose whether or not the board has adopied a written code
for its directors, officers and employees. If the board has adopted
a written code:

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for senior management and
directors, a cods of conduct for non-unionized employees and a policy
entitted “Principles of ethical behavior and good conduct for alf employees
of Abitibi-Consolidated” addressed to the Company's unionized employees.
Both codes and the policy are in line with the guidelines of NP 58-201 and
the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the NYSE Standards.

All three documents ara published on the Company's website at
www.abitibiconsolidated.com.

) disclose how an interested party may obtain a copy
of the written code;

The Company will provide any person, upan request to the Secretary of
the Company, with a copy of the codes of conduct and of the policy free
of charge. Thasa documents are also published on the Company’s website
at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.

(i} describe how the board monitors compliance with its code; and

The Board, through the Corporate Governance and the Audit committees,
is regularly informed by Management of the compliance with the codes of
conduct and also ensures that Management encourages and promotes a
culture of ethical business conduct.

" The internal audit department reports on a regular basis to the Audit

Committee on, notably, matters that may arise under the codes of conduct
and policy, while the legal department reports to the same committee on the
Company’s compliance with the laws and regulations that govern it. As well,
all directors and managers of the Company are required to sign the code

of conduct applicable to them on a yearly basis, while non-unionized
employees sign it when they are hired by the Company.

Furthermore, all three documents provide a procedure for receiving,
retaining and handling compiaints, including the anonymous submission of
complaints concarning accounting, internal controls and auditing matters, in
compliance with the rules promulgated under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
with NP 58-201. Management is expected to report on these matters to the
Audit Committee, which in turn reports to the Board on a regular basis.

For further details, see the charter of the Audit Committee setting
out its responsibilities. A copy of that document is attached as
Exibibit “A” to the Company's Annual Information Form for the year
ended December 31, 2006 and may also be found on the Company's
website at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.
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(i) provide a cross reference to any material change report(s) filed since
the beginning of the issuer’s most recently complated financial year
that pertains to any conduct of a director or executive officer that
constitutes a departure from the code.

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

The rules promulgated under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act require public
companies to disclose whether they have adopted a “code of ethics™ for
their axecutive ofticers and senior financial officers. A code of ethics must
b designed to deter wrongdoing and to promaote certain listed items.,
The audit committee of the Company must ensure that the Company
puts in place a procedure for receiving, retaining and handling
complaints conceming accounting, internal controls and auditing
matters, including on an anonymous basis.

NYSE STANDARDS

The NYSE Standards require U.S, listed companies to adopt a
code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers and
empioyees, and promptly disclose any waivers of the code for
directors or executive officers.

No waivers under the code of conduct for senior management and directors
were granted by the Company and no action by a director or officer
constituted a departure from the code during the 2006 financial year.

The above described codes of conduct and policy meet the requirements
of the Sarbanes-Cxley Act.

The above described codes of conduct and policy meet the requiraments
of the NYSE standards.

b) Describe any steps the board takes to ensure directors exercisa
independent judgment in considering transactions and agreements in
respect of which a director or executive officer has a material interest.

With regard to transactions or agreements in respect of which a director
may have a material interest, the director is required to disclose his or her
interest in accordanca with the Canada Business Corporations Act and
must exclude himself or herself from any discussions or vote relatir g to
such transaction or agreement,

In addition, all directors are required to fill in a questionnaire on an annual
basis where {j) they assess their independence against all independence
standards set forth under applicable laws and regulations, and (i) disclose
all material relationships with the Company or its subsidiaries and affiliates.

¢) Describe any other steps the board takes to encourage and promote
a culture of ethical business conduct.

The Company has adopted a set of values, including “integrity and open
communication”. In accordance with these values, the Board expects all
employees of the Company, including Management, to hold themsaives
to the highest standard of ethical behavior. The Company believes that the
integrity of its organization was built by creating an atmosphere of trust and
mutual respect among employees and between the Company and its other
stakeholders. All stakeholders have a right to expect honest, two-way
communication in all conversations. The Company has aiso adopted a
Discilosure Policy in order to promote consistent disclosure practices
aimed at informative, timely and broadly disseminated disclosura of material
information to the market, in accordance with applicable securities legisiation.

[

6. NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

- —

8} Describa the process by which the board identifies new candidates
for board nomination.

governing the size and overall composition of the Board. The committee
periodically examines whether the Board is large enough to benefit from a
wide variety of ideas and viewpoints without compromising the communi-
cation among the directors and between the directors and Management.
On the recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committes, the size
of the Board has been set at ten directors.
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The Corporate Governance Committee is also responsible for recommending
nominees for directorships in consultation with the Chair and the President
and Chief Executive Officer. The commiittee monitors the membership of the
Board to ensure that qualifications under any applicable laws are maintained
and situations of conflict of interest are avoided. The committee annually
astablishes a list of desired traits and characteristics for directors to ensure
that new nominees possess attributes that will complement the averall
Board expertise and experience at any given time. In 20013, the Corporate
Governance Committee undertock to renew the membaership of the Board.
Under this mandats, eight new independent directors have joined the
Board since 2001.

In 2008, the Corporate Governance Committes retained the services of
Korn/Ferry International to establish a list of new candidates for futurs
board nominations.

For further details, see the charter of the Corporate Governance
Committes, a copy of which may be found on the Company's website
at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.

b} Disclose whether or not the board has a nominating committes
composad entirely of independent directors.

NYSE STANDARDS

The NYSE Standards require that the nominating/corporate governance
committee be composed entirely of “independent” directors. The
committes is also required to have a written charter addressing certain
listed matters.

The Board has determined that the Corporate Governance Committee is
cumrentty composed entirely of “independent” directors, within the meaning
of NI 58-101 and of the NYSE Standards.

The Board has adopted a written charter for the Corporate Governance
Committee setting out its responsibilities, a copy of which may be found
on the Company's website at www.abitibiconsclidated.com.

¢} if the board has a nominating committee, describe the responsibitities,
powers and operation of the nominating committee.

The responsibilities, powers and operation of the Corporate Governance
Committee with regard to the nomination and compensation of directors
are more fully described in sections 6{(g), 7(a} and 9 of this table.

—

7. COMPENSATION

L

—1

a) Describe the process by which the board determines the compensation
for the issuer’s directors and officers.

Director's compensation

The Cormporate Governance Committee reviews the adequacy and form of
compensation of directors annually. In so doing, the committee examines
both the nature and levels of compensation paid at comparable publicly
traded companies. The resuits of the review are discussed at the Board,
along with retated recommendations of the committee for Board approval.

As mentioned, in 2008, the Corporate Governance Committee retained
the services of Korn/Ferry International fo provide director compensation
consulting services.

A mora detailed description of the compensation of directors Is provided
in the Management Proxy Circular.
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3. POSITION DESCRIPTION

a) Disclose whether or not the board has developed written position
descriptions for the chair and the chair of each board committea.

The mandates of the chairs of the Board and of each committes of the
Board are described in the Board's and each committee’s chartar, which
ara available or the Company’s website at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.
The Board's charter is also attached as a Schedule to the Management
Proxy Circular.

The Chair of the Board is charged with the responsibility of overseeing
the efficient operation of the Board and its committees. The Chair acts
as an ex-officio member of each committee of the Board and, as such,
one cf his principal duties is to properly evaluate the effectiveness of
the committee structure and the quality of Management’s work that s
presentad in support of the decisicn-making procass of the Board.
The Chair also serves as the Chair of the Corporate Governance
Committes of the Board. The Chair of the Board alsc presides at t1a
annual shareholders' mesting.

The responsibilities of the chair of each committee include () presiding

at meetings of such committee, (i) providing leadership to enhance the
effectiveness and focus of the committee, (jii} ensuring that the comrnittes
has access to timely and relevant information and rescurces to support its
work, (iv) setting with Management the agenda for each meeting, and (v}
acting as liaison between the committee and the Board, and the committee
and Management.

b} Disclose whether or not the board and CEQ have developed a written
position description for the CEQ,

4. ORIENTATION AND CONTINUING EDUCATION

The Board detegates the responsibility and authority for the day-to-day
operation of the Company to the President and Chief Executive Off.cer
and to Management. In doing so, the President and Chief Executive
Officer must act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests
of the Company. Based on these principles, the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee (the “"HRC Committea™) has adopted a position
description for the Prasident and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

7

a) Briefly describe what measures the board takes to orient
new members regarding

) the role of the board, its committees and its directors, and

(i} the nature and operation of the issuer's business.

The Company conducts a comprehensive orientation program for new
directors, which includes orientation sessions with other Board members
and senior management, as well as the distribution of relevant materials
on the Company and the industry.

Each director receives an information binder which includes infor-
mation pertaining to the functioning of the Board, financial information
of the Company, investor relations presentations, recent press releases,
the current annual report and most recent Management Proxy Circular.

Directors regularly meet with Management and are given periodic
presentations on a particular business unit or on recent business
or regulatory developments.
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b) Briefly describe what measures, if any, the board takes to provide
continuing education for its directors.

Management has developed a continuing education program intended to
broaden and deepen directors' competencies and experience. This program
includes presentations from senior management on topics of particular
ralavance for the Company's business, other prasentations by experts on
subjects such as the economy and the markets and tours of the Company’s
production and operation sites. Management also keeps directors informed
of changes within the Company and of regulatory and industry requirements
and standards. '

In 2006, the HRC Committes engaged Mercer Human Resources
Consulting and Ken Hugessen Consultants to provide executive
compensation consulting services. Significant knowledge, including
benchmark data, was shared with the directors in the course of this
process. During 2006, training was also provided to all directors on
Ontario Bill 198 regarding civil liability on secondary market disclosure.

—

5. ETHICAL BUSINESS CONDUCT

1

e e

a) Disclose whether or not the board has adopted & written code
for its directors, officers and employees. If the board has adopted
a written code:

Tha Company has adopted a code of conduct for senior management and
directors, a code of conduct for non-unionized employees and & policy
entitled “Principies of ethical behavior and good conduct for alf employaes
of Abitibi-Consolidated” addressed to the Company's unionized employees.
Both codes and the policy are in line with the guidelines of NP 58-201 and
the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the NYSE Standards.

All three documents are published on the Company’s website at
www.abitibiconsolidated.com.

() disclose how an interested party may obtain a copy
of the written code;

The Company will provide any person, upon request to the Secretary of
the Company, with a copy of the codes of conduct and of the policy free
of charge. These documnents are also published on the Company's website
at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.

{i) describe how the board monitors compliance with its code; and

The Board, through the Corporate Governance and the Audit committees,
is regutarty informed by Management of the compliance with the codes of
conduct and also ensures that Management encourages and promotes a
culture of ethical business conduct.

" The internal audit department reports an a regular basis to the Audit

Committee on, notably, matters that may arise under the codes of conduct
and policy, while the legal department reports to the same committee on the
Company's compliance with the laws and regulations that govern it. As well,
all directors and managers of the Company ars required to sign the code

of conduct applicable to them on a yearly basis, while non-unionized
employees sign it when thaey are hired by the Company.

Furthermore, all three documents provide a procedure for receiving,
retaining and handling complaints, including the anenymous submission of
complaints conceming accounting, intemal controls and auditing matters, in
compliance with the rules promulgated under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
with NP 58-201. Management is expected to report on these matters to the
Audit Commities, which in turn reports fo the Board on a regutar basis.

For further details, see the charter of the Audit Committee setting
out its responsibilities. A copy of that docurnent is attached as
Exibibit “A” to the Company's Annual Information Form for the year
ended December 31, 2006 and may also be found on the Company’s
wabsite at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.
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{ii) provide a cross reference to any material change report(s) filed since
the beginning of the issuer's most recently completed finangial year
that pertains to any conduct of a director or executive officer that
constitutes a departure from the code.

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

The rules promulgated under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act require public
companies to disclose whether they have adopted a “code of ethics” for
their executive ofticers and sanior financial officers. A code of ethics must
be desigred to deter wrongdoing and to promote certain listed items.

The audit committee of the Company must ensure that the Company
puts in place a procedure for receiving, retaining and handling
complaints concerning accounting, intemal controls and auditing
matters, including on an anonymous basis.

NYSE STANDARDS

The NYSE Standards require U.S. listed companies to adopt a
code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers and
employees, and promptly disclose any waivers of the code for
directors or executive officers.

No waivers under the code of conduct for senior management and directors
were granted by the Company and no action by a director or officer
constituted a departure from the code duting the 2006 financial vear.

The above described codes of conduct and policy meet the requirements
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

The above described codes of conduct and policy meet the requirements
of the NYSE standards.

b} Describe any steps the board takes to ensura directors exercise
independent judgment in considering transactions and agreements in
respact of which a director or executive officer has a material interest,

With regard to transactions or agreements in respect of which a ditector
may have a material interest, the director is required to disclose his or her
interest in accordance with the Canada Business Corporations Act and
must exclude himself or harself from any discussions or vote relating to
such transaction or agreement.

In addition, all directors are required to fill in a questionnaire on an annual
basis where () they assess their independenca against all indepentence
standards set forth under applicable laws and regulations, and (i) disclose
all material relationships with the Company or its subsidiaries and affiliates.

c) Describe any other staps the board takes to encourage and promote
a culture of ethical business conduct.

The Company has adopted a set of values, including “integrity and open
communication”. In accordance with these values, the Board expects all
employees of the Company, including Management, to hold them:selves
to the highest standard of ethical behavior. The Company believes that the
integrity of its organization was built by creating an atmosphere of trast and
mutual mspect among employees and between the Company and its other
stakeholders. All stakeholders have a right to expect honest, two-way
communication in all conversations. The Company has also adogted a
Disclosura Policy in order to promote consistent disclosure practices
aimed at informative, timely and broadly disseminated disclosure of material
information to the market, in accordance with applicable securities legislation,

c — c—

6. NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

anita—

8) Describe the process by which the board identifies new candidates
for board nomination.

The Corporate Governance Cornimittee is responsible for developing criteria
governing the size and overall composition of the Board. The commitiee
periodically examines whether the Board is large enough to benefil froma
wide variety of ideas and viewpoints without compromising the communi-
cation armong the directors and between the directors and Management.
Cn the recormmendation of the Corporate Governance Committee, the size
of the Board has been set at ten directors.
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The Corporate Governance Committee is also responsible for mcommending
nominees for directorships in consultation with the Chair and the President
and Chief Execurtive Officer. The committee monitors the membership of the
Board to ensure that qualifications under any applicable laws are maintained
and situations of conflict of interest are avoided. The committee annually
establishes a list of desired traits and characteristics for directors to ensune
that new nominees possess attributes that will complement the overall
Board expertise and experience at any given time. In 2001, the Corporate
Governance Committee undertock to renew the membership of the Board.
Under this mandate, eight new independent directors have joined the
Board since 2001.

In 2006, the Corporate Governance Cormmittee retained the services of
Kom/Ferry International to establish a list of new candidates for future
board nominations.

For further details, see the charter of the Corporate Governance
Committee, a copy of which may be found on the Company’s website
at www.abitibiconsolidated.com,

b) Disclose whather or not the board has a hominating committee
composed entirely of independent directors.

NYSE STANDARDS

The NYSE Standards raquire that the nominating/corporate governance
cormmittee be compoesed entirely of “independent” directors. The
committee is also raquired to have a written charter addressing certain
listed matters.

The Board has determined that the Corporate Govaernance Committes is
currently composad entirely of “independent” directors, within the meaning
of NI 58-101 and of the NYSE Standards.

The Board has adopted a written charter for the Corporate Governance
Committee setting out its responsibilities, a copy of which may be found
on the Company’s website at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.

¢} I the board has a nominating committee, describe the responsibilities,
powers and operation of the nominating committea.

The responsibilities, powers and operation of the Corporate Governance
Committes with regard to the nomination and compensation of directors
are more fully described in sections 6{a), 7(a) and 9 of this table.

- T

7. COMPENSATION

L

a} Describe the process by which the board determines the compensation
for the issuer's directors and officers.

Director's compensation

The Corporate Governance Committee reviews the adequacy and form of
compensation of directors annually, in 50 doing, the committee examines
both the nature and levels of compensation paid at comparable publicly
traded companies. The results of the review are discussed at the Board,
along with related recommendations of the committes for Board approval.

As mentionad, in 2006, the Corporate Governance Committee netained
the services of Korn/Ferry International to provide director compensation
consulting services.

A more detailed description of the compensation of directors s provided
in the Management Proxy Circular.
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Senior management compensation

The Board has delegated to the Human Resources & Compensation
Committee {the “HRC Committee”) the responsibility for recommending
to the Board the compensation of the President and Chief Executive
Officer and of senior management, taking into consideration the Board's
axpeactations and pre-approved objectives. The HRC Committee has
established compensation programs for the President and Chiaf Executive
Otficer and senior management of the Company designed to support
the Company's vision to be the world’s leading forest products Company
by creating a strong link between the interests of the shareholders, the
Company's financial performance and the total compensation of the
Company's executives. A more detailed description of the compensation
of the President and Chief Executive Officer and senior management

is provided In the Management Proxy Circular.

b) Disclose whether or not the board has a compensation cormmittes
composed entirety of independent directors.

NYSE STANDARDS
The NYSE Standards require that the compensation committee be
composed entirely of “independent” directors. The committee is also
required to have a written charter addressing certain listed matters,

The Board has determined that the HRC Committee and the Corporate
Governance Committee are currently composed entirely of “independent™
dimactors, within the meaning of NI 58-101 and of the NYSE Standirds.

The Board has adopted a revised written charter for the HRC Committes
setting out its responsibilities, a copy of which may be found on the
Company's website at www.abitibiconsclidated.com,

¢) If the board has a compensation committes, describa the responsibilities,
powers and oparation of the Sompensation cormmittee.

With regard to the nomination and compensation of directors, the respon-
sibilities, powers and operation of the Corporate Governance Committea
ara mora fully described in sections 6(a), 7(a) and 9 of this table.

With regard to senior management, the Board assumes directly the
following responsibilities in matters of succession planning and mzkes
decisions on such matters on the recommendation of the HRC Committee:
- setecting and appointing the President and Chief Executive Officer;

- reviewing the performance and approving the compensation of the
President and Chief Executive Officer and senior management, taking
into consideration Boand expectations and pre-approved objectives; and

- reviewing the essential elements of short-term and long-term senior
executive succession planning.

The Board has delegated to the HRC Committee additional succession

planning responsibilities, including:

- approving the hiring and promoting of senior management; and

- reviewing Management's plans and activities for the development of
key managerial personnel,
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The Board has also delagated to the HRC Committee supervision of the
administration, investmant strategy and solvency of the Company’s
pension funds.

The responsibilities, powers and operation of the HRC Committee with
regard to the compensation of the President and Chief Executive Officer and
of senior management are more fully described in section 7(a) of this table.

The Beard has adopted a written charter for the HRC Committee setting out
its responsibilities, a copy of which may be found on the Company’s website
at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.

d) if a compensation consultant or advisor has, at any time since the
beginning of the issuer's most recently completed financial year, been
retained to assist in determining compensation for any of the issuer's
directors and officers, disclose the identity of the consuttant or advisor
and briefly summarize the mandate for which they have been retained.

In 2006, tha HRC Committee engaged Mercer Hurnan Resources Consulting
and Ken Hugessen Consultants to provide executive compensation
consuiting services, the whole as more fully described in the Management
Proxy Circular.

3

e Tty

8. OTHER BOARD COMMITTEES

If the board has standing committees other than audit, compensation and
nominating committees, identify the committees and describe their function.

s T L I -3

in addition to the Audit Committee, the HRC Committee and the Corporate
Governance Committes, the Board also has an Environment, Health &
Safety Committee {the “EHS Committee”), whose members have been
determined to be “independent”, within the meaning of NI 58-101, and
whose role is to oversee all environmeria), health and safety matters.

The composition of each Board committes and the attendance records
of directors can be found in the Management Proxy Circular.

The charters of the Board committeas are available on the Company’s
website at www.abitibiconsolidated.com. The Corporate Governance
Committee reviews these charters as well as the charter of the Board
on a yearly basis for final review and approval by the Board.

As mentioned, during 2006, the Corporate Governance Committee
proposed changes to the charter of the Board. The Gorporate Governance
Commilttee also proposed changes to the charter of the Audit Committee
and the charter of the HRC Committee. The Board approved the revised
charters on March 6, 2007. The revised charter of the Board Is attached as
a Schedule to the Management Proxy Circular and is also available on the
Company's website at www.abitibiconsalidated.com.

The revised charter of the Audit Committee is attached as Exhibit "A” to the
Company's Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2006
and can be found on the Company’s website at www.abitibiconsofidated.com.

The revised charter of the HRC Committee can be found on the Company’s
wabsite at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.
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Disclose whether or not the board, its cormmittees and individual
directors are roegularly assessed with respect to their effectiveness
and contribution. If assessments are regularly conducted, describe
the process used for the assessments,

The Corporate Governance Committee has the mandate and responsibility
to oversee on an annual basis the evaluation of the parformance and
effectiveness of the Board and each of its committees, in consultation

with the President and Chief Executive Officer.

Annually, the Board and its members survay the effectiveness and
contribution of the Board and its committees, inchiding the operation

of the Board, the Board structure, the adequacy of information provided
to directors, and the effectiveness of the Chair of the Board in managing
the mestings of the Board and the strategic direction of the Company.
The evaluation of the Board and its committees is undertaken In light of
their respective charters.

The Chair of the Board a!so evaluates on an annual basis the perfcrmance
and contribution of each director in light of certain expected skills and
competencies on a variaty of topics, including strategic insight, participation
and accountability, in order to provide them with constructive feedback to
help them improve their performance. The Chair shares with the Corporate
Governance Committee the results of this evaluation and discussion, and
they are then shared with the whole Board with appropriate recormmendations.
Individual directors are also evaluated on an annual basis by their peers.

AUDIT COMMITTEE INFORMATION?

Composition of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is composed entirety of “independent” directars,
within the meaning of M1 52-110. ‘

Audit Committes charter.

On March 6, 2007, the Board has adopled a revised written charter for
the Audit Cornmittee that sets out the roles and responsibilities of tne
committes, which is attached as Exhibit “A™ to the Company's Ann.al
Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2006 and can te
found on the Company’s website at www.abitibiconsolidated.com.

Pre-approval policies and procedures for external auditor service fees.

See the Management Proxy Circular for information relating to the policy
and procedures for pre-gpproval of auditors’ services and a breakdown
of the Company's auditor fees for the last completed fiscal year.

2 Reference is made to the Company's Annual Information Form for the year ended Decernber 31, 2006 for disclosure of information relating
to the Company's Audit Committee, as required under Multilateral Instrument 52-110, entitied “Audit Commitiees™ (“MI 52-1107).
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Financial literacy and financial expertise of Audit Committee members.

“Financially fiterate”, under Ml 52-110, means tha ability to read and
understand a set of financial statements that prasent a breadth and level of
complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breath
and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised
by the issuer's financial statements.

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT
The Audit Committee must have at least one financial expert.

“Financial expert” means (2) an understanding of GAAP and financial
statements, (b) the ability to assess the general appiication of such
principles in connection with the accounting for estimates, accruals and
reserves, (c) experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial
statements that present a breadth and tevel of complexity of accounting
Issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of
issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s
financial statements, or experience actively supervising one or more persons
engaged in such activity, {d} an understanding of internal controis for
financial reporting, and (e) an understanding of audit committee functions.

A person must have acquired such attributes through any one or more
of the following:

a) education and experience as a principal financia! officer, principal
accounting officer, controlter, public accountant or auditor or experience
in one or more positions that involve the performance of similar functions;

b) experience actively supervising a principal financiat officer, principal
accounting officer, controller, public accountant or auditor or person
performing similar functions;

¢} experience overseeing or assessing the performance of companies or
public accountants with respect to the preparation, auditing or evaluation
of financial staternents; or

d) cther relevant experience (a brief description of which must be disclosed).

All the Audit Committee members are financially literate.

The Board has designated Mr. Gary .J. Lukassen as the Audit Committee's
financial axpert. Mr. Lukassen is a Chartered Accountant from McGill
University, and has extensive experience in the area of business and
finance. Mr. Lukassen was the Chief Financial Officer of the Hudson's Bay
Company for over twelve years and has been chair of varicus audit
committees for many years.

NYSE STANDARDS
The NYSE Standards also contain certain rules pertaining to audit
committees, including:

a) requirements on independencs (members must satisfy the independence
criteria of the NYSE Standards (as discussed in item 2 above} and of Rule
10A-3 under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934);

b) rules on financial literacy of members;
¢) matters to be addressed by the committee's charter; and

d} the existence of an intarnal audit function.

The Company is in compliance with all NYSE audit committes requirements,
excep! for requirements relating to the preparation of an audit committes
report for inclusion in its annual proxy circular, as no report need be
prepared by the Company as a foreign private issuer under U.S. law.
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